#### Università degli Studi di Napoli FEDERICO II

Dottorato di ricerca in Scienze Matematiche

A.A. 2007–2008

# NONLINEAR ELLIPTIC AND PARABOLIC EQUATIONS WITH MEASURE DATA

Tesi di Dottorato

 $\operatorname{di}$ 

Rosaria Di Nardo

TUTORE

Ch.mo Prof. V. Ferone

COORDINATORE

Ch.mo Prof. S. Rionero

Dipartimento di Matematica R. Caccioppoli Università degli Studi di Napoli Federico II Dottorato in Scienze Matematiche XX Ciclo

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION							
Ι	ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS WITH DATA IN $W^{-1,P'}(\Omega)$						
	1.1	Existence results for monotone and pseudo-monotone operators	12				
	1.2	Applications to nonlinear elliptic equations	17				
Π	NOTION OF SOLUTIONS						
	2.1	Solution defined by duality method	24				
	2.2	Solution Obtained as Limit of Approximations	25				
	2.3	Entropy solution and renormalized solution	28				
III	UNIFORMLY ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS WITH LOWER ORDE						
	TERMS						
	3.1	Definitions and preliminary results	36				
	3.2	A priori estimates	38				
	3.3	Existence result	41				
	3.4	Uniqueness results	47				
IV	NO	N-UNIFORMLY ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS	54				
	4.1	Definitions and first properties	55				
		4.1.1 Weighted Sobolev spaces	56				

		4.1.2	Decomposition of measure $s$	57	
		4.1.3	A technical result	59	
		4.1.4	Definition of renormalized solution	63	
	4.2	Existe	ence result	64	
		4.2.1	Approximated problems	65	
		4.2.2	A priori estimates	66	
		4.2.3	A stability result	77	
		4.2.4	Passage to the limit	84	
V	PARABOLIC EQUATIONS				
		5.0.5	Spaces of functions and notion of solutions	86	
	5.1	Existence results for operators with lower order terms			
		5.1.1	Existence result for problem $(5.1.1)$	97	
		5.1.2	Existence result for problem $(5.1.13)$	116	

#### INTRODUCTION

This thesis is devoted to the study of boundary value problems for second order elliptic and parabolic equations having measure data. In order to explain the motivations of this study, let us begin by considering a class of Dirichlet problems for nonlinear elliptic equations of the type

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) = \mu & \text{ in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{ on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(0.0.1)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded open set of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ ,  $a : \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function such that

$$a(x,s,\xi)\xi \ge \alpha \left|\xi\right|^p, \quad \alpha > 0, \tag{0.0.2}$$

$$|a(x,s,\xi)| \le \left[ |\xi|^{p-1} + |s|^{p-1} + a_0(x) \right], \quad a_0(x) \in L^{p'}(\Omega), \tag{0.0.3}$$

$$(a(x, s, \xi) - a(x, s, \eta), \xi - \eta) > 0, \quad \xi \neq \eta$$
 (0.0.4)

 $a.e. \ x \in \Omega, \forall s \in \mathbb{R}, \forall \xi, \ \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N.$ 

When the datum  $\mu$  belongs to the dual space of  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ , the notion of weak solution is well-defined and the assumptions (0.0.2) - (0.0.4) ensure both existence and uniqueness results, as established by the classical theory due to Leray and Lions ([80]; we refer to Chapter I for some basic results).

If the datum  $\mu$  is a measure, the notion of weak solution is obviously not appropriate. Moreover, if we consider the notion of solution in the sense of distribution the classical counterexample due to Serrin ([104], see also [97], [2] shows that a "local" uniqueness result for Dirichlet problem does not hold.

These drawbacks force to find extra conditions on the distributional solutions in order to ensure both existence and uniqueness.

In the linear case, that is p = 2 and  $a(x, \nabla u) = A(x)\nabla u$ , where A is an uniformly

elliptic matrix with  $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  coefficients, this problem has been studied by Stampacchia, who introduced and studied in [106] a notion defined by duality. This allowed him to prove both existence and uniqueness results. Such a solution satisfies the equation in distributional sense and moreover belongs to the Sobolev space  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$  with  $q < \frac{N}{N-1}$ . Stampacchia's framework can not be extended to nonlinear cases, except when p = 2 and the operator a is strongly monotone and Lipschitz continuous with respect to  $\nabla u$  ([88]). The first existence results in nonlinear case are due to Boccardo and Gallouët. In [30] and [31] they proved the existence of a distributional solution to (0.0.1) which belongs to  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$ , for  $q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$  under the assumption  $p > 2 - \frac{1}{N}$ . Such a solution is found by a natural approximation method: the idea consists in fixing the solution as the limit of a sequence of solutions to (0.0.1) which, owing to the regularity of the right hand-side, are weak solutions. Such a solution is known as "Solution Obtained as Limit of Approximations" ([43], see also [47]). The assumption on p is motivated by the fact that, if  $p \leq 2 - \frac{1}{N}$ , then  $\frac{N(p-1)}{N-1} \leq 1$ .

Other equivalent notion of solutions have been introduced such as "entropy solution" in [48], [33], "renormalized solution" in [88], [87],[48]. These framework which concerns to measure in  $L^1(\Omega)$  or in  $L^1 + W^{-1,p'}$  allow to prove existence, uniqueness and continuity with the respect to the datum of the solutions with respect to  $\mu$ . Finally the notion of renormalized solution has been extended to the case of a general measure in [48], where existence and partial uniqueness result have been proved (see also [69]).

We present all these solutions in Chapter III. We point out that, in spite of the different notion of solutions used in literature, all the existence results are obtained by constructing the solution u as the almost everywhere limit of the solutions  $u_n$  to problem (0.0.1) corresponding to smooth function  $f_n$  which converge to  $\mu$  in the weak\*-topology. This procedure can be semplified if a continuous dependence from the data result is available. Such a result holds changing (0.0.4) into the following

"strong monotonicity" conditions

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) \ge \frac{\gamma}{2^{2-p}} \frac{|\xi - \eta|^2}{(|\xi| + |\eta|)^{2-p}}, \qquad \xi \neq \eta, \tag{0.0.5}$$

if 1 , or

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) \ge \frac{\gamma}{(p-1)2^{p-2}} |\xi - \eta|^p, \qquad \xi \ne \eta,$$
 (0.0.6)

if  $p \ge 2$ .

Under such assumptions in [5] an existence result for "Solution Obtained as Limit of Approximations" to problem (0.0.1) is proved.

Now let us explain the bound on p, 1 . If <math>p is greater then N, then, by Sobolev embedding and duality arguments, the space of measures with bounded variation on  $\Omega$  is a subset of  $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$  therefore existence and uniqueness of a weak solution in  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  is a consequence of theory of monotone operators. Furthermore, the case p = N has been studied in [58], [65], [68].

These approaches have been extended in various directions: for example to nonlinear elliptic equations with lower order terms, nonlinear degenerate elliptic equations and nonlinear parabolic equations.

Let us consider the case of Dirichlet problem for nonlinear uniformly elliptic equations with lower order terms of the type

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) - \operatorname{div}(\Phi(x, u)) + H(x, \nabla u) = \mu & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(0.0.7)

where  $a(x, s, \xi)$  is a Carathéodory function such that (0.0.2) - (0.0.4) hold,

 $H: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $\Phi: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  are two Carathéodory functions such that

$$|H(x,\xi)| \le b(x) |\xi|^{p-1}, \quad b(x) \in L^N(\Omega),$$
 (0.0.8)

$$|\Phi(x,s)| \le c(x) |s|^{p-1}, \quad c(x) \in L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}(\Omega).$$
 (0.0.9)

and finally  $\mu$  is a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$ .

Existence and uniqueness for such type of problems have been widely studied in literature. In the linear case, Stampacchia proved in [106] the existence and uniqueness of a solution by duality, if 0 is not in the spectrum of the operator, condition which is verified for example, if  $\|c\|_{L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}(\Omega)}$  or  $\|b\|_{L^{N}(\Omega)}$  is small enough. Existence results for problem (0.0.7) have been proved for example in [49] and [51] by using the classical symmetrization methods, in [20], [72], [73], [11] and [12] for renormalized solutions, in [28] for entropy solutions and in [5], [6] for SOLA

In Chapter III we present an existence result for SOLA's to (0.0.7) with H = 0. Precisely we consider the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}\left(a\left(x,\nabla u\right)\right) - \operatorname{div}\left(\Phi\left(x,u\right)\right) = \mu & \text{ in } \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{ on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(0.0.10)

where  $a: (x, z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to a(x, z) \in \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function satisfying:

$$a(x,\xi) \cdot \xi \ge \lambda |\xi|^p, \qquad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad \lambda > 0,$$
 (0.0.11)

$$|a(x,\xi)| \le \Lambda |\xi|^{p-1}, \qquad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad \Lambda > 0, \qquad (0.0.12)$$

with 1 , and

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) > 0, \qquad \xi \neq \eta,$$
 (0.0.13)

for almost every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and for every  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Furthermore  $\Phi(x, s)$  satisfies assumption (0.0.9).

We present an existence result for SOLA contained in [56] and obtained by adapting the techniques used in [5] and [6]. The first step of such approach consists in proving some apriori estimates for the gradients of the weak solutions  $u_n$  to the approximated problems having regular data in terms of  $L^1$ -norm of the data. Such a proof is based on the choice of a suitable test function, built on the level sets of  $u_n$ , and a comparison result between the sferically symmetric rearrangement of  $u_n$  and the solution to a suitable elliptic problem with symmetric data. The following step consists in showing that it is possible to pass to the limit in the approximated problems. Such a procedure is simplified by substituting the classical monotonicity assumption on a (0.0.2) with the strong monotonicity conditions (0.0.5), (0.0.6). Such existence result is already proved in [51]; however the approach used in [56] is different and simpler.

As far as uniqueness is concerned the presence of lower order terms does not allow us to use heavily the strong monotonicity conditions to get a continuity with respect to the data. However this can be obtained if we strenght the structural conditions of a, we assume that  $\Phi$  is locally Lipschitz continuous and we impose further restrictions on the index p. In Chapter III we present two uniqueness results, proved in [56], when  $\mu$  is not any more a measure but merely an  $L^1$  function.

Other uniqueness results can be found in [37], [38] and [39]. These results are always in the context of "finite energy solutions"; this means that  $\mu$  is taken in  $L^m(\Omega)$  with  $m \geq \frac{2N}{N+2}$ . Finally the uniqueness of entropy solution has been obtained in [96] when  $\Phi$  is locally Lipschitz continuous and has at most an exponential growth at infinity, while uniqueness results for renormalized solutions have been proved in [12] and in [18].

Chapter IV is devoted to the study of nonlinear elliptic problems which satisfy a more general ellipticity condition. More precisely we consider the following problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) + H(x, \nabla u) = \mu & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(0.0.14)

where  $a: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function satisfying (0.0.4) and

$$a(x, s, \xi)\xi \ge \nu(x) |\xi|^p$$
, (0.0.15)

$$|a(x,s,\xi)| \le \nu(x) \left[ |\xi|^{p-1} + |s|^{p-1} + a_0(x) \right], \ a_0(x) \in L^{p'}(\nu), \tag{0.0.16}$$

a.e. for  $x \in \Omega$ , for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Moreover  $\nu(x)$  is a nonnegative function satisfying

$$\nu(x) \in L^r(\Omega), r \ge 1, \tag{0.0.17}$$

$$v(x)^{-1} \in L^t(\Omega), \quad t \ge N/p, \quad 1 + 1/t (0.0.18)$$

Furthermore  $H: \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to \mathbb{R}$  is a Carathéodory function such that

$$|H(x,\xi)| \le b(x) \, |\nabla u|^{p-1} \,, \tag{0.0.19}$$

$$b(x) \in L^{\tau}(\Omega), \ \tau > \frac{p'\widetilde{p}t}{t - (t+1)(p'+\widetilde{p})}.$$
 (0.0.20)

where  $\widetilde{p}$  is defined by

$$\widetilde{p} = \frac{p^{\#}}{r'},$$

and

$$(p^{\#})^{-1} = p^{-1}(1+1/t) - N^{-1}.$$

In the linear case, if  $\mu$  is a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$ , the existence of a solution by duality method has been proved in [89]. In the nonlinear case, existence results for degenerate elliptic equations have been proved in [101] and in [16]. In the first paper the existence of "generalized solution" has been proved, while in the second one classical symmetrizated methods are used for operator with lower order terms.

In Chapter IV we prove an existence result contained in [54] for renormalized solutions to (0.0.14). This result is obtained by adapting the technique developed in [35] and used also in [18] for uniformly elliptic equations. The idea is to consider first a sequence of approximated problems having regular data. When the norm of b is small the operator is coercive, hence, by using  $T_k(u)$  as test function in (0.0.14), we easily obtain an a priori estimate for the solutions to the approximated problem. When the norm of b is not small, we reduce in some sense the problem to a finite sequence of problems with norm of b small. We obtain again the apriori estimate which allows us to pass to the limit in the approximated problem. Finally, in Chapter V we study the existence of solutions to Cauchy-Dirichlet problems for nonlinear parabolic equations

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a(x, t, u, \nabla u)) = \mu & \text{in} & Q_T \\ u(x, t) = 0 & \text{on} & \partial\Omega \times (0, T) \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) & \text{in} & \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(0.0.21)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded open set of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \geq 2$ ,  $Q_T$  is the cylinder  $\Omega \times (0,T)$  and Tis a real positive number. Furthermore  $a(x,t,\xi) : \Omega \times (0,T) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function such that

$$a(x,t,s,\xi)\xi \ge \alpha \left|\xi\right|^p, \quad \alpha > 0, \tag{0.0.22}$$

$$a(x,t,s,\xi)| \le \left[h(x,t) + |s|^{p-1} + |\xi|^{p-1}\right], \quad h(x,t) \in L^{p'}(Q_T), \tag{0.0.23}$$

$$(a(x,t,s,\xi) - a(x,t,s,\varrho), \xi - \varrho) > 0, \quad \xi \neq \varrho \tag{0.0.24}$$

for almost every  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $t \in (0, T)$  and for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\xi$ ,  $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $\mu$  is a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $Q_T$ . As in the elliptic case when  $\mu \in L^{p'}(Q_T)$  and  $u_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$  the problem admits a unique solution that lies in the space  $C(0, T; L^2(\Omega))$ (see [81]). When the data are functions in  $L^1(Q_T)$  or, more in general, measures we have to define a new notion of solution. The notion of SOLA, renormalized solution, entropy solution have been extended to the parabolic case. In [23] and [99] the existence of renormalized solutions and entropy solutions for nonlinear parabolic equations without lower order terms have been proved respectively; while in [95] a parabolic problem with a lower order term of the type  $b(x,t) |\nabla u|^{p-1}$  is considered. In Chapter V we also present an existence result, proved in [55], for renormalized

solution to nonlinear parabolic problem of the type:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a(x, t, u, \nabla u)) - \operatorname{div}(K(x, t, u)) = \mu & \text{in} & Q_T \\ u(x, t) = 0 & \text{on} & \partial\Omega \times (0, T) \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) & \text{in} & \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(0.0.25)

where  $a(x, t, s, \xi) : \Omega \times (0, T) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function such (0.0.22) - (0.0.23) hold true.

Furthermore  $K: \Omega \times (0,T) \times \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function such

$$|K(x,t,\eta)| \le c(x,t) |\eta|^{\gamma},$$
 (0.0.26)

where

$$c(x,t) \in (L^{\tau}(Q_T))^N, \quad \tau > \frac{N+p}{p-1},$$
 (0.0.27)

$$\gamma = \frac{N+2}{N+p}(p-1), \tag{0.0.28}$$

$$\mu \in L^1(Q_T), \tag{0.0.29}$$

$$u_0 \in L^1(\Omega). \tag{0.0.30}$$

Such existence result is obtained by adapting the techniques used in [35] (see also [18]) in order to prove the apriori estimate, while we use the limit procedure introduced in [24] for passing to limit in the approximated problems.

**Ringraziamenti** Il primo ringraziamento è indirizzato alla prof. Anna Mercaldo, guida sicura nella mia formazione e crescita professionale. Mai sono venuti a mancare i suoi impagabili ed insostituibili suggerimenti.

Desidero inoltre ringraziare i prof Angelo Alvino e Vincenzo Ferone per i numerosi consigli che mi hanno fornito nella stesura di questa tesi.

Un particolare quanto sentito pensiero è rivolto ad Adamaria Perrotta e Bruno Volzone, amici sinceri e leali, meravigliosi compagni di avventura.

Ancora un grazie a Marta Chinnici, Assunta Tataranni, Flavia Ventriglia, la cui compagnia ha reso più gradevoli questi anni e a Filomena Feo per i suoi preziosi consigli. Desidero ringraziare gli amici con cui ho condiviso un'esperienza indimenticabile a Cortona: Roberto Argiolas, Sandra Martinez, Simone Cecchini, Maurizio Ceseri, Giulio Ciraolo.

Un particolare ringraziamento è rivolto alla mia cara amica Chiara Autieri con la

quale ho condiviso la parte iniziale del percorso di studi.

Desidero infine ringraziare la mia famiglia, a cui dedico questa tesi, costante punto di riferimento, ineguagliabile sostegno e fonte di incoraggiamento nei miei studi. A mia madre, mio padre e mio fratello Mario il più grande dei pensieri, per ogni sorriso e per l'amore che sanno donarmi giorno dopo giorno.

## CHAPTER I

# ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS WITH DATA IN $W^{-1,P'}(\Omega)$

In this chapter we give a review of some classical existence results for weak solutions to Dirichlet problems concerning nonlinear elliptic operators ([81]). First of all, we refer to some classical results involving the so-called monotone and pseudo-monotone operators and then we show how these results can be applied to Dirichlet problems for nonlinear elliptic operators with lower order terms.

# 1.1 Existence results for monotone and pseudomonotone operators

In this section we start with a few definitions and properties about monotone and pseudomonotone operators ([81]). From now on we will denote by V a reflexive and separable Banach space and by V' its dual space.

**Definition 1.1.1** An operator  $A: V \longrightarrow V'$  is said to be monotone if it satisfies the following condition

$$(A(u) - A(v), u - v)) \ge 0, \quad \forall \ u, \ v \in V.$$

**Definition 1.1.2** We say that  $A: V \longrightarrow V'$  is hemicontinous operator if for every  $u, v, w \in V$  the function

$$\lambda \in \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow (A(u + \lambda v), w) \in \mathbb{R},$$

is continuous.

Obviously if A is a continuous operator then A is also hemicontinuous, but the contrary is not true in general. Neverthless, as showed by the following Lemma, hemicontinuity plus monotonicity and boundedness of an operator yields the continuity.

**Lemma 1.1.3** If A is bounded, hemicontinuous and monotone, then A is continuous from V to V' endowed with strongly and weakly topology respectively.

A bounded, hemicontinuous and monotone operator is not enough to get an existence theorem. This result may be proved by assuming that the operator is coercive.

**Definition 1.1.4** An operator  $A: V \longrightarrow V'$  is coercive if

$$\lim_{\|v\| \to \infty} \frac{(A(v), v)}{\|v\|} = +\infty.$$

Now we are able to prove a general existence result for monotone operators.

**Theorem 1.1.5** Let be  $A : V \longrightarrow V'$  abounded, hemicontinuous, monotone and coercive operator. Then A is surjective that is, for every  $f \in V'$  there exists  $u \in V$  such that

$$A(u) = f. \tag{1.1.1}$$

**Proof.** The idea is to built a solution of the equation (1.1.1) by constructing solutions of certain finite dimensional approximations to (1.1.1) and then passing to the limit. Let be  $w_1, w_2, ..., w_m$  a basis of V; for each  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ , there exists  $u_m \in \{w_1, w_2, ..., w_m\}$ such that

$$(A(u_m), w_m) = (f, w_j), \quad 1 \le j \le m.$$
(1.1.2)

In fact, we observe that

$$(A(u_m), u_m) - (f, u_m) \ge (A(u_m), u_m) - c ||u_m||$$

This implies, thanks to the coercivity condition, that, for  $||u_m||$  sufficiently large,  $(A(u_m), u_m) - c ||u_m|| \ge 0$ . On the other hand, by Lemma 1.1.3, the function  $v \longrightarrow$  (A(v), v) is continuous on  $\{w_1, w_2, ..., w_m\}$ . Now we recall a well-known result: if  $P : \mathbb{R}^m \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^m$  is a continuous functions such that  $P(x) \cdot x \ge 0$  when |x| = r, for some r > 0 then there exists a point  $x \in B_r(0)$  such that P(x) = 0. This result, applied to the function  $P(\eta) = (P_1(\eta), ..., P_m(\eta))$  where  $P_j(\eta) = (A(\sum_{i=1}^m \eta_i w_i), w_j) - (f, w_j),$  $1 \le j \le m$ , implies that there exists  $u_m \in \{w_1, w_2, ..., w_m\}$  that solves (1.1.2). By (1.1.2), we get

$$(A(u_m), w_j) = (f, w_j) \le ||f||_{V'} ||u_m||$$

By coercivity, being A bounded, it follows that

$$||u_m||_V \le C, ||A(u_m)||_{V'} \le C,$$

which implies that, up to a subsequence,

$$u_m \rightharpoonup u \quad \text{weakly in } V,$$
  
 $A(u_m) \rightharpoonup \xi \quad \text{weakly in } V'.$ 
(1.1.3)

Passing to the limit, we get for any  $1 \le j \le m$ 

$$(\xi, w_j) = (f, w_j),$$
 (1.1.4)

that implies  $\xi = f$ . Moreover, by (1.1.2), we obtain

$$(A(u_m), u_m) = (f, u_m) \longrightarrow (f, u),$$

and by (1.1.4) we get

$$(A(u_m), u_m) \longrightarrow (\xi, u). \tag{1.1.5}$$

Hence the result is proved if we show that

$$\xi = A(u).$$

By monotonicity condition we have

$$(A(u_m) - A(v), u_m - v) \ge 0, \quad \forall v \in V.$$

Passing to the limit, by(1.1.3) and (1.1.5), we obtain

$$(\xi - A(v), u - v) \ge 0, \quad \forall v \in V.$$

$$(1.1.6)$$

Let  $w \in V$  and t > 0. Applying (1.1.6), with v = u + tw, we get

$$(\xi - A(u + tw), w) \ge 0.$$

By hemicontinuity of the operator A, it follows that, for any  $w \in V$ ,  $(\xi - A(u), w) \ge 0$ , which implies

$$(\xi - A(u), w) = 0, \quad \forall w \in V.$$

Hence  $\xi = A(u)$  which completes the proof.

A very simple example of monotone operator to which it is possible to apply Theorem 1.1.5 is the so called p-Laplace operator  $A(u) = \Delta_p u$ , where  $\Delta_p u =$   $\operatorname{div}(|\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u)$ . More generally assume that  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  is an open bounded set,  $1 and <math>V = W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  and suppose also that  $F : \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a continuous monotone mapping which satisfies the following growth condition

$$|F(\xi)| \le C(1+|\xi|^{p-1}), \quad \forall \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N.$$

Then it is easy to verify that the operator

$$A: u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \longrightarrow -\operatorname{div}(F(\nabla u)) \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$$

is bounded, hemicontinuous and monotone. So, by Lemma 1.1.3., A is continuous from  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  strongly to  $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$ . Furthermore if we assume that F satisfies the condition

$$F(\xi) \cdot \xi \ge \alpha |\xi|^p, \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad \alpha > 0,$$

then A is also a coercive operator. We deduce, thanks to Theorem 1.1.5, that for every  $f \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$  there exists  $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  such that

$$-\operatorname{div}\left(F(\nabla u)\right) = f.$$

We refer to Section 1.2 for more details and examples.

We observe that the monotonicity assumption made in *Theorem* 1.1.5 is general not easy to test; such a condition can be replaced by a weaker one:

**Definition 1.1.6** An operator  $A: V \longrightarrow V'$  is pseudo-monotone if

- (i) A is bounded,
- (ii) if  $u_j \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in V and  $\liminf_{j \longrightarrow \infty} (A(u_j), u_j v) \ge (A(u), u v) \ \forall v \in V.$

The following Proposition establishes the relation between monotone and pseudomonotone operators.

**Proposition 1.1.7** If A is a bounded, hemicontinuous and monotone operators then it is pseudo-monotone.

By Theorem 1.1.5 and *Proposition* 1.1.9 it follows that

**Theorem 1.1.8** If  $A: V \longrightarrow V'$  is a pseudo-monotone and coercive operator then, for every  $f \in V'$  there exists at least a function  $u \in V$  such that

$$A(u) = f.$$

A very important example of pseudo-monotone operators to which Theorem 1.1.10 can be applied is the so called "operator of Calculus of Variation", whose definition is given below ([81])

**Definition 1.1.9** An operator  $A: V \longrightarrow V'$  is said to be an operator of the Calculus of Variation type if it is bounded and it can be represented as

$$A(v) = A(v, v),$$

where the operator  $(u, v) \in V \times V \longrightarrow A(u, v) \in V'$  satisfies the following conditions

$$\begin{cases} \forall u \in V, \ v \in V \longrightarrow A(u, v) \in V' \ is \ bounded \ and \ hemicontinuous,\\ (A(u) - A(v), u - v)) \ge 0, \end{cases}$$
(1.1.7)

$$\forall v \in V, \ u \in V \longrightarrow A(u, v) \in V' \ is \ bounded \ and \ hemicontinuous, \tag{1.1.8}$$

$$\begin{cases} u_{j} \rightharpoonup u \text{ weakly in } V \text{ and if } (A(u_{j}, u_{j}) - A(u_{j}, u), u_{j} - u)) \longrightarrow 0 \\ \text{then } \forall v \in V, \ A(u_{j}, v) \rightharpoonup A(u, v) \text{ weakly in } V', \end{cases}$$

$$\begin{cases} u_{j} \rightharpoonup u \text{ weakly in } V \text{ and if } A(u_{j}, v) \rightharpoonup \psi \text{ weakly in } V' \\ \text{then } (A(u_{j}, v), u_{j}) \longrightarrow (\psi, u). \end{cases}$$

$$(1.1.9)$$

**Proposition 1.1.10** If A is an operator of Calculus of Variation then A is pseudomonotone.

By *Proposition* 1.1.12, *Proposition* 1.1.9 and *Remark* 1.1.7 it follows a general existence result.

**Proposition 1.1.11** Let be an operator  $A: V \longrightarrow V'$  of Calculus of Variations type. Then, for any  $f \in V'$ , the equation A(u) = f admits at least a solution.

## 1.2 Applications to nonlinear elliptic equations

In this section we prove an existence result for a general class of pseudo-monotone operators: furthermore, we show how it is possible to get, thanks to the result proved in the previous section, the existence of a solution for operators involving lower order terms.

From now on we assume that  $\Omega$  is a bounded open set of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and we consider a class of nonlinear problems of the type

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) + H(x, u, \nabla u) = f & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.2.1)

where  $a: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $H: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  are two Carathéodory functions such that

$$|a(x,s,\xi)| \le C \left[ b(x) + |s|^{p-1} + |\xi|^{p-1} \right], \quad b(x) \in L^{p'}(\Omega), \ C > 0, \tag{1.2.2}$$

$$a(x,s,\xi) \cdot \xi \ge \left|\xi\right|^p, \qquad (1.2.3)$$

$$(a(x, s, \xi) - a(x, s, \eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) > 0, \quad \xi \neq \eta,$$
 (1.2.4)

$$|H(x,s,\xi)| \le C \left[ b(x) + |s|^{p-1} + |\xi|^{p-1} \right], \quad C > 0,$$
(1.2.5)

 $a.e. \ x \in \Omega, \ \ \forall s \in \mathbb{R}, \, \forall \xi, \, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N \text{ and }$ 

$$f \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega).$$

**Definition 1.2.1** Let p > 1, then if  $f \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$ , a function  $u \in W^{1,p}_0(\Omega)$  is a weak solution of problem (1.2.1) if

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla \varphi dx + \int_{\Omega} H(x, u, \nabla u) \varphi dx = \langle f, \varphi \rangle_{W^{-1, p'}(\Omega), W^{1, p}_{0}(\Omega)}, \quad \forall \varphi \in W^{1, p}_{0}(\Omega).$$

$$(1.2.6)$$

If we denote by  $B: (u,v) \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \times W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \longrightarrow B(u,v) \in \mathbb{R}$  the form defined by

$$B(u,v) = \int_{\Omega} a(x,u,\nabla u) \cdot \nabla v dx + \int_{\Omega} H(x,u,\nabla u) v dx,$$

then

$$\frac{B(u,v)}{\|v\|_{W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)}} \longrightarrow +\infty \quad \text{when } \|v\|_{W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)} \longrightarrow +\infty.$$
(1.2.7)

The form  $v \longrightarrow B(u, v)$  is linear and continuous on  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ . So we can write

$$B(u, v) = (A(u), v),$$

where  $A(u) = -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) + H(x, u, \nabla u).$ 

In order to prove the existence result given by Theorem 1.2.3 below, we recall a lemma which will be useful in the following ([81]). We omit the details for briefness.

**Lemma 1.2.2** Let us assume a satisfies the conditions (1.2.2) - (1.2.4). Let

$$u_j, \ u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$$
 such that  $u_j \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ .

Put

$$F_j = (a(x, u, \nabla u_j) - a(x, u, \nabla u)) \cdot (\nabla u_j - \nabla u),$$

and suppose that

$$\int_{\Omega} F_j(x) dx \longrightarrow 0.$$

Then, up to a subsequence,

$$\nabla u_j \longrightarrow \nabla u \quad a.e. \ in \ \Omega,$$

and

$$H(x, u_j, \nabla u_j) \rightharpoonup H(x, u, \nabla u) \quad weakly \text{ in } L^{p'}(\Omega)$$

**Theorem 1.2.3** Let be  $\tilde{A} : u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \longrightarrow -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$  and assume that conditions (1.2.2) - (1.2.7) hold. Then, if  $f \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$  then there exists  $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  such that  $\tilde{A}(u) = f$  in  $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$ , that is (1.2.6) holds true.

**Proof.** We will prove that the operator

$$A(u) = -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) + H(x, u, \nabla u)$$

is an operator of Calculus of Variations type. Then the result follows from *Theorem* 1.1.12. Let us introduce the operator A(u, v). Let be

$$A_1(u, v, w) = \int_{\Omega} a(x, u, \nabla v) \cdot \nabla w dx,$$
$$A_2(u, w) = \int_{\Omega} H(x, u, \nabla u) w dx.$$

The form  $w \longrightarrow B_1(u, v, w) + B_2(u, w)$  is continuous on  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ . Hence

$$A_1(u, v, w) + A_2(u, w) = \tilde{A}(u, v, w) = (A(u, v), w), \quad A(u, v) \in W^{-1, p'}(\Omega).$$

So we have

$$A(u, u) = A(u).$$

*Proof of* (1.1.7), (1.1.8). By (1.2.4), we have

$$(A(u, u) - A(u, v), u - v) = (A_1(u, u, u - v) - A_1(u, v, u - v)) \ge 0.$$

Moreover the function  $v \longrightarrow A(u, v)$  is bounded and hemicontinuous from V to V'. Indeed for  $u, v_1, v_2 \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  we have, for  $\lambda \longrightarrow 0$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} a(x, u, \nabla(v_1 + \lambda v_2)) &\rightharpoonup a(x, u, \nabla v_1) \quad weakly \text{ in } L^{p'}(\Omega), \\ H(x, u, \nabla(v_1 + \lambda v_2)) &\rightharpoonup H(x, u, \nabla v_1) \quad weakly \text{ in } L^{p'}(\Omega), \end{aligned}$$

hence for any  $w \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  we have

$$A(x, v_1 + \lambda v_2, w) \longrightarrow A(x, v_1, w) \quad if \ \lambda \longrightarrow 0,$$

and this proves (1.1.7). In a similar way we can prove (1.1.8).

*Proof of* (1.1.9). Using the notation of Lemma, we get

$$(A(u_j, u_j) - A(u_j, u), u_j - u) = \int_{\Omega} F(x) dx;$$

then if  $u_j \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  and  $(A(u_j, u_j) - A(u_j, u), u_j - u) \longrightarrow 0$ , by Lemma 1.2.1, we get  $H(x, u_j, \nabla u_j) \rightharpoonup H(x, u, \nabla u)$  weakly in  $L^{p'}(\Omega)$ ; moreover, being

$$H(x, u_j, \nabla u_j) \rightharpoonup H(x, u, \nabla u) \quad weakly \text{ in } L^{p'}(\Omega),$$

we have

$$\tilde{A}(u_j, v, w) \longrightarrow \tilde{A}(u, v, w) \quad \text{for any } w \in W^{1,p}_0(\Omega);$$

hence  $A(u_j, v) \longrightarrow A(u, v)$  weakly in  $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$ .

Proof of (1.1.10). Let  $u_j \rightharpoonup u$  weakly in  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  and  $A(u_j, v) \rightharpoonup \psi$  weakly in  $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$ . So  $u_j \longrightarrow u$  strongly in  $L^p(\Omega)$ , hence by Carathéodory theorem

$$A_1(u_j, v, u_j) \longrightarrow A_1(u, v, u).$$

Moreover, being

$$|A_2(u_j, u_j - u)| \ge c ||u_j - u||_{L^p},$$

it follows that

$$A_2(u_j, u_j - u) \longrightarrow 0. \tag{1.2.8}$$

But

$$A_2(u_j, u) = (A(u_j, v), u) - A_1(u_j, v, u) \longrightarrow (\psi, u) - A_1(u, v, u),$$

so by (1.2.8) we get

$$A_2(u_j, u_j) \longrightarrow (\psi, u) - A_1(u, v, u)$$

and finally

$$(A(u_j, v), u_j) = A_1(u_j, v, u_j) + A_2(u_j, u_j) \longrightarrow (\psi, u).$$

**Remark 1.2.4** The result just proved here take places into a wide literature about existence problems for elliptic equations with  $f \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$ . If we consider the problem with the lower order term  $b(x) |\xi|^{\lambda}$  with  $0 \leq \lambda \leq p-1$ ,  $b \in L^{r}(\Omega)$ , r > N and  $-\operatorname{div}(c(x) |s|^{\gamma})$ , with  $0 \leq \gamma \leq p-1$ ,  $c(x) \in L^{\sigma}(\Omega)$ ,  $\sigma > \frac{N}{p-1}$  the operator can fail to be coercive if the norm of  $\|b\|_{L^{r}}$  and  $\|c\|_{L^{\sigma}}$  are not small enough. The linear case has been studied by Stampacchia in [106]; he proved an existence result assuming that the norm of  $\|b\|_{L^{r}}$  and  $\|c\|_{L^{\sigma}}$  with and are sufficiently small or in particular the measure  $|\Omega|$  is small enough. The nonlinear case has been studied in [50] in the case c = 0 and in [27] in the case b = 0. In [52] the effect of the two lower order terms are taking into account: the authors proved existence result without smallness hypotheses on the norm of  $\|b\|_{L^{r}}$  and  $\|c\|_{L^{\sigma}}$  except naturally in the case  $\lambda = \gamma = p - 1$ . In this case , the existence result still hold only if the norm of  $\|b\|_{L^{r}}$  or  $\|c\|_{L^{\sigma}}$  is sufficiently small.

# CHAPTER II

## NOTION OF SOLUTIONS

In this chapter we introduce some well-know notion of solutions for nonlinear elliptic problem whose data are  $L^1$  function or Radon measure with bounded total variation. Let us consider the following Dirichlet problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) = f & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.0.9)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \geq 2$ , 1 . Furthermore <math>a:  $\Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function such that

$$a(x,s,\xi)\xi \ge \alpha \left|\xi\right|^p, \quad \alpha > 0, \tag{2.0.10}$$

$$|a(x,s,\xi)| \le \left[ |\xi|^{p-1} + |s|^{p-1} + a_0(x) \right], \quad a_0(x) \in L^{p'}(\Omega), \tag{2.0.11}$$

$$(a(x,s,\xi) - a(x,s,\eta), \xi - \eta) > 0, \quad \xi \neq \eta,$$
 (2.0.12)

 $a.e.x\in\Omega, \forall s\in\mathbb{R}, \forall\xi,\,\eta\in\mathbb{R}^N$  and

#### f is a bounded Radon measure with bounded total variation.

If p > N then, by Sobolev embedding theorems and duality arguments, the space of measures with bounded variation on  $\Omega$  is a subset of  $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$  so that a natural notion of solution for problem (2.0.9) is that of weak solution. As pointed out in the previous chapter a function  $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  is called a weak solution to (2.0.9) if

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla \varphi = \langle f, \varphi \rangle_{W^{-1, p'}(\Omega), W^{1, p}_{0}(\Omega)}, \quad \forall \varphi \in W^{1, p}_{0}(\Omega)$$

The existence and uniqueness of weak solutions to (2.0.9) are consequence of the theory of monotone operators ([80], [81]; see also Chapter I). However this framework can not be extended to the case  $p \leq N$ , since, as showed by the following simple example, we can not expect that the solution belongs to  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ .

**Example 2.0.5** For  $N \ge 2$  and  $\Omega = B_1(0) = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : |x| < 1\}$ , let  $\sigma_{N-1}$  is (N-1)-dimensional measure of  $\partial B_1(0)$ , and let be  $\gamma = \frac{N-p}{p-1}$ . Let us consider the function u defined by

$$u(x) = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{\gamma} (|x|^{-\gamma} - 1) & \text{if } 1$$

belongs to  $L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$  if and only if  $\gamma < N$  that is  $p > \frac{2N}{N+1}$ .

Therefore the notion of weak solution does not fit the case when f is not an element of the dual space  $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$ . Moreover the classical counterexample due to Serrin shows that the solution in the sense of distribution is not unique.

**Example 2.0.6** Let be  $\Omega = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^N : |x| < 1\}$  and  $\lambda > 1$ . Let us consider the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(A(x)\nabla u) = 0 & in \quad \Omega\\ u = x_1 & on \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.0.13)

where

$$a_{i,j} = (\lambda - 1) \frac{x_i x_j}{|x|^2} + \delta_{i,j}$$

It is easy to see that problem (2.0.13) admits two distributional solutions (see [104], [2])

$$\bar{u}(x) = x_1 |x|^{-\frac{n}{2} + \alpha}, \qquad \underline{u}(x) = x_1 |x|^{-\frac{n}{2} - \alpha},$$

but  $\underline{u}(x)$  seems to have the features of a pathological one to be rejected.

The previous argument imply that in order to get both existence and uniqueness results it is necessary to introduce new notions of solution. In this chapter we report the notions of entropy solution ([13]), SOLA ([43]), renormalized solution ([87] and [88]) and "generalized solution" ([100]).

#### 2.1 Solution defined by duality method

In this section we deal with the notion of solution introduced by Stampacchia in [106] for linear operators. In that paper he defined a notion of solution by duality method and he proved an existence and uniqueness theorem. In particular he proved that the solution satisfies the equation (2.0.9) in the distributional sense and belongs to  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$  for every  $q < \frac{N}{N-1}$ .

In order to explain the method introduced by Stampacchia, let us consider a bounded open set  $\Omega$  of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , with  $N \geq 2$  and the linear elliptic problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(A(x)\nabla u) = f & \text{in} \quad \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on} \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.1.1)

where  $A(x) = (a_{i,j})$  is a matrix of coefficients belonging to  $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , satisfying the ellipticity condition

$$a_{i,j}(x)\xi_i\xi_j \ge \alpha |\xi|^2, \quad \forall \xi \in \mathbb{R}^2, \ \alpha > 0,$$

and f is a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$ . If we define for every  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$  the adjoint operator

$$L^*(u) = -\operatorname{div}(A^*(x)\nabla u),$$

where  $A^*$  denotes the transpose matrix of A, we consider the corresponding problem

$$\begin{cases} L^* u = f & \text{in} \quad \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on} \quad \partial \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.1.2)

with  $f \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$  with p' > N. This problem admits a solution belonging to  $C(\overline{\Omega})$ so, since p' > N, the operator

$$G_p^*: f \in W^{-1,p'}(\Omega) \longrightarrow u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$$

is well defined. This function  $G_p^*$  is linear and continuous so we can define the Green operator

$$G^*: \bigcup_{p'>N} W^{-1,p'}(\Omega) \longrightarrow C_0(\Omega),$$

with  $G^* \Big|_{W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)} = G_p^*.$ 

Now we can give the definition of solution by duality to problem (2.1.1).

**Definition 2.1.1** A function  $u \in L^1(\Omega)$  is a solution by duality to problem (2.1.1) if

$$\int_{\Omega} ugdx = \int_{\Omega} G^*(g)df,$$

for every  $g \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

The following existence and uniqueness result hold true:

**Theorem 2.1.2** Let be f a measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$ . Then there exists a unique solution by duality to problem (2.1.1). Moreover  $u \in W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$  with  $q < \frac{N}{N-1}$ .

Stampacchia also proved in [106] that such a solution is Hölder continuous when p > N but this continuity can be lost if  $p \le N$ . In this case, the solution is continuous only if  $f \in L(n, 1)$  ([64], [1]). The continuity of the solution allows also to prove that the unique solution to problem (2.0.9) belongs to  $L(\frac{N}{N-1}, \infty)$  and improves the result contained in [1] and in [106]. In [106] it is proven that  $u \in H_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$  with  $q < \frac{N}{N-1}$ , while in [1] the author proved that  $u \in L(\frac{N}{N-2}, \infty)$ .

# 2.2 Solution Obtained as Limit of Approximations

Stampacchia's framework, based on a duality argument, cannot be extended to the case of a general nonlinear operator except when p = 2 (see [88]) when Stampacchia's ideas continue to work if the operator is strongly monotone and Lipschitz continuous with respect to  $\nabla u$ . The first existence result in the nonlinear case is due to Boccardo and Gallouët. In [31] they proved the existence of a solution in the sense of distribution to problem (2.0.9) and they showed that such a solution belongs to the Sobolev space  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$  for every  $1 < q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$ . This solution is found by an approximating

method which consists in finding a solution as limit of a sequence of solutions that are weak solution to (2.0.9) because of the regularity f the right hand-side. In particular they proved some apriori estimates which are the critical point in the passage under integral sign performed to define a solution known as Solution Obtained as Limit of approximation (SOLA) [43].

**Definition 2.2.1** A function  $u : \Omega \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  is a SOLA to (2.0.9) if there exist two subsequences

$$f_n \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \quad f_n \longrightarrow f \quad strongly \ in \ L^1(\Omega),$$
$$u_n \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \quad and \quad -\operatorname{div}(a(x, \nabla u_n)) = f_n \quad in \ D'(\Omega),$$
$$u_n \longrightarrow u \quad a.e. \ in \ \Omega.$$

The main result proved in [43] is the following existence result:

**Theorem 2.2.2** Let  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ , then there exists a SOLA u of (2.0.9) which belongs to  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$  for every  $1 < q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$ .

We point out that the procedure of passing to the limit under integral sign can be simplified by a result of continuity from the data. In order to obtain this result, hypothese (2.0.12) has to be replaced by more streighten conditions

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) \ge \alpha_1 |\xi - \eta|^p \quad if \ 2 \le p \le N,$$
(2.2.1)

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) \ge \alpha_1 \frac{|\xi - \eta|^2}{(1 + |\xi| + |\eta|)^{2-p}} \quad if \ 2 - \frac{1}{N}$$

where  $\alpha$ ,  $\alpha_1$  and  $\beta$  are positive constants.

**Proposition 2.2.3** Let assumption (2.2.1) or (2.2.2) hold and let be

$$|a(x,\xi)| \le A \,|\xi|^{p-1} \quad A > 0. \tag{2.2.3}$$

If f, g are two regular functions and u and v are the solutions of

$$-\operatorname{div}(a(x,\nabla u)) = f, \quad -\operatorname{div}(a(x,\nabla v)) = g,$$

then, for every  $q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$ 

$$||u - v||_{W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)} \le \psi \left( ||f - g||_{L^1(\Omega)} \right),$$

if  $p \geq 2$ , where  $\psi$  is a positive function such that

$$\lim_{s \to 0^+} \psi(s) = 0,$$

and

$$||u - v||_{W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)} \le \Lambda \left( ||f||_{L^1(\Omega)}, ||g||_{L^1(\Omega)}, ||f - g||_{L^1(\Omega)} \right),$$

if  $1 , where <math>\Lambda$  is a function that tends to zero when  $\|f - g\|_{L^1(\Omega)}$  tends to zero and all the other norms remain bounded.

The previous result has been improved by Alvino and Mercaldo in [43]. In this paper the authors suggested a different and quick approach based on symmetrizzation methods (see [86] and [108]) which allows to prove apriori estimates for SOLAs to (2.0.9) and, under the stronger monotonicity assumption (2.2.1), (2.2.2), also a result of continuity from the data.

**Proposition 2.2.4** Let assumptions (2.2.3), (2.2.1) or (2.2.2) hold and let be u and v two weak solutions to (2.0.9) with regular functions f and g. Then, for every  $q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$ 

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u-v)|^q \, dx \le C \, \|f-g\|_{L^1(\Omega)}^{\frac{q}{p-1}},$$

 $\textit{if } p \geq 2,$ 

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u-v)|^q \, dx \le C \left( \|f\|_{L^1(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} + \|f\|_{L^1(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \right) \|f-g\|_{L^1(\Omega)}^{\frac{q}{p-1}},$$

if  $1 , where C depends on N, p, <math>|\Omega|$ , and q.

#### 2.3 Entropy solution and renormalized solution

In this section we recall the equivalent notion of entropy solution ([48], [33]) and renormalized solution ([88], [87] and [48]). In order to define this notions let us introduce the truncature operator. For a given constant k > 0 we define the function  $T_k : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  as

$$T_k(s) = \begin{cases} s & \text{if } |s| \le k \\ k \text{sign}(s) & \text{if } |s| > k. \end{cases}$$

Now we want to give a sense to the derivative of a function  $u \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  generalizing the usual concept of weak derivative in  $W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$ .

**Definition 2.3.1** Let be 1 and let be <math>u a measurable function defined on  $\Omega$  which is almost everywhere finite and satisfies  $T_k(u) \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(\Omega)$  for every k > 0. Then there exists ([13]) a measurable function  $v : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^N$  such that

$$\nabla T_k(u) = v\chi_{\{|u| \le k\}} \quad a.e. \text{ in } \Omega, \quad for \ every \ k > 0. \tag{2.3.1}$$

We defined the gradient  $\nabla u$  as this function v, and we denote  $\nabla u = v$ .

**Remark 2.3.2** We remark that the gradient defined in (2.3.1) is not the gradient used in the definition of Sobolev space, since it is possible that u does not belong to  $L_{loc}^{1}(\Omega)$  or v does not belong to  $(L_{loc}^{1}(\Omega))^{N}$ . However, if v belongs to  $(L_{loc}^{1}(\Omega))^{N}$ , then u belongs to  $W_{loc}^{1,1}(\Omega)$  and v is the distributional gradient of u. On the other hand, if u belongs to  $L_{loc}^{1}(\Omega)$ , the function v is not in general the distributional gradient of u. In fact, if  $\Omega$  is the unit ball of  $\mathbb{R}^{N}$  and  $u(x) = \frac{x_{1}}{|x|^{N}}$  then  $u \in L^{q}(\Omega)$ , for every  $q < \frac{N}{N-1}$ and

$$\frac{\partial T_k(u)}{\partial x_1} = \left\{ \frac{1}{|x|^N} - N \frac{x_1^2}{|x|^{N+2}} \right\} \chi_{\{|u| \le k\}},$$

so

$$v_1 = \frac{1}{|x|^N} - N \frac{x_1^2}{|x|^{N+2}}$$

does not belong to  $L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ , which implies that v is not in  $(L^1_{loc}(\Omega))^N$ . On the contrary, we have in the distributional sense

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_1} = \mathbf{pv}\left\{\frac{1}{|x|^N} - N\frac{x_1^2}{|x|^{N+2}}\right\} + \frac{1}{N}\sigma_{N-1}\delta_0,$$

where pv denotes the principal value,  $\sigma_{N-1}$  the (N-1)- dimensional measure of the surface of the unit ball of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $\delta_0$  is the Dirac mass at the origin.

Now we are able to introduce the definition of entropy solution.

**Definition 2.3.3** Let be  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ . A measurable function  $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  satisfying the condition  $T_k(u) \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  for every k > 0 is an entropy solution to problem (2.0.9) if it results

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, \nabla u) \nabla T_k(u - \varphi) dx \le \int_{\Omega} T_k(u - \varphi) f dx, \qquad (2.3.2)$$

for every k > 0 and  $\varphi \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

We underline that we did not assume that the entropy solution belongs to some Sobolev space but only that u is a measurable function.

Now it is possible to prove the following existence and uniqueness result (see [13] and [33]).

**Theorem 2.3.4** Let be  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$  and let us assume conditions (2.0.10) - (2.0.12). Then there exists a unique entropy solution to problem (2.0.9).

An equivalent notion of solution to problem (2.0.9) is the so called renormalized solution; such a notion has been introduced in [87] and [88] for nonlinear elliptic equations when the datum  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ .

**Definition 2.3.5** Let p > 1 and  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ . A function u is a renormalized solution to (2.0.9) if it satisfies the following conditions:

u is a measurable function, almost everywhere finite in  $\Omega$ ,

$$T_{k}(u) \text{ belongs to } W_{0}^{1,p}(\Omega), \text{ for every } k,$$
$$\frac{1}{n} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{\{n \le |u| \le 2n\}} a(x, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla u \, dx = 0,$$
$$\int_{\Omega} h(u)a(x, \nabla u)\nabla v \, dx + \int_{\Omega} h'(u)a(x, \nabla u)\nabla u \, v \, dx = \int_{\Omega} fh(u)v \, dx,$$

for every  $h \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  with compact support in  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $v \in W^{1,p}_0(\Omega) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ .

Thanks to this notion we are able to get an existence and uniqueness result:

**Theorem 2.3.6** Let be  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$  and let us assume conditions (2.0.10) - (2.0.12)hold. Then there exists a unique renormalized solution to problem (2.0.9).

This theorem has been improved in [48]; in this work the authors extended the definition of renormalized solution to the general case where f is a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$ .

Such definition needs the notion of p-capacity which we brifly recall here. The pcapacity  $cap_p(K, \Omega)$  of a compact set  $K \subset \Omega$  with respect to  $\Omega$  is

$$cap_p(K,\Omega) = \inf \left\{ \int_{\Omega} |\nabla \varphi|^p : \varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\Omega), \quad \varphi \ge \chi_K \right\},$$

where  $\chi_K$  is the characteristic function of k. If  $U \subseteq \Omega$  is an open set, we denote by

$$cap_p(U,\Omega) = \sup \{ cap_p(K,\Omega) : K \text{ compact}, K \subseteq \Omega \}.$$

Finally, the p-capacity of any subset  $B \subseteq \Omega$  is defined by

$$cap_p(B,\Omega) = \sup \{ cap_p(U,\Omega) : B \text{ open}, B \subseteq \Omega \}.$$

We denote by  $M_b(\Omega)$  the space of all Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$ and by  $C_b^0(\Omega)$  the space of all bounded and continuous functions on  $\Omega$  so  $\int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu$  is well defined for  $\varphi \in C_b^0(\Omega)$ . Finally we denote by  $\mu^+$ ,  $\mu^-$  and  $|\mu|$  the positive, negative part and total variation of measure  $\mu$  in  $M_b(\Omega)$ . We denote by  $M_0(\Omega)$  as the set of all measures  $\mu$  in  $M_b(\Omega)$  which are absolutely continuous with respect to the p-capacity, i.e. which satisfy  $\mu(B) = 0$  for every Borel set  $B \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $cap_p(B, \Omega) = 0$ . We denote by  $M_s(\Omega)$  as the set of all the measures  $\mu$  in  $M_b(\Omega)$  which are singular with respect to the p-capacity, i.e. which are concentrated in a set  $E \subset \Omega$  such that  $cap_p(E, \Omega) = 0$ . The following proposition shows an important decomposition result (see [66] for the proof).

**Proposition 2.3.7** For every Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$  there exists an unique pair of measures  $(\mu_0, \mu_s)$  with  $\mu_0 \in M_0(\Omega)$  and  $\mu_s \in M_s(\Omega)$  such that  $\mu = \mu_0 + \mu_s$ .

The measures  $\mu_0$  and  $\mu_s$  are called the absolutely continuous part and the singular part of  $\mu$  with respect to the p-capacity. For what concerns  $\mu_0$  the following decomposition result holds ([33]):

**Proposition 2.3.8** Let  $\mu_0$  be a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$ . Then  $\mu_0$  belongs to  $M_0(\Omega)$  if it belongs to  $L^1(\Omega) + W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$ . Thus if  $\mu_0$  belongs to  $M_0(\Omega)$ , there exists f in  $L^1(\Omega)$  and  $g \in (L^{p'}(\Omega))^N$  such that

$$\mu_0 = f - \operatorname{div}(g)$$

in the sense of distributions; moreover

$$\int_{\Omega} v d\mu_0 = \int_{\Omega} f v dx + \int_{\Omega} g \cdot \nabla v dx, \quad \forall v \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega).$$

Now we are able to introduce the notion of renormalized solution to problem (2.0.9) when f is a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$ .

**Definition 2.3.9** Let be  $\mu$  a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$  and assume that a satisfies (2.0.10) - (2.0.12). A function u is a renormalized solution to problem (2.0.9) if it satisfies the following conditions:

u is a measurable function, almost everywhere finite,

 $T_k(u)$  belongs to  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ , for every k,

for every  $\varphi \in C_b^0(\Omega)$  we have

$$\lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} \int_{\{n \le u < 2n\}} a(x, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla u \varphi dx = \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^+, \qquad (2.3.3)$$

and

$$\lim_{n} \frac{1}{n} \int_{\{-2n \le u < -n\}} a(x, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla u \varphi dx = \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^-, \qquad (2.3.4)$$

for every  $h \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  with compact support in  $\mathbb{R}$  we have

$$\int_{\Omega} h(u)a(x,\nabla u)\nabla\varphi dx + \int_{\Omega} h'(u)a(x,\nabla u)\nabla u\varphi dx = \int_{\Omega} \varphi h(u)d\mu_0, \qquad (2.3.5)$$

for every  $\varphi \in W^{1,p}(\Omega) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  such that  $h(u)\varphi$  belongs to  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ .

**Remark 2.3.10** We observe that conditions (2.3.3) and (2.3.4) are equivalent to say that the sequences  $\frac{1}{n}a(x, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla u\chi_{\{n \le u < 2n\}}$  and  $\frac{1}{n}a(x, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla u\chi_{\{-2n \le u < -n\}}$  converge to  $\mu_s^+$  and  $\mu_s^-$  respectively in the narrow topology. In other words, the measures  $\mu_s^+$ and  $\mu_s^-$  can be obtained through the energy of the solution.

The main result contained in [48] is the following existence result:

**Theorem 2.3.11** Let be  $\mu$  a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$  and assume that a satisfies (2.0.10) - (2.0.12). Then there exists a renormalized solution to (2.0.9).

We observe that the Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$  is not the general datum for problem (2.0.9). Indeed, there exists elements in  $W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$  which are not measures, such that the data

$$\mu - \operatorname{div}(F), \tag{2.3.6}$$

 $F \in (L^{p'}(\Omega))^N$  can be considered. However, the new term  $-\operatorname{div}(F)$ , does not give an additional difficulty because of its "regularity" and the Theorem 2.3.11 still hold with

the same proof whenever Definition 2.3.9 is modified as follows. The condition (2.3.3) (similar consideration apply to (2.3.4)) have to be replaced by

$$E(t,s) = \frac{1}{t-s} \int_{\{s \le u \le t\}} a(x, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla u \varphi dx,$$

and it is possible to prove that a subsequence  $E(t_n, s_n)$ , for some conveniently chosen  $t_n \in s_n$ , converges to

$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^+.$$

Solution 2.3.12 Remark 2.3.13 The result contained in this chapter can be extended to nonlinear elliptic Neumann problems in [3], [15], [62], [41], [63], [98].

# CHAPTER III

# UNIFORMLY ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS WITH LOWER ORDER TERMS

In this chapter we consider a class of nonlinear elliptic problems of the type

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}\left(a\left(x,\nabla u\right)\right) - \operatorname{div}\left(\Phi\left(x,u\right)\right) = f & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(3.0.7)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ ,  $1 , <math>a : (x, z) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}^N \to a(x, z) = (a_i(x, z)) \in \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function satisfying:

$$a(x,\xi) \cdot \xi \ge \lambda |\xi|^p, \qquad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad \lambda > 0,$$
(3.0.8)

$$|a(x,\xi)| \le \Lambda |\xi|^{p-1}, \qquad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N, \quad \Lambda > 0, \tag{3.0.9}$$

with 1 , and

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) > 0, \qquad \xi \neq \eta,$$
 (3.0.10)

for almost every  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and for every  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N$ .

Furthermore

$$|\Phi(x,s)| \le c(x) |s|^{p-1} \tag{3.0.11}$$

where  $c(x) \in L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}(\Omega)$ ,  $c(x) \ge 0$  a. e. in  $\Omega$ . Finally

f is a  $L^{1}(\Omega)$  function or a Radon measure with bounded total variation.
In this Chapter we prove the existence of a SOLA to problem (3.0.7) if f is a Radon measure with bounded variation on  $\Omega$  and some uniqueness results when fis a  $L^1-$  function. Such results are contained in [56]. Stampacchia in [106] studied problem (3.0.7) in the linear case under the assumption of smallness of  $||c||_{L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}}$ . Furthermore many authors have proved existence results for problem (3.0.7) in the nonlinear case (see [28] and [12]; see also [52], [72] and [73]). In [56] we prove the same result with a different and quick approach. The same approach has been followed in [5] for the nonlinear problem (3.0.7) with  $\Phi = 0$  and in [6] when the lower order term is of the type  $b(x) |\nabla u|^{p-1}$ . It is based on the choice of a timely test function and a comparison result between the solution to problem (3.0.7) with regular data and the solution of a suitable spherically symmetric problem (see [17]). This comparison result has been obtained by classical symmetrizzation methods introduced by Talenti and Maz'ja (see [108] and [86]).

For what concerns the uniqueness results, the first attempt for regular data is due to Trudinger ([109]). Then, the case  $f \in H^{-1}(\Omega)$  has been studied in [10] when  $\Phi = 0$ and in [33] when  $\Phi$  is a Lipschitz continuous function. Other uniqueness results can be found in [37], [38] and [39],. These results are always in the context of finite energy solutions; with respect to the datum f, this means that f is taken in  $L^m(\Omega)$  with  $m \geq \frac{2N}{N+2}$ .

On the other hand, assuming that  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ , the uniqueness of entropy solution has been obtained in [94] when  $\Phi$  is locally Lipschitz continuous and has at most an exponential growth at infinity.

Other uniqueness results have been also proved for renormalized solutions in [12] and in [19], (see also [70], [74]).

In this chapter we prove uniqueness results of SOLA's when  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$  and  $\Phi$  is locally Lipschitz continuous with respect to the second variable. The uniqueness can be proved if we get an estimate of the gradient of the difference of two solutions in term of the  $L^1$ - norm of the difference of data. Unfortunately, the assumptions of existence are not enought to have this result even if  $\Phi = 0$  and fis regular. To overcome this difficulty we have to modify the classical monotonicity hypotheses on the structure of the operator.

# 3.1 Definitions and preliminary results

In this section we recall the definition of rearrangementes and some properties which will be used throughout.

Let us consider a measurable function  $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ , where  $\Omega$  is a measurable subset of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . We denote by  $\mu$  the distribution function of u

$$\mu(t) = |\{x \in \Omega : |u(x)| \ge t\}|, \qquad t \ge 0,$$

and by  $u^*$  the decreasing rearrangement of u

$$u^{*}(s) = \sup \{t \ge 0 : \mu(t) > s\}, \quad s \in (0, |\Omega|).$$

The increasing rearrangement  $u_*$  of u is defined as

$$u_*(s) = u^*(|\Omega| - s), \qquad s \in (0, |\Omega|).$$

If  $\omega_N$  denotes the measure of unit ball of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $\Omega^{\#}$  the ball of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  centered in the origin such that  $|\Omega| = |\Omega^{\#}|$ , the sferically decreasing and the sferically increasing rearrangements of u are

$$u^{\#}(x) = u^{*}\left(\omega_{N} |x|^{N}\right), \qquad u_{\#}(x) = u_{\#}\left(\omega_{N} |x|^{N}\right), \qquad x \in \Omega^{\#}$$

If  $1 < q < +\infty$  and  $1 \le r \le +\infty$ , the Lorentz space  $L^{q,r}(\Omega)$  is the class of function u such that

$$\|u\|_{q,r}^{*} = \left(\int_{0}^{+\infty} \left[u^{*}\left(s\right)s^{\frac{1}{q}}\right]^{r} \frac{ds}{s}\right)^{\frac{1}{r}} < +\infty,$$
(3.1.1)

$$\|u\|_{q,\infty}^* = \sup_{s>0} u^*(s) s^{\frac{1}{q}} < +\infty.$$
(3.1.2)

We remark that  $L^{q,q}(\Omega) = L^{q}(\Omega)$ , and  $L^{q,\infty}(\Omega)$  is the Marcinkiewicz space  $L^{q}-weak$ ; moreover, if  $\Omega$  is bounded, the following embeddings hold (see [76], [91])

$$L^{q,r_1}(\Omega) \subset L^{q,r_2}(\Omega), \qquad r_1 < r_2,$$

 $L^{q_1,r}(\Omega) \subset L^q(\Omega), q < q_1.$ 

Here we just recall some inequalities which will be useful later down (for an exhaustive treatment of rearrangements see [40] and [77]). Here we just recall the Hardy-Littlewood inequality

$$\int_{\Omega^{\#}} u^{\#}(x) v_{\#}(x) dx \leq \int_{\Omega} |u(x) v(x)| dx \leq \int_{\Omega^{\#}} u^{\#}(x) v^{\#}(x) dx, \qquad (3.1.3)$$

with u, v measurable functions (see [75]), and a Sobolev-type inequality (see [8])

$$\int_{\Omega^{\#}} |x|^{N\alpha-p} \left[ u^{\#}(x) \right]^{p} dx \le \omega_{N}^{-\alpha} \left( \frac{p}{N-p+N\alpha} \right)^{p} \int_{\Omega} \left[ \mu \left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} |\nabla u|^{p} dx, \quad (3.1.4)$$

where  $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ , p < N,  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\mu$  is the distribution function of u. Finally we recall a comparison result between the solution of the nonlinear elliptic problem (3.0.7) with regular datum and the solution of a suitable problem with radially symmetric datum. The result, contained in [17], is

$$u^{*}(s) \leq 2^{p-1} \int_{s}^{|\Omega|} \frac{1}{(N\omega_{N}^{\frac{1}{N}})^{p'} t^{p'\left(1-\frac{1}{N}\right)}} \left(\int_{0}^{t} f^{*}(\tau) \, d\tau\right)^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \frac{C\left(r\right)^{\frac{1}{p-1}}}{N\omega_{N}^{\frac{1}{N}} r^{1-\frac{1}{N}}} dr\right) dt,$$
(3.1.5)

for a.e.  $s \in (0, |\Omega|]$ . Here C(r) is defined as

$$\int_{|u|>t} c(x)^{p'} dx = \int_0^{\mu(t)} C(s)^{p'} ds;$$

the following lemma shows that C(r) can be obtained as weak limit of functions having the same rearrangement of c(r) **Lemma 3.1.1** If  $f \in L^p(\Omega)$ ,  $p \ge 1$ , there exists a sequence  $\{f_k\}$  of functions such that  $f_k^* = f^*$  and

$$f_k \rightharpoonup F$$
 in  $L^p(0, |\Omega|)$ , if  $p > 1$ ,

and

$$\lim_{k \to +\infty} \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} f_k(s) g(s) ds = \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} F(s) g(s) ds, \qquad g \in BV([0, |\Omega|]), \text{ if } p = 1.$$

As consequence of the previous result any Lebesgue or Lorentz norm of C(r) can be estimated from above with the same norm of c(r); this implies that C(r) and c(r)have the same sommability and so (3.1.5) becomes

$$u^{*}(s) \le K \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} s^{-\frac{N-p}{N(p-1)}}, \qquad (3.1.6)$$

where K is a constant depending on  $\left|\Omega\right|,\,N,\,p,\,\left\|c\right\|_{L^{p'}}.$ 

We explicitly remark that analogous inequalities have been proved in the linear case in [108], [86].

# 3.2 A priori estimates

In this section we prove a priori estimates for weak solutions to problem (3.0.7) in terms of the  $L^1$ - norm of the datum. From now on, we assume that

$$p > 2 - \frac{1}{N}.\tag{3.2.1}$$

We underline that this condition is set only to avoid technicalities: the result, in fact, can be proved also in the case 1 .

**Theorem 3.2.1** Under assumptions (3.0.8) - (3.0.11), if u is a weak solution to problem (3.0.7) with  $f \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , then we have:

$$\left(\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^q \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \le K \, \|f\|_{L^1}^{\frac{1}{p-1}},\tag{3.2.2}$$

where  $q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$  and K is a positive constant depending on  $N, p, q, \lambda, |\Omega|, \|c\|_{L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}}$ .

**Proof.** Under hypotheses (3.0.8) - (3.0.11) there exists a unique weak solution  $u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  (see [81]).

So, let be  $\mu$  the distribution function of u; we define:

$$\varphi(x) = \text{sign}[u(x)] \int_0^{|u(x)|} [\mu(t)]^{\alpha}, \qquad \alpha > 0.$$
 (3.2.3)

We observe that  $\varphi$  is a valid test function because  $\varphi \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ . Using the definition of weak solution to problem (3.0.7) we have:

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ a\left(x, \nabla u\right) \cdot \nabla u \right] \left[ \mu\left(|u(x)|\right) \right]^{\alpha} dx + \int_{\Omega} \Phi(x, u) \cdot \nabla u \left[ \mu\left(|u(x)|\right) \right]^{\alpha} dx = \int_{\Omega} f\varphi dx.$$
(3.2.4)

From (3.0.8):

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ a\left(x, \nabla u\right) \cdot \nabla u \right] \left[ \mu\left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \ge \lambda \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u \right|^{p} \left[ \mu\left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx.$$
(3.2.5)

On the other hand, by (3.0.11) and by Hölder inequality we have:

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(x,u) \cdot \nabla u \left[ \mu\left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \leq \left\| c \right\|_{L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}} \left( \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla u \right|^{p} \left[ \mu\left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \times \left( \int_{\Omega} \left| u \right|^{\frac{Np}{N-p}} \left[ \mu\left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\frac{N\alpha}{N-p}} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p'} \frac{N-p}{N}}.$$
 (3.2.6)

By coarea formula and by (3.1.6), (3.2.6) becomes:

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(x,u) \cdot \nabla u \left[ \mu\left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \leq K \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p} \left[ \mu\left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \times \left( \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{-p' + \frac{N\alpha}{N-p}} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{p'} \frac{N-p}{N}}, \qquad (3.2.7)$$

where  $K = K\left(|\Omega|, N, p, \|c\|_{L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}}\right)$ ; for the rest of the paper K is a constant which can vary from line to line.

Assuming that

$$\alpha > \frac{N-p}{N(p-1)},\tag{3.2.8}$$

the last integral in (3.2.7) is finite, so we obtain:

$$\int_{\Omega} \Phi(x,u) \cdot \nabla u \left[ \mu \left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \le K \| f \|_{L^{1}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p} \left[ \mu \left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
 (3.2.9)

From (3.2.4), (3.2.5), (3.2.9) we get:

$$\lambda \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p} \left[ \mu \left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \leq K \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p} \left[ \mu \left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} + \int_{\Omega} |f| \left| \varphi \right| dx.$$
(3.2.10)

Now we evaluate the  $L^{\infty}$  – norm of  $\varphi$ ; since  $\alpha$  satisfies condition (3.2.8) we have:

$$\sup_{\Omega} |\varphi(x)| = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left[\mu(t)\right]^{\alpha} dt = \alpha \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{\alpha - 1} u^{*}(s) ds$$

By Hölder inequality, (3.2.8) and by Sobolev-type inequality (3.1.4) we obtain:

$$\sup_{\Omega} |\varphi(x)| \leq \left( \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{\alpha - \frac{(N-1)p'}{N}} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{p'}} \left( \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{\alpha - \frac{p}{N}} [u^*(s)]^p ds \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq \\ \leq K \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^p [\mu(|u(x)|)]^\alpha dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
(3.2.11)

Coming back to (3.2.10), by (3.2.11) we have:

$$\lambda \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p} \left[ \mu \left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \le K \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p} \left[ \mu \left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$
 (3.2.12)

 $\operatorname{So}$ 

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p} \left[ \mu \left( |u(x)| \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \le K \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}}^{p'}, \qquad (3.2.13)$$

where  $K = K\left(\left|\Omega\right|, N, p, \left\|c\right\|_{L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}}, \lambda\right)$ .

From (3.2.13) we can deduce a priori estimates for the gradient of weak solutions to problem (3.0.7).

For any fixed  $q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$ , we choose  $\alpha$  such that  $q < \frac{p}{1+\alpha}$ . By Hardy-Littlewood inequality (3.1.3) we get

$$\||\nabla u|\|_{L^q}^p \le K \|\nabla u\|_{\frac{p}{1+\alpha},p}^p,$$

with  $\alpha > \frac{N-p}{N(p-1)}$ . So by (3.2.13)

$$\||\nabla u|\|_{L^{q}}^{p} \leq K \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{p} \left[\mu\left(|u(x)|\right)\right]^{\alpha} dx \leq K \|f\|_{L^{1}}^{p'}.$$

## 3.3 Existence result

In this section we prove the existence of a SOLA to problem (3.0.7). As pointed out before, the SOLA is obtained as limit of approximations and the starting point of this procedure is the estimate (3.2.2). The convergence of the gradients of approximated solutions is obtained in a easily way since we prove a result which gives an estimate of the difference of the gradients in terms of the difference of two solutions. To this aim we substitute assumptions (3.0.8) and (3.0.10) by conditions

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) \ge \beta \frac{|\xi - \eta|^2}{(|\xi| + |\eta|)^{2-p}}, \qquad \xi \ne \eta,$$
 (3.3.1)

if 1 , or

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) \ge \beta |\xi - \eta|^p, \quad \xi \ne \eta,$$
 (3.3.2)

if  $p \ge 2$ . In order to avoid some technicalities, we suppose that  $c(x) \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , but the same result is still valid if  $c(x) \in L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}(\Omega)$  under the hypotheses given in Remark 3.2.

Now we prove the following result

**Proposition 3.3.1** Let us assume (3.0.9), (3.0.11) with  $c(x) \in L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , (3.3.1), (3.3.2). Let be u, v weak solutions to problem (3.0.7) with data  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ respectively, q such that  $q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$  and  $m \leq q^* = \frac{Nq}{N-q}$ . If  $p \geq 2$ , and

$$\Phi(x,u) - \Phi(x,v) \le K \left( |u| + |v| \right)^{p-2} |u-v|, \qquad (3.3.3)$$

then we have

$$\left\| |\nabla (u-v)| \right\|_{L^{q}} \le K \left\| u-v \right\|_{L^{m}}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \left[ \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p-2}{(p-1)^{2}}} + \left\| g \right\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p-2}{(p-1)^{2}}} + \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{1}{p}} + \left\| g \right\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{1}{p}} \right].$$
(3.3.4)

*If* 1*and* 

$$|\Phi(x,u) - \Phi(x,v)| \le K |u-v|^{p-1}, \qquad (3.3.5)$$

then we have:

$$\left\| \left| \nabla \left( u - v \right) \right| \right\|_{L^{q}} \le K \left\| u - v \right\|_{L^{m}}^{\frac{\sigma}{2}} \left( \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}} + \left\| g \right\|_{L^{1}} \right)^{\frac{2-\sigma}{2(p-1)}} + \left\| u - v \right\|_{L^{m}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}} + \left\| g \right\|_{L^{1}} \right)^{\frac{p}{2(p-1)}},$$

$$(3.3.6)$$

with  $\sigma$  a suitable constant such that  $0 < \sigma < \min\left\{p-1, \frac{m}{q'}\right\}$ . The constant K depends on N,  $\beta$ , p, q,  $|\Omega|$ ,  $||c||_{L^{\infty}}$ .

### Proof.

Let be u and v the weak solutions to problem (3.0.7) with data  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ respectively. Denoted by  $\mu$  the distribution function of |u - v|, let us consider the test function

$$\varphi(x) = \operatorname{sign}(u-v) \int_0^{|u-v|(x)|} [\mu(t)]^\alpha dt,$$

with  $\alpha > 0$ . Taking  $\varphi$  in (3.0.7) with data f and g, and subtracting get

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ \left( a\left( x, \nabla u \right) - a\left( x, \nabla v \right) \right) \cdot \nabla \left( u - v \right) \right] \left[ \mu \left( \left| u - v \right| \left( x \right) \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx =$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} \left[ \Phi \left( x, u \right) - \Phi \left( x, v \right) \right] \cdot \nabla \left( u - v \right) \left[ \mu \left( \left| u - v \right| \left( x \right) \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx + \int_{\Omega} \left( f - g \right) \varphi dx. \quad (3.3.7)$$

Case  $p \geq 2$ .

From (3.3.2) the left-hand side of (3.3.7) satisfies

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ \left( a\left( x, \nabla u \right) - a\left( x, \nabla v \right) \right) \cdot \nabla \left( u - v \right) \right] \left[ \mu \left( \left| u - v \right| \left( x \right) \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \ge$$
$$\ge \beta \int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla \left( u - v \right) \right|^{p} \left[ \mu \left( \left| u - v \right| \left( x \right) \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx. \tag{3.3.8}$$

Now we evaluate the right-hand side. From (3.3.3) and Young inequality we deduce

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ \Phi(x, u) - \Phi(x, v) \right] \cdot \nabla(u - v) \left[ \mu(|u - v|(x)) \right]^{\alpha} dx \le \\ \le K \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u - v)|^{p} \left[ \mu(|u - v|(x)) \right]^{\alpha} dx + \\ + K \|c\|_{L^{\infty}} \int_{\Omega} \left[ |u| + |v| \right]^{(p-2)p'} |u - v|^{p'} \left[ \mu(|u - v|(x)) \right]^{\alpha} dx.$$
(3.3.9)

Now we get an estimate of the last integral in (3.3.9). From (3.1.3), Hölder inequality and (3.1.6) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ |u| + |v| \right]^{(p-2)p'} |u - v|^{p'} \left[ \mu \left( |u - v| \left( x \right) \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \le \\ \le K \|u - v\|_{\frac{Np}{N\alpha - p + N}, p}^{p'} \left[ \|f\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p(p-2)}{(p-1)^{2}}} + \|g\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p(p-2)}{(p-1)^{2}}} \right] \left( \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{\alpha + \frac{p}{N(p-2)} - \frac{p(N-p)}{N(p-1)}} ds \right)^{\frac{p-2}{p-1}}.$$

$$(3.3.10)$$

Since  $\alpha > \frac{N-p}{N(p-1)}$ , the last integral in (3.3.10) is finite. By (3.3.10), inequality (3.3.9) becomes

$$\int_{\Omega} \left[ \Phi(x, u) - \Phi(x, v) \right] \cdot \nabla(u - v) \left[ \mu(|u - v|(x)) \right]^{\alpha} dx \leq \\
\leq K \int_{\Omega} |\nabla(u - v)|^{p} \left[ \mu(|u - v|(x)) \right]^{\alpha} dx + \\
+ K \|u - v\|_{\frac{Np}{N\alpha - p + N}, p}^{p'} \left[ \|f\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p(p-2)}{(p-1)^{2}}} + \|g\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p(p-2)}{(p-1)^{2}}} \right],$$
(3.3.11)

Let us consider the last term in (3.3.7)

$$\int_{\Omega} |f - g| \, |\varphi| \, dx \le \|f - g\|_{L^1} \, \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}}. \tag{3.3.12}$$

Since  $\alpha$  satisfies (3.2.8), then

$$\sup_{\Omega} |\varphi(x)| = \int_{0}^{+\infty} \left[\mu(t)\right]^{\alpha} dt = \alpha \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{\alpha-1} \left(u-v\right)^{*}(s) ds = \alpha \left\|u-v\right\|_{\frac{1}{\alpha},1}.$$
 (3.3.13)

Fixed  $m < q^*$ , we choose  $\alpha$  in such a way that

$$\frac{Np}{N\alpha - p + N} < m < q^*. \tag{3.3.14}$$

Hence it results that  $\frac{1}{\alpha} < m$ . So using (3.3.8), (3.3.11) - (3.3.13) and condition (3.3.14), by (3.3.7) we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u - v)|^{p} \left[ \mu \left( |u - v|(x) \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \leq \\ \leq K \|u - v\|_{L^{m}}^{\frac{p}{p-1}} \left[ \|f\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p(p-2)}{(p-1)^{2}}} + \|g\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{p(p-2)}{(p-1)^{2}}} + \|f - g\|_{L^{1}} \right].$$
(3.3.15)

From Hardy-Littlewood inequality, and choosing once again  $\alpha$  so that  $q < \frac{p}{1+\alpha}$ , we get

Therefore, by (3.3.15) and by last inequality we obtain (3.3.4).

**Case** 1 .

Let us consider the function

$$G(x) = \frac{|\nabla (u - v)|^{\frac{2}{p}}}{(|\nabla u| + |\nabla v|)^{\frac{2-p}{p}}}.$$

Coming back to (3.3.7), now we consider the hypotheses (3.3.1) on a and the assumption (3.3.5) on  $\Phi$ , we get:

$$\int_{\Omega} G(x)^{p} \left[ \mu \left( |u - v|(x) \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx \leq K \int_{\Omega} |c(x)| \left| \nabla \left( u - v \right) \right| |u - v|^{p-1} \left[ \mu \left( |u - v|(x) \right) \right]^{\alpha} dx + \int_{\Omega} |f - g| \left| \varphi \right| dx.$$
(3.3.16)

Fixed  $0 < \sigma < p - 1$ , we set

$$I = \int_{\Omega} |c(x)| |\nabla (u - v)| |u - v|^{p - 1 - \sigma} |u - v|^{\sigma} [\mu (|u - v| (x))]^{\alpha} dx.$$

Let be  $m < q^*$ , we choose  $\alpha$  such that  $\frac{1}{\alpha} < m < q^*$ . Now let  $\sigma$  be  $0 < \sigma < \min\left\{p-1, \frac{m}{q'}\right\}$ . Denoted by  $\theta$  the positive number such that  $\frac{1}{\theta} = 1 - \frac{\sigma}{m} - \frac{1}{q}$ , we can apply Hölder inequality and have

$$I \le \|c\|_{L^{\infty}} \|u - v\|_{L^{m}}^{\sigma} \||\nabla u| + |\nabla v|\|_{L^{q}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |u - v|^{(p-1-\sigma)\theta} \left[\mu \left(|u - v|(x)\right)\right]^{\alpha\theta} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{\theta}}.$$

From the Hardy-Littlewood inequality, the comparison result (3.1.6) applied to  $u^*$ and  $v^*$ , and by a priori estimate (3.2.2) on the gradient of u and v, we finally have:

$$I \le K \|u - v\|_{L^m}^{\sigma} \left(\|f\|_{L^1} + \|g\|_{L^1}\right)^{\frac{p-\sigma}{p-1}}.$$
(3.3.17)

By (3.3.16) and (3.3.17), we get

$$\int_{\Omega} G(x)^p \left[ \mu(|u-v|)(x)) \right]^{\alpha} dx \le K \|u-v\|_{L^m}^{\sigma} \left( \|f\|_{L^1} + \|g\|_{L^1} \right)^{\frac{p-\sigma}{p-1}} + \int_{\Omega} \left| (f-g) \right| |\varphi| dx.$$

The term  $\int_{\Omega} |(f-g)| |\varphi| dx$  is evolved as in the case  $p \ge 2$ . So we obtain:

$$\int_{\Omega} G(x)^{p} \left[ \mu(|u-v|)(x) \right]^{\alpha} dx \leq K \left\| u-v \right\|_{L^{m}}^{\sigma} \left( \left\| f \right\|_{L^{1}} + \left\| g \right\|_{L^{1}} \right)^{\frac{p-\sigma}{p-1}} + K \left\| u-v \right\|_{L^{m}} \left\| f-g \right\|_{L^{1}}.$$
(3.3.18)

Now we estimate from below the left-hand side of (3.3.18) by proceeding as in the proof of Theorem 3.2.1. Indeed, by Hardy-Littlewood inequality:

$$\int_{\Omega} G(x)^p \left[ \mu(|u-v|)(x)) \right]^{\alpha} dx \ge \|G\|_{\frac{p}{1+\alpha}, p}^p.$$

If we choose once again  $\alpha$  in way that  $q < \frac{p}{1+\alpha}$ , we have:

$$\|G\|_{L^{q}}^{p} \leq K \|u - v\|_{L^{m}}^{\sigma} \left(\|f\|_{L^{1}} + \|g\|_{L^{1}}\right)^{\frac{p-\sigma}{p-1}} + K \|u - v\|_{L^{m}} \|f - g\|_{L^{1}}.$$
(3.3.19)

Since

$$\int_{\Omega} \left| \nabla (u-v) \right|^q dx \le K \, \|G\|_{L^q}^{qp/2} \left( \|f\|_{L^1}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} + \|g\|_{L^1}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \right)^{q(1-\frac{p}{2})},$$

then

$$\|\nabla(u-v)\|_{L^{q}} \le K \|G\|_{L^{q}}^{p/2} \left( \|f\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} + \|g\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \right)^{1-\frac{p}{2}}.$$
 (3.3.20)

n

From (3.3.19) and (3.3.20) we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \||\nabla (u-v)|\|_{L^{q}} &\leq K \|u-v\|_{L^{m}}^{\frac{\sigma}{2}} \left(\|f\|_{L^{1}} + \|g\|_{L^{1}}\right)^{\frac{2-\sigma}{2(p-1)}} + \|u-v\|_{L^{m}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\|f\|_{L^{1}} + \|g\|_{L^{1}}\right)^{\frac{p}{2(p-1)}}, \\ \end{aligned}$$
where  $K = K(N, p, q, \beta, |\Omega|, \|c\|_{L^{\infty}}). \blacksquare$ 

**Remark 3.3.2** The result of the Proposition 3.3.1 is still valid when c(x) belongs to

 $L^{\frac{N}{p-1}}$ : the only difference from our case is that  $\sigma$  has to be choosen as

$$0 < \sigma < \min\left\{\frac{m}{q'}, \frac{\alpha - \frac{1}{p^*}}{\frac{1}{m} - \frac{N-p}{N(p-1)}}\right\}.$$

Now we are ready to prove the following result:

**Theorem 3.3.3** Let  $p > 2-\frac{1}{N}$  and let us assume conditions (3.0.8), (3.0.11), (3.3.1), (3.3.2). If  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ , or, more in general, if f is a Radon measure with bounded total variation, there exists at least a SOLA for problem (3.0.7). Moreover such solution belongs to  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$  for every q which satisfies

$$1 < q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}.$$

**Proof**. Let be  $\{f_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  a sequence of functions in  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  which weakly - \* converges to f in the sense of measures. By well-known results there exists a solution  $u_n \in W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$  to problem (3.0.7) with datum  $f_n$  (see [52], [81]); so we have:

$$\int_{\Omega} (a(x, \nabla u_n) \cdot \nabla \varphi) dx = \int_{\Omega} \Phi(x, u_n) \cdot \nabla \varphi dx + \int_{\Omega} f_n \varphi dx, \qquad \forall \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$
(3.3.21)

The a priori estimate (3.2.2) ensurse that the sequence  $\{u_n\}$  is bounded in  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$ ,  $\forall q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}$  and so it is compact in  $L^m$  for every  $m < q^*$ . By Proposition 3.3.1, we can deduce that there exists a subsequence, denoted again with  $\{u_n\}$ , which converges in  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega)$  to a function v.

Now we pass to the limit in (3.3.21). Let us consider each term in (3.3.21). Obviously we have

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{\Omega} f_n \varphi dx = \int_{\Omega} \varphi df \qquad \forall \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$
(3.3.22)

For what concerns the terms on the left side, using growth conditons (3.0.9) on a and (3.0.11) on  $\Phi$  and the properties of Nemytskii operators (see [78]) we arrive at

$$a(x, \nabla u_n) \stackrel{(L^1)^N}{\to} a(x, \nabla u),$$
 (3.3.23)

and

$$\Phi(x, u_n) \stackrel{(L^1)^N}{\to} \Phi(x, u). \tag{3.3.24}$$

(see also [6] for a detailed discussion). Therefore, thanks to (3.3.22), (3.3.23), (3.3.24), we can pass to limit in (3.3.21); this ensures that u is a SOLA.

# 3.4 Uniqueness results

The previous result is not enough to get the continuity with respect to data. To this aim, we first need an estimate of rearrangements of the difference of two solutions in term of  $L^1$  norm of the difference of data. To get this result, we have to strength hypotheses on the structure of the operator; in particular choose as model of the lower order term  $\Phi(x, u) = c(x) |u|^{\gamma}$ ; it satisfies conditions (3.4.2) or (3.4.6).

The range of variability of  $\gamma$ , specified in the following propositions, includes the classical case  $\gamma = p - 1$  under more restrictive assumptions on the value of p.

## **Lemma 3.4.1** Let $p \ge 2$ , let us assume condition (3.0.9) and

$$(a(x,\xi) - a(x,\eta)) \cdot (\xi - \eta) \ge \delta (1 + |\xi| + |\eta|)^{p-2} |\xi - \eta|^2, \quad \delta > 0, \quad \xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(3.4.1)

$$|\Phi_s(x,s)| \le c(x) \, |s|^{\gamma - 1} \,, \tag{3.4.2}$$

with

$$c(x) > 0, \quad c(x) \in L^{r}(\Omega), \quad r > N$$
 (3.4.3)

and

$$1 \le \gamma < \frac{N-1}{N-p} - \frac{N(p-1)}{r(N-p)}.$$
(3.4.4)

If u and v are solutions to problem (3.0.7) with data f and g in  $L^{1}(\Omega)$ , then

$$(u-v)^*(s) \le K \|f-g\|_{L^1} s^{-\frac{N-2}{N}}, \qquad (3.4.5)$$

where K is a constant which depends on N,  $\delta$ ,  $|\Omega|$ , p,  $||f||_{L^{1}}$ ,  $||g||_{L^{1}}$ , r.

**Lemma 3.4.2** Let  $2 - \frac{1}{N} . Let us assume conditions (3.0.9), (3.3.1) and$ 

$$|\Phi_s(x,s)| \le c(x) \left(1 + |s|\right)^{\gamma - 1}, \qquad (3.4.6)$$

with

$$c(x) > 0, \quad c(x) \in L^{r}(\Omega), \quad r > \frac{2N(p-1)}{1+Np-2N}$$
 (3.4.7)

and

$$\gamma < \frac{(N-1)(p-1)}{N-p} - \frac{N(p-1)}{r(N-p)}.$$
(3.4.8)

If u and v are solutions to problem (3.0.7) with data f and g in  $L^{1}(\Omega)$ , then

$$(u-v)^*(s) \le K \|f-g\|_{L^1} s^{-\frac{N-2}{N} - (2-p)\zeta}, \qquad (3.4.9)$$

for some  $\zeta > \frac{N-1}{N(p-1)}$ . The constant K depends on N,  $\beta$ ,  $|\Omega|$ , p,  $||f||_{L^1}$ ,  $||g||_{L^1}$ , r, q.

## Proof of Lemma 3.4.1.

Set w = u - v and h = f - g. For every fixed t, k, positive constants, we consider the function

$$\Psi = \begin{cases} k \operatorname{sign} w & \text{if } |w| > t + k \\ (w - t) \operatorname{sign} w & \text{if } t < |w| \le t + k \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Using  $\Psi$  as test function in equation (3.0.7) with f and g as data, subtracting and dividing by k, we have

$$\frac{1}{k} \int_{\substack{t < |w| \le t+k}} \left[ a(x, \nabla u) - a(x, \nabla v) \right] \cdot \nabla w dx = \frac{1}{k} \int_{\substack{t < |w| \le t+k}} \left[ \Phi\left(x, u\right) - \Phi\left(x, v\right) \right] \cdot \nabla w dx + \int_{\substack{w < t+k}} h \ signw \ dx + \frac{1}{k} \int_{\substack{t < |w| \le t+k}} h \ \left[ (w - t) \ signw \right] dx.$$
(3.4.10)

We set

$$\nu(x) = (1 + |\nabla u| + |\nabla v|)^{p-2}.$$
(3.4.11)

By using assumptions (3.4.1), (3.4.2) and the definition of  $\nu(x)$ , (3.4.10) becomes

$$\begin{split} \frac{\delta}{k} \int\limits_{t<|w|\leq t+k} \nu(x) \left|\nabla w\right|^2 dx &\leq \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int\limits_{t<|w|\leq t+k} c(x)(|u|+|v|)^{\gamma-1} \left|\nabla w\right| dx + \\ &+ \int\limits_{|w|>t+k} h \; signw \; dx + \frac{1}{k} \int\limits_{t<|w|\leq t+k} h \left[(w-t) \; signw\right] dx. \end{split}$$

Now, since  $\nu(x) \ge 1$ , applying Hölder inequality and letting k go to zero in the previous inequality, we obtain

$$-\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} \nu(x) |\nabla w|^2 dx \le \frac{t}{\delta} \left( -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} \nu(x) |\nabla w|^2 dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left[ \left( -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} c(x)^2 (|u|+|v|)^{2(\gamma-1)} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] + \frac{1}{\delta} \int_{|w|>t} |h| dx.$$
(3.4.12)

If  $\mu$  denotes the distribution function of w, proceeding as in [7], it is possible to define a function T such that

$$T(\mu(t)) |\mu'(t)| = -\frac{d}{dt} \left( \int_{|w|>t} c(x)^2 (|u|+|v|)^{2(\gamma-1)} dx \right).$$
(3.4.13)

The function defined in (3.4.13) is a weak limit of functions having the same rearrangement of  $c(x)^2(|u| + |v|)^{2(\gamma-1)}$ .

By Hardy-Littlewood inequality and by the definitions of T, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} \nu(x) \left|\nabla w\right|^2 dx &\leq \frac{t}{\delta} \left|\mu'(t)\right|^{\frac{1}{2}} \left[T(\mu(t))\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \\ & \times \left(-\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} \nu(x) \left|\nabla w\right|^2 dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{\delta} \int_0^{\mu(t)} h^*(s) ds. \end{aligned}$$
(3.4.14)

On the other hand, denoted by  $k_N = \omega_N^{1/N} N$ , by isoperimetric and Schwarz inequalities, since  $\nu(x) \ge 1$ , it follows (see [107])

$$k_N \mu(t)^{1-\frac{1}{N}} \le -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} |\nabla w| \, dx \le \left(-\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} \nu(x) \, |\nabla w|^2 \, dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} |\mu'(t)|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad (3.4.15)$$

that is

$$1 \le k_N^{-1} \mu(t)^{\frac{1}{N}-1} \left( -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} \nu(x) \left| \nabla w \right|^2 dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left| \mu'(t) \right|^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.4.16)

By (3.4.14), (3.4.16) we obtain

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|w|>t}\nu(x)\left|\nabla w\right|^{2}dx \leq \frac{t}{\delta}\left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|w|>t}\nu(x)\left|\nabla w\right|^{2}dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left|\mu'(t)\right|^{\frac{1}{2}}\left[T(\mu(t))\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{\delta}k_{N}^{-1}\mu(t)^{\frac{1}{N}-1}\left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|w|>t}\nu(x)\left|\nabla w\right|^{2}dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\left|\mu'(t)\right|^{\frac{1}{2}}\int_{0}^{\mu(t)}h^{*}(s)ds.$$
(3.4.17)

Using the (3.4.15), (3.4.17) becomes

$$1 \le k_N^{-1} \frac{t}{\delta} \mu(t)^{\frac{1}{N}-1} |\mu'(t)| \left[ T(\mu(t)) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} + \frac{1}{\delta} k_N^{-2} \mu(t)^{2(\frac{1}{N}-1)} |\mu'(t)| \int_0^{\mu(t)} h^*(s) ds.$$

Integrating the previous inequality between 0 and t, and using the definition of  $w^*(s)$ , we have

$$w^*(s) \le K \int_s^{|\Omega|} w^*(t) t^{\frac{1}{N} - 1} T(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} dt + K \int_s^{|\Omega|} t^{2(\frac{1}{N} - 1)} \left( \int_0^t h^*(\tau) d\tau \right) dt.$$

Now we apply the Gronwall's Lemma. we get

$$w^{*}(s) \leq K \int_{s}^{|\Omega|} \left\{ t^{2(\frac{1}{N}-1)} \left( \int_{0}^{t} h^{*}(\tau) d\tau \right) \left( \exp \int_{s}^{t} \tau^{\frac{1}{N}-1} T(\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}} d\tau \right) \right\} dt.$$
(3.4.18)

Now we have to impose the right conditions on  $\gamma$  which ensure that the following integral

$$\int_{0}^{|\Omega|} \tau^{\frac{1}{N} - 1} T(\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}} dr < +\infty$$

This happens if the function T belongs to some space  $L^{\vartheta}$  with  $\vartheta > \frac{N}{2}$ . But we have already observed that T has the same sommability of  $c(x)^2 (|u| + |v|)^{2(\gamma-1)}$ , so  $\frac{1}{\vartheta} = \frac{2(\gamma-1)}{q^*} + \frac{2}{r}$ . Hence we have to impose that

$$\vartheta > \frac{N}{2}$$
 and  $q^* < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-p}$ .

This conditions are verified if we choose  $\gamma$  as in (3.4.4). Then, the (3.4.18) becomes

$$(u-v)^*(s) \le K \int_s^{|\Omega|} t^{2(\frac{1}{N}-1)} \left( \int_0^t h^*(\tau) d\tau \right) dt \le K \|f-g\|_{L^1} s^{-\frac{N-2}{N}},$$

where K depends on N,  $\delta$ ,  $|\Omega|$ , p,  $||f||_{L^{1}}$ ,  $||g||_{L^{1}}$ , r.

### Proof of Lemma 3.4.2.

The proof of Lemma 3.4.2 is similar to that of Lemma 3.4.1. Let us consider (3.4.10) and (3.4.11). By (3.3.1), (3.4.6), we get

$$\frac{\beta}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla w|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} c(x) (1+|u|+|v|)^{\gamma-1} |\nabla w| \, dx + \frac{1}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla u|^2 dx \le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{$$

$$+ \int_{|w|>t+k} h \operatorname{signw} dx + \frac{1}{k} \int_{t<|w|\leq t+k} h \left[ (w-t) \operatorname{signw} \right] dx.$$

Since p < 2, we have  $(|\nabla u| + |\nabla v|)^{\frac{2-p}{2}} \le (1 + |\nabla u| + |\nabla v|)^{\frac{2-p}{2}}$ , and so

$$\frac{\beta}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} |\nabla w|^{2} (|\nabla u| + |\nabla v|)^{p-2} dx \le \\
\le \frac{(t+k)}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} c(x) \frac{(1+|u|+|v|)^{\gamma-1} |\nabla w|}{(|\nabla u|+|\nabla v|)^{\frac{2-p}{2}}} (1+|\nabla u|+|\nabla v|)^{\frac{2-p}{2}} dx + \\
+ \int_{|w| > t+k} h \ signw \ dx + \frac{1}{k} \int_{t < |w| \le t+k} h \ [(w-t) \ signw] \ dx.$$
(3.4.19)

By Hölder inequality in (3.4.19) and letting k go to 0, we have

$$-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|w|>t} |\nabla w|^2 \left(|\nabla u| + |\nabla v|\right)^{p-2} dx \le Kt \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|w|>t} c(x)^2 \frac{(1+|u|+|v|)^{2(\gamma-1)}}{\nu} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|w|>t} |\nabla w|^2 \left(|\nabla u| + |\nabla v|\right)^{p-2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + K \int_{|w|>t} |h| \, dx.$$
(3.4.20)

Arguing as in the previous proof, we introduce two functions  $\bar{T}$  and  $\bar{\nu}$  such that

$$\bar{T}(\mu(t)) |\mu'(t)| = -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} c(x)^2 \frac{(1+|u|+|v|)^{2(\gamma-1)}}{\nu} dt, \qquad (3.4.21)$$

$$\bar{\nu}(\mu(t)) |\mu'(t)| = -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} \frac{1}{\nu} dt.$$
(3.4.22)

From (3.4.15), we obtain

$$k_N \mu(t)^{1-\frac{1}{N}} \le \left( -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} |\nabla w|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{\nu}(\mu(t))^{\frac{1}{2}} |\mu'(t)|^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.4.23)

Therefore, by (3.4.23) the (3.4.20) becomes

$$\begin{split} -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} |\nabla w|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx &\leq K t \bar{T}(\mu(t))^{\frac{1}{2}} |\mu'(t)|^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \\ & \times \left( -\frac{d}{dt} \int_{|w|>t} |\nabla w|^2 \left( |\nabla u| + |\nabla v| \right)^{p-2} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \end{split}$$

$$+K\mu(t)^{\frac{1}{N}-1}\overline{\nu}(\mu(t))^{\frac{1}{2}} |\mu'(t)|^{\frac{1}{2}} \times \left(-\frac{d}{dt}\int_{|w|>t} |\nabla w|^{2} (|\nabla u|+|\nabla v|)^{p-2} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \int_{0}^{\mu(t)} h^{*}(\tau) d\tau \qquad (3.4.24)$$

Proceeding as in the case  $p \ge 2$ , we obtain

$$w^{*}(s) \leq K \int_{s}^{|\Omega|} w^{*}(t) t^{\frac{1}{N}-1} \bar{T}(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{\nu}(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} dt + K \int_{s}^{|\Omega|} t^{2(\frac{1}{N}-1)} \bar{\nu}(t) \left( \int_{0}^{t} h^{*}(\tau) d\tau \right) dt,$$

then, by Gronwall's Lemma and integration by parts

$$w^{*}(s) \leq K \int_{s}^{|\Omega|} \left\{ t^{2(\frac{1}{N}-1)} \bar{\nu}(t) \left( \int_{0}^{t} h^{*}(\tau) d\tau \right) \left( \exp \int_{s}^{t} \tau^{\frac{1}{N}-1} \bar{T}(\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{\nu}(\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}} d\tau \right) \right\} dt.$$
(3.4.25)

Now, we want to impose the right conditions on  $\gamma$  which ensure that

$$\int_{0}^{|\Omega|} \tau^{\frac{1}{N} - 1} \bar{T}(\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{\nu}(\tau)^{\frac{1}{2}} d\tau < +\infty.$$

 $\overline{T}$  has the same sommability of  $c(x)^2 \frac{(1+|u|+|v|)^{2(\gamma-1)}}{\nu(x)}$  and  $\overline{\nu}$  has the same sommability of  $\frac{1}{\nu(x)}$ ; recalling the expression of  $\nu$  and the estimate (3.2.2), we deduce that  $\left(\overline{T\nu}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$  belongs to  $L^{\vartheta}(\Omega)$  with  $\frac{1}{\vartheta} = \frac{\gamma-1}{q^*} + \frac{2-p}{q} + \frac{1}{r}$ . So the integral is finite for every  $\gamma$  such that

$$\vartheta > N, \quad q^* < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-p} \quad \text{and} \quad q < \frac{N(p-1)}{N-1},$$

which holds true if condition (3.4.8) is satisfied. Coming back to (3.4.25), we arrive at

$$w^*(s) \le K \|h\|_{L^1} \int_s^{|\Omega|} t^{2(\frac{1}{N}-1)} \overline{\nu}(t) dt$$

Using the sommability of  $\overline{\nu}(t)$  and the Hölder inequality, we have

$$w^{*}(s) \leq K \|h\|_{L^{1}} \left\|\bar{\nu}\right\|_{L^{\frac{q}{2-p}}} \left[\int_{s}^{|\Omega|} t^{2(\frac{1}{N}-1)\frac{q}{q-2+p}} dt\right]^{\frac{q-2+p}{q}}$$

and then

$$(u-v)^*(s) \le K \|f-g\|_{L^1} s^{-\frac{N-2}{N} - (2-p)\varsigma},$$

for some  $\varsigma > \frac{N-1}{N(p-1)}$ ; here K depends on N,  $\beta$ ,  $|\Omega|$ , p,  $||f||_{L^1}$ ,  $||g||_{L^1}$ , r, q.

Thanks to Lemma 3.4.1 and 3.4.2, now we are able to prove the following uniqueness results:

**Theorem 3.4.3** Let  $p \ge 2$ , let us assume hypotheses of Lemma 3.4.1. Then the problem (3.0.7) has a unique SOLA.

**Theorem 3.4.4** Let  $2 - \frac{1}{N} , let us assume hypotheses of Lemma 3.4.2. Then$ the problem (3.0.7) has a unique SOLA.

**Proof of Theorem 3.1.2.** From (3.4.5) and (3.3.4) we get:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla(u-v)\|_{L^{q}} &\leq K \left( \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} (u-v)^{* m} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{m(p-1)}} \leq \\ &\leq K \|f-g\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{1}{p-1}} \times \left( \int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{-\frac{N-2}{N}m} ds \right)^{\frac{1}{m(p-1)}} \end{aligned}$$

The last inequality holds for every m such that  $\frac{Np}{N\alpha - p + N} < m < q^*$ . If we choose

$$\alpha > \frac{N-2}{N},$$

then

$$\left(\int_0^{|\Omega|} s^{-\frac{N-2}{N}m} ds\right)^{\frac{1}{m(p-1)}}$$

is finite, and so we get

$$\left\|\nabla(u-v)\right\|_{L^{q}} \le K \left\|f-g\right\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{1}{p-1}},$$

which ensures the uniqueness of the SOLA.  $\blacksquare$ 

**Proof of Theorem 3.1.3.** From (3.4.9) and (3.3.6) we obtain that:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla(u-v)\|_{L^{q}} &\leq K \,\|u-v\|_{L^{q^{*}}}^{\frac{1}{2}} + K \,\|u-v\|_{L^{q^{*}}}^{\frac{\sigma}{2}} \leq \\ &\leq K \,\|f-g\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{-\frac{N-2}{N}q^{*} - \frac{(2-p)q^{*}}{q}} ds\right)^{\frac{1}{2q^{*}}} + K \,\|f-g\|_{L^{1}}^{\frac{\sigma}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{|\Omega|} s^{-\frac{N-2}{N}q^{*} - \frac{(2-p)q^{*}}{q}} ds\right)^{\frac{\sigma}{2q^{*}}} \end{aligned}$$

If  $\gamma$  satisfies condition (3.4.8) the last integral is sommable, so we get:

$$\|\nabla(u-v)\|_{L^q} \le K \|f-g\|_{L^1}^{\frac{1}{2}} + K \|f-g\|_{L^1}^{\frac{\sigma}{2}}.$$

# CHAPTER IV

# NON-UNIFORMLY ELLIPTIC EQUATIONS

In this chapter we prove a class of Dirichlet problem for degenerate elliptic equations of the type

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) + H(x, \nabla u) = \mu & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(4.0.26)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \ge 2$ ,  $1 , <math>a : \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$ is a Carathéodory function such that

$$a(x, s, \xi)\xi \ge \nu(x) |\xi|^p$$
, (4.0.27)

$$|a(x,s,\xi)| \le \nu(x) \left[ |\xi|^{p-1} + |s|^{p-1} + a_0(x) \right], \ a_0(x) \in L^{p'}(\nu), \tag{4.0.28}$$

for almost every  $x \in \Omega$ , for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ , where  $\nu(x)$  is a nonnegative function verifying

$$\nu(x) \in L^r(\Omega), r \ge 1, \tag{4.0.29}$$

$$v(x)^{-1} \in L^t(\Omega), \quad t \ge N/p, \quad 1 + 1/t (4.0.30)$$

Moreover we assume that a is monotone, that is

$$(a(x, s, \xi) - a(x, s, \eta), \xi - \eta) > 0, \tag{4.0.31}$$

for a.e  $x \in \Omega$ , for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ , for every  $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^N, \xi \neq \eta$ .

Furthermore  $H:\Omega\times \mathbb{R}^N\to \mathbb{R}$  is a Carathéodory function such that

$$|H(x,\xi)| \le b(x) |\xi|^{p-1} + b_0(x), \qquad (4.0.32)$$

with

$$b_0(x) \in L^1(\Omega), \tag{4.0.33}$$

$$b(x) \in L^{\tau}(\Omega), \ \tau > \frac{p'\widetilde{p}t}{t - (t+1)(p'+\widetilde{p})},$$
(4.0.34)

where  $\widetilde{p}$  is defined by

$$\widetilde{p} = \frac{p^{\#}}{r'},\tag{4.0.35}$$

and let  $p^{\#}$  denote the number  $(p^{\#})^{-1} = p^{-1}(1 + 1/t) - N^{-1}$ .

The existence of a distributional solution for non-uniformly elliptic problem has also been proved by Rakotoson in [101] when H = 0 and by Betta, Del Vecchio and Posteraro in [16] by using classical symmetrization methods. Regularity results for such a solution are proved in [42].

Here we prove an existence result for renormalized solutions contained in [55]. The main features in studying this problem are the non-uniformly ellipticity condition and the fact that the operator is not coercive. The proof of our result consists of several steps. Firstly we introduce the "approximated problems", then we prove an apriori estimate for the gradients of its solutions. This estimate can be easily done when b is small enough since in this case the operator is coercive. When the norm of b is not small ,we use Bottaro-Marina technique ([35]) which consists in decomposing b in a finite sum of terms having norm small enough. Finally we pass to the limit in the approximated problems by using a stability result which is an extention of a result proved in [48] (see also [72]). The same approach has been used in [20] where a is an uniformly elliptic operator (see also [72], [73] for uniformly elliptic operator with two lower order terms).

# 4.1 Definitions and first properties

In this section we recall some properties of the measure ([48]), a few properties of weighetd Sobolev spaces ([89]) and, finally, the definition of renormalized solution to degenerate nonlinear elliptic equations with measure data ([48]).

#### 4.1.1 Weighted Sobolev spaces

Let be  $\Omega$  a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \geq 2$ , and let  $\nu(x)$  be a nonnegative function on  $\Omega$  such that  $\nu(x) \in L^r(\Omega)$ ,  $r \geq 1$ ,  $\nu(x)^{-1} \in L^t(\Omega)$ ,  $t \geq N$ . We denote by  $L^p(\nu)$ , p > 1, the space of measurable functions u such that

$$||u||_{L^{p}(\nu)} = \left(\int_{\Omega} |u|^{p} \nu(x) dx\right)^{1/p} < \infty,$$
(4.1.1)

and by  $W^{1,p}(\nu)$  the completation of the space  $C^1(\overline{\Omega})$  with respect to the norm

$$||u||_{W^{1,p}(\nu)} = ||u||_{L^{p}(\nu)} + ||\nabla u||_{L^{p}(\nu)}.$$
(4.1.2)

Moreover we denote by  $W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$  the closure of  $C_0^1(\overline{\Omega})$  in  $W^{1,p}(\nu)$  and by  $W^{-1,p'}(1/\nu)$ the dual space of  $W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$ . The elements of the dual space  $W^{-1,p'}(1/\nu)$  are described by the following Proposition ([89]).

**Proposition 4.1.1** If T is a continuous linear functional on  $W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$  then there exist (N+1) functions  $f_0, f_1, \ldots, f_N$  on  $\overline{\Omega}$  such that

$$f_0 \in L^{p'}(\nu^{-1}), \quad f_j \in L^{p'}(\nu^{-1}), \quad 1 \le j \le N$$
 (4.1.3)

and

$$T(u) = \int_{\Omega} (f_0 u \nu^{2/p-1} + f_j u_{x_j} \nu^{2/p-1}) dx, \quad for \ u \in W_0^{1,p}(\nu).$$
(4.1.4)

Conversely, any set of functions  $f_0$ ,  $f_1$ ,...,  $f_N$  satisfying (4.1.3) defines a continuous linear functional by means of (4.1.4) on  $W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$ .

Now we recall some Sobolev-type inequalities which will be used in the following ([89]).

**Proposition 4.1.2** Let  $\nu$  be a nonnegative function on  $\Omega$  such that

$$\nu \in L^{r}(\Omega), \ r \ge 1, \ \nu^{-1} \in L^{t}(\Omega), \ t \ge N,$$
(4.1.5)

Let p be a real number such that

$$t \ge N/p, \ 1 + 1/t (4.1.6)$$

Then there exists a continuous linear imbedding of  $W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$  in  $L^{p^{\#}}(\Omega)$  and there exists a constant  $C_0 > 0$  depending on  $N, p, \nu, t$ , such that

$$\|u\|_{L^{p^{\#}}(\Omega)} \le C_0 \, \||\nabla u|\|_{L^{p}(\nu)} \,, \qquad \forall u \in W_0^{1,p}(\nu) \,. \tag{4.1.7}$$

**Proposition 4.1.3** Let  $\nu$  be a nonnegative function on  $\Omega$  such that (4.1.5) holds true and let p a real number such that (4.1.6) holds true. Let  $\tilde{p}$  denote the number

$$\widetilde{p} = \frac{p^{\#}}{r'}.$$

Then there exists a continuous linear imbedding of  $W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$  in  $L^{\tilde{p}}(\nu)$  and a constant  $C'_0 > 0$  depending on  $N, p, \nu, t$ , such that

$$\|u\|_{L^{\widetilde{p}}(\nu)} \le C \, \||\nabla u|\|_{L^{p}(\nu)} \,, \quad \forall u \in W_{0}^{1,p}(\nu) \,. \tag{4.1.8}$$

Finally we recall a Poincarè-type inequality for weighted Sobolev spaces:

**Proposition 4.1.4** Let  $\nu$  be a nonnegative function on  $\Omega$  such that (4.1.5) holds true and let p a real number such that (4.1.6) holds true. Then  $W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$  is continuously imbedded in  $L^p(\nu)$ .

### 4.1.2 Decomposition of measures

Now we recall the definition of  $(p, \nu)$ -capacity ([86]), which extends the notion of pcapacity given in Chapter II. The  $(p, \nu)$ -capacity  $cap_{p,\nu}(K, \Omega)$  of a compact set  $K \subset \Omega$  with respect to  $\Omega$  is defined by

$$cap_{p,\nu}(K,\Omega) = \inf\left\{\int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left|\nabla\varphi\right|^{p} : \varphi \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\Omega), \varphi \geq \chi_{K}\right\},\$$

where  $\chi_K$  denotes the characteristic function of K. If  $U \subseteq \Omega$  is a open set, we denote

$$cap_{p,\nu}(U,\Omega) = \sup \left\{ cap_{p,\nu}(K,\Omega) : K \text{ compact}, K \subseteq U \right\},\$$

while the  $(p, \nu)$ -capacity of any subset  $B \subseteq \Omega$  is defined as

$$cap_{p,\nu}(B,\Omega) = \inf \left\{ cap_{p,\nu}(U,\Omega) : U \text{ open}, B \subseteq U \right\}.$$

We denote by  $M_{0,\nu}(\Omega)$  the set of all measures  $\mu$  in  $M_b(\Omega)$  which are absolutely continuous with respect to the  $(p,\nu)$ -capacity, that is  $\mu(B) = 0$  for every Borel set  $B \subseteq \Omega$  such that  $cap_{p,\nu}(B,\Omega) = 0$ . We define  $M_{s,\nu}(\Omega)$  the set of all measures  $\mu$ in  $M_b(\Omega)$  which are singular with respect to the  $(p,\nu)$ -capacity that is which are concentrated in a set  $E \subset \Omega$  such that  $cap_{p,\nu}(E,\Omega) = 0$ .

The following proposition is analogous to Proposition 2.3.7 and it is a consequence of the decomposition result proved in [66].

**Proposition 4.1.5** For every measure in  $M_b(\Omega)$  there exists an unique pair of measures  $(\mu_0, \mu_s)$  with  $\mu_0 \in M_{0,\nu}(\Omega)$  and  $\mu_s \in M_{s,\nu}(\Omega)$ , such that  $\mu = \mu_0 + \mu_s$ .

The measures  $\mu_0$  and  $\mu_s$  are the absolutely continuous part and the singular part of  $\mu$  with respect to the  $(p, \nu)$ -capacity. Moreover, by adapting the proof of the result proved in [33], we obtain the following properties which states that

**Proposition 4.1.6** Let  $\mu_0$  be a measure in  $M_b(\Omega)$ . Then  $\mu_0$  belongs to  $M_{0,\nu}(\Omega)$  if and only if it belongs to  $L^1(\Omega) + W^{-1,p'}(1/\nu)$ . Then there exists  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$  and  $g \in (L^{p'}(1/\nu^{p-1}))^N$  such that

$$\mu_0 = f - \operatorname{div}(g), \tag{4.1.9}$$

in the sense of distributions.

By Proposition 4.1.5 and 4.1.6 we get

**Proposition 4.1.7** Every measure  $\mu$  in  $M_b(\Omega)$  can be decomposed as follows

$$\mu = \mu_0 + \mu_s = f - \operatorname{div}(g) + \mu_s^+ - \mu_s^-, \qquad (4.1.10)$$

where  $\mu_0$  is a measure in  $M_{0,\nu}(\Omega)$ . It can be written as  $f - \operatorname{div}(g)$ , with  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ and  $g \in (L^{p'}(1/\nu^{p-1}))^N$ ,  $\mu_s^+$ ,  $\mu_s^-$  are two nonnegative measures in  $M_{s,\nu}(\Omega)$ , which are concentrated in two disjoint subset  $E^+$ ,  $E^-$  of zero  $(p, \nu)$ -capacity.

### 4.1.3 A technical result

In this section we prove a generalization of a result proved in [13] (see also [20]) which allows us to obtain an a priori estimates for the gradients of the solutions. Here we denote by

$$\mathrm{meas}_{\nu}E = \int_E \nu(x)dx,$$

for any measurable set  $E \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$ .

We will use the weighted Lorentz spaces  $L^{r,\infty}(\nu)$ ,  $0 < r \leq \infty$  which is the set of measurable functions such that

$$||u||_{L^{r,\infty}(\nu)} = \sup_{t>0} t \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \{x \in \Omega : |u| > t\}^{1/r} < +\infty.$$

The main result of this section is the following:

**Lemma 4.1.8** Assume that  $\Omega$  is an open subset of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with finite Lebesgue measure and let  $\nu$  be a function such that (4.1.5) and (4.1.6) hold true. Let u be a measurable function such that  $T_k(u) \in W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$  with k > 0 and such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left| \nabla T_k(u) \right|^p \le Mk + L, \tag{4.1.11}$$

where M and L are given constants. Then  $|u|^{p-1} \in L^{\tilde{p}/p,\infty}(\nu), |\nabla u|^{p-1} \in L^{\frac{p'\tilde{p}}{p'+\tilde{p}},\infty}(\nu)$ and

$$\left\| |u|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{\tilde{p}/p,\infty}(\nu)} \le C(N,p) \left[ M + |\Omega|^{1/\tilde{p}} L^{1/p'} \right], \tag{4.1.12}$$

$$\left\| \left| \nabla u \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{p'\tilde{p}/(p'+\tilde{p}),\infty}(\nu)} \le C(N,p) \left[ M + \left| \Omega \right|^{1/\tilde{p}} L^{1/p'} \right], \tag{4.1.13}$$

where C(N,p) is a constant depending only on N and p.

**Remark 4.1.9** Under the assumption of Lemma 4.1.8, the functions  $|u|^{p-1}$  and  $|\nabla u|^{p-1}$  belong to the weighted Lorentz spaces  $L^{\tilde{p}/p,\infty}(\nu)$  and  $L^{\frac{p'\tilde{p}}{p'+\tilde{p}},\infty}(\nu)$  respectively. By classical results ([89]) such spaces are imbedded in the weighted spaces  $L^{\gamma}(\nu)$ ,  $\gamma < \frac{\tilde{p}}{p}$  and  $L^{q}(\nu)$ ,  $q < \frac{p'\tilde{p}}{p'+\tilde{p}}$ . Actually we will just use estimates of  $|u|^{p-1}$  and  $|\nabla u|^{p-1}$  in  $L^{\gamma}(\nu)$ , and  $L^{q}(\nu)$  respectively.

Moreover we observe that, if  $\nu$  is a constant then  $\frac{\tilde{p}}{p} = \frac{N}{N-p}$  and  $\frac{p'\tilde{p}}{p'+\tilde{p}} = \frac{N}{N-1}$ .

## Proof.

We begin by proving (4.1.12). For any  $h_0 > 0$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| |u|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{\widetilde{p}/p,\infty}(\nu)} &= \sup_{h>0} h \, \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u|^{p-1} > h \right\}^{p/\widetilde{p}} \leq \\ &\leq \sup_{0 < h \le h_0} h \, \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u|^{p-1} > h \right\}^{p/\widetilde{p}} \\ &+ \sup_{h \ge h_0} h \, \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u|^{p-1} > h \right\}^{p/\widetilde{p}} \\ &\leq h_0 \left| \Omega \right|^{p/\widetilde{p}} + \sup_{h \ge h_0} h \, \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u|^{p-1} > h \right\}^{p/\widetilde{p}}. \end{aligned}$$
(4.1.14)

Now we observe that

$$\begin{split} h^{\widetilde{p}} & \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \epsilon \Omega : |u| > h \right\} \leq \int_{\Omega} T_{h}^{\widetilde{p}}(u) \nu(x) dx \leq \\ & \leq C(N,p) \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla T_{h}(u)|^{p} v(x) dx \right)^{\widetilde{p}/p} \\ & \leq C(N,p) (Mh+L)^{\widetilde{p}/p}, \end{split}$$

that is for every h > 0

$$h^{\tilde{p}/p-1} \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u|^{p-1} > h \right\} \le C(N,p)(Mh^{1/p-1} + L)^{\tilde{p}/p}$$

Then we obtain

$$\operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u|^{p-1} > h \right\} \le C(N, p) (Mh^{-1} + Lh^{-p'})^{\widetilde{p}/p},$$

that is

$$h \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |u|^{p-1} > h \right\}^{p/\widetilde{p}} \le C(N, p)(M + Lh^{-p'}).$$
 (4.1.15)

By (4.1.15), inequality (4.1.14) becomes

$$\left\| |u|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{\tilde{p}/p,\infty}(\nu)} \le h_0 \left| \Omega \right|^{p/\tilde{p}} + C(N,p)(M + Lh^{1-p'}).$$

Taking  $h_0 = \frac{L^{(p-1)/p}}{|\Omega|^{(p-1)/\tilde{p}}}$ , we have (4.1.12). Now we estimate the  $|\nabla u|^{p-1}$ 

For every  $\mu > 0$  and every k > 0, we have

$$\mu^{p} \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u| > \mu \text{ and } |u| \le k \} \le \int_{|u| \le k} |\nabla u|^{p} v(x) dx \qquad (4.1.16)$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} |\nabla T_{k}(u)|^{p} v(x) dx \le (Mk + L),$$
$$\operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \text{ and } |u| > k \} \le \frac{(Mk + L)^{\widetilde{p}/p}}{k^{\widetilde{p}/p}}. \qquad (4.1.17)$$

By (4.1.16), (4.1.17) we have

$$\operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\} \le \frac{(Mk+L)}{\mu^{p'}} + C(N,p) \frac{(Mk+L)^{\widetilde{p}/p}}{k^{\widetilde{p}}}.$$
 (4.1.18)

Now if we write k = a + b with a > 0 and b > 0, (4.1.18) becomes

$$\max_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\} \leq \frac{Ma}{\mu^{p'}} + \frac{Mb}{\mu^{p'}} + \frac{M}{\mu^{p'}} + (4.1.19)$$
$$+ C(N, p) 2^{\tilde{p}/p} M^{\tilde{p}/p} (a+b)^{\frac{\tilde{p}}{p} - \tilde{p}} + \\+ C(N, p) 2^{\tilde{p}/p} L^{\tilde{p}/p} (a+b)^{-\tilde{p}},$$

for every  $\mu > 0$  a > 0, b > 0. If we observe that  $\frac{\tilde{p}}{p} - \tilde{p} = \tilde{p}\left(\frac{1}{p} - 1\right) = -\frac{\tilde{p}}{p'} < 0$  we deduce

$$(a+b)^{\frac{\widetilde{p}}{p}-\widetilde{p}} \le a^{-\frac{\widetilde{p}}{p'}}, \ (a+b)^{-\widetilde{p}} \le b^{-\widetilde{p}}.$$

By (4.1.18), (4.1.19), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \max_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\} &\leq \frac{Ma}{\mu^{p'}} + \frac{Mb}{\mu^{p'}} + \frac{M}{\mu^{p'}} + \\ &+ C(N,p) 2^{\tilde{p}/p} M^{\tilde{p}/p} a^{-\frac{\tilde{p}}{p'}} + C(N,p) 2^{\tilde{p}/p} L^{\tilde{p}/p} b^{-\tilde{p}} \\ &\leq C(N,p) \left[ \frac{Ma}{\mu^{p'}} + a^{-\tilde{p}/p'} M^{\tilde{p}/p} + \frac{Mb}{\mu^{p'}} + b^{-\tilde{p}} L^{\tilde{p}/p} \right] \\ &+ C(N,p) \frac{L}{\mu^{p'}}. \end{aligned}$$

If we take  $a = M^{\frac{\tilde{p}-p}{p+\tilde{p}(p-1)}} \mu^{\frac{p^2}{(p-1)[p+\tilde{p}(p-1)]}}$  and  $b = \left(\frac{\mu^{p'}L^{\tilde{p}/p}}{M}\right)^{\frac{1}{1+\tilde{p}}}$ , we obtain

$$\operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\} \leq C(N,p) \left[ \left( \frac{M}{\mu} \right)^{(\widetilde{p}p)/(p+\widetilde{p}(p-1))} \right] + C(N,p) \left[ \left( \frac{ML^{1/p}}{\mu^{p'}} \right)^{\widetilde{p}/(\widetilde{p}+1)} + \frac{L}{\mu^{p'}} \right].$$

Since  $\frac{\tilde{p}p}{p+\tilde{p}(p-1)} = \frac{p'+\tilde{p}}{p'\tilde{p}}$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : \left| \nabla u \right|^{p-1} > \mu \right\}^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}} &\leq C(N, p) \left[ \frac{M}{\mu} + M^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' (\tilde{p}+1)}} L^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' p (\tilde{p}+1)}} \mu^{-\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{(\tilde{p}+1)}} \right] \\ &+ C(N, p) \left[ L^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}} \mu^{-\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{\tilde{p}}} \right], \end{aligned}$$

or equivantely

$$\mu \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \epsilon \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\}^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}} \leq C(N, p) \left[ M + M^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' (\tilde{p}+1)}} \left( L^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}} / \mu^{\frac{p'}{\tilde{p}}} \right)^{\frac{\tilde{p}}{p(\tilde{p}+1)}} \right] + C(N, p) \left( L / \mu^{\frac{p'^2}{p' + \tilde{p}}} \right)^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}}.$$

By Young inequality we have

$$\mu \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\}^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}} \leq C(N, p) \left[ M + \left( \frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p'(\tilde{p} + 1)} \right) M \right] \quad (4.1.20)$$

$$+ C(N, p) \left[ \left( \frac{\tilde{p}}{p(\tilde{p} + 1)} \right) \left( \frac{L}{\mu^{p'^2/(p' + \tilde{p})}} \right)^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}} \right]$$

$$+ C(N, p) \left[ \left( \frac{L}{\mu^{p'^2/(p' + \tilde{p})}} \right)^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}} \right]$$

$$\leq C(N, p) \left[ M + \frac{L^{\frac{p' + \tilde{p}}{p' \tilde{p}}}}{\mu^{p'/\tilde{p}}} \right].$$

By (4.1.20) we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \sup_{\mu>0} \mu & \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\}^{\frac{p'+\tilde{p}}{p'\tilde{p}}} \leq \\ \sup_{0 < \mu \le \mu_0} \mu & \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\}^{\frac{p'+\tilde{p}}{p'\tilde{p}}} + \\ & + \sup_{\mu \ge \mu_0} \mu & \operatorname{meas}_{\nu} \left\{ x \in \Omega : |\nabla u|^{p-1} > \mu \right\}^{\frac{p'+\tilde{p}}{p'\tilde{p}}} \\ & \le \mu_0 \left| \Omega \right|^{\frac{p'+\tilde{p}}{p'\tilde{p}}} + \sup_{\mu \ge \mu_0} c \left[ M + \frac{L^{\frac{p'+\tilde{p}}{p'\tilde{p}}}}{\mu^{p'/\tilde{p}}} \right] \leq \\ c \left[ \mu_0 \left| \Omega \right|^{\frac{p'+\tilde{p}}{p'\tilde{p}}} M + \frac{L^{\frac{p'+\tilde{p}}{p'\tilde{p}}}}{\mu^{p'/\tilde{p}}} \right]. \end{split}$$

By choosing  $\mu_0 = \left(\frac{L}{|\Omega|}\right)^{1/p'}$  we have (4.1.13).

## 4.1.4 Definition of renormalized solution

Now we recall the definition of renormalized solution to problem (4.0.26), which is an extension of the Definition 2.3.9 given in Chapter II.. **Definition 4.1.10** We say that u is a renormalized solution of (4.0.26) if it satisfies the following conditions

 $\left\{ \begin{array}{l} u \text{ is measurable on } \Omega, \text{ almost everywhere finite,} \\ \\ T_{k}\left(u\right) \in W_{0}^{1,p}\left(\nu\right), \ k > 0 \end{array} \right.$ 

$$T_{k}(u) \in W_{0}^{1,p}(\nu), \ k > 0$$
$$|u|^{p-1} \in L^{\gamma}(\nu), \ \gamma < \frac{\widetilde{p}}{p};$$
(4.1.21)

$$\left|\nabla u\right|^{p-1} \in L^{q}\left(\nu\right), \ q < \frac{p'\widetilde{p}}{p' + \widetilde{p}};$$

$$(4.1.22)$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{n \le u < 2n} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla u \varphi = \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^+; \qquad (4.1.23)$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{-2n \le u < n} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla u \varphi = \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^-; \qquad (4.1.24)$$

for every  $\varphi \in C_{b}^{0}\left(\Omega\right)$  and

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla u h'(u) v + \int_{\Omega} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla v h(u) + \int_{\Omega} H(x, \nabla u) h(u) v \quad (4.1.25)$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} fh(u) v + \int_{\Omega} g \nabla u h'(u) v + \int_{\Omega} g \nabla v h(u);$$

for every  $v \in W^{1,p}(\nu) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and for every  $h \in W^{1,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  with compact support in  $\mathbb{R}$ , which are such that  $h(u)v \in W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$ .

## 4.2 Existence result

In this section we prove the existence of a renormalized solution to problem (4.0.26). The proof of our result consists of several steps. Firstly we introduce the "approximated problems" and we prove an apriori estimate for the gradients of its solutions. Finally we pass to the limit in the approximated problems by using a stability result.

**Theorem 4.2.1** Assume that (4.0.27) - (4.0.35) hold. Then there exists at least a renormalized solution to problem (4.0.26).

### 4.2.1 Approximated problems

According to (4.1.10) the bounded Radon measure  $\mu$  can be decomposed in

$$\mu = f - \operatorname{div}(g) + \mu_s^+ - \mu_s^-,$$

where  $f \in L^1(\Omega)$ ,  $g \in (L^{p'}(1/\nu^{p-1}))^N$ ,  $\mu_s^+$ ,  $\mu_s^-$  two nonnegative measures in  $M_{s,\nu}(\Omega)$ which are concentrated in two disjont subsets  $E^+$  and  $E^-$  of zero  $(p, \nu)$ -capacity. The measure  $\mu$  can be approximated by a sequence  $\mu_{\varepsilon}$  that is

$$\mu_{\varepsilon} = f_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}(g) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} - \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-},$$

where

$$f_{\varepsilon}$$
 is a sequence of functions in  $L^{1}(\Omega)$   
that converges to  $f$  in  $L^{1}(\Omega)$  weakly, (4.2.1)

$$\begin{array}{l} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} & \text{ is a sequence of nonnegative functions in } L^{\alpha}\left(\Omega\right) \\ & \text{ with } \alpha = \frac{Npt}{pt(N+1)-N(t+1)} \text{ that converges to } \mu_{s}^{+} \end{array}$$
(4.2.2)   
in the narrow topology of measures,

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-} \quad \text{is a sequence of nonnegative functions in } L^{\alpha}(\Omega)$$
  
with  $\alpha = \frac{Npt}{pt(N+1)-N(t+1)}$  that converges to  $\mu_{s}^{-}$  (4.2.3)  
in the narrow topology of measures.

We observe that  $\mu_{\varepsilon} \in W^{-1,p'}(1/\nu)$  by Propositions 4.1.7. Let us denote by

$$H_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi) = T_{1/\varepsilon}(H(x,\xi)). \tag{4.2.4}$$

By (4.0.32) we have

$$H_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi)| \le |H(x,\xi)| \le b(x) |\nabla u|^{p-1} + b_0(x),$$
  
$$|H_{\varepsilon}(x,\xi)| \le \frac{1}{\varepsilon}.$$
(4.2.5)

Let us consider the following approximated problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})) + H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) = \mu_{\varepsilon} & \text{in } \Omega \\ u_{\varepsilon} = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.6)

A function  $u_{\varepsilon}$  is a weak solution to such a problem if it satisfies the following conditions:

$$\begin{cases} u_{\varepsilon} \in W_{0}^{1,p}(\nu), \\ \int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla v + \int_{\Omega} H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) v = \int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} v + \int_{\Omega} g \nabla v + \\ \int_{\Omega} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} v + \int_{\Omega} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-} v, \quad \forall v \in W_{0}^{1,p}(\nu). \end{cases}$$
(4.2.7)

The existence of a weak solution  $u_{\varepsilon}$  to problem (4.2.6) is obtained by adapting the proof of classical results proved by Leray and Lions ([80]). Moreover it is easy to verify that a weak solution to problem (4.2.6) is also a renormalized solution to problem (4.2.6).

#### 4.2.2 A priori estimates

Now we prove a priori estimates in the weighted spaces  $L^{\gamma}(\nu)$ ,  $\gamma < \frac{\tilde{p}}{p}$  for the sequence  $|u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1}$  and a priori estimate in the space  $L^{q}(\nu)$ ,  $q < \frac{p'\tilde{p}}{p'+\tilde{p}}$  for the sequence of the gradients  $|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1}$ . The proof is divided in several steps. We begin by considering the case where  $||b||_{L^{r}(\Omega)}$  is small enough for the sake of semplicity. Then, in the general case, we adapt the technique of Bottaro and Marina ([35]).

**Theorem 4.2.2** Under the hypotheses of Theorem 3.1 every solution  $u_{\varepsilon}$  to the problem (4.2.7) satisfies

$$\left\|\left|u_{\varepsilon}\right|^{p-1}\right\|_{L^{\gamma}(\nu)} \le c,\tag{4.2.8}$$

$$\left\|\left|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}\right|^{p-1}\right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} \le c,\tag{4.2.9}$$

where  $\gamma < \frac{\tilde{p}}{p}$  and  $q < \frac{p'\tilde{p}}{p'+\tilde{p}}$ , c is a positive constant which depends only on p,  $|\Omega|$ ,  $N, \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)}$ ,  $\sup_{\varepsilon} \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)}$ ,  $\sup_{\varepsilon} (\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+}(\Omega) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-}(\Omega))$ , and on the rearrangement of b(x).

**Proof.** The case where  $\|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)}$  is small

Using  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), k > 0$ , as a test function in (4.2.7), we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) + \int_{\Omega} H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon})$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) + \int_{\Omega} g \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) + \int_{\Omega} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) - \int_{\Omega} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-} T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}).$$

$$(4.2.10)$$

Now we estimate the single integrals in equality (4.2.10). From the ellipticity condition (4.0.27) we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) \geq \int_{|u_{\varepsilon}| \leq k} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \qquad (4.2.11)$$
$$\geq \int_{|u_{\varepsilon}| \leq k} \nu(x) |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p} = \int_{\Omega} \nu(x) |\nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon})|^{p}.$$

By (4.0.32) and by Hölder inequality we have

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u) T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right| \leq \int_{\Omega} b(x) \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) + \int_{\Omega} b_{0}(x) T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \qquad (4.2.12)$$
$$\leq k \int_{\Omega} b(x) \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} + k \int_{\Omega} b_{0}(x)$$
$$\leq k \left\| b(x) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \left\| \nu^{-1}(x) \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{1/q} \left\| \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)}$$
$$+ k \left\| b_{0} \right\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)},$$

Moreover it results:

$$\int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} T_k \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \le k \left\| f_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^1(\Omega)}, \qquad (4.2.13)$$

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^+ T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \right| \le k \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^+, \qquad (4.2.14)$$

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^- T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \right| \le k \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^-.$$
(4.2.15)

Now we estimate the last integral in (4.2.10). From Young inequality we obtain

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} g \nabla T_k \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right| \leq \frac{1}{p} \int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left| \nabla T_k \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right|^p + \frac{1}{p'} \int_{\Omega} g^{p'} \nu^{-1/(p-1)}.$$
(4.2.16)

By definition of the convergence of measures in the narrow topology, we have

$$\sup_{\varepsilon} \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \left(\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+}(\Omega) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-}(\Omega)\right) < +\infty.$$
(4.2.17)

By (4.2.10) - (4.2.17) we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left| \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^p \leq k p' \left[ \| b(x) \|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \| \nu^{-1}(x) \|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{1/q} \right] \left\| |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\Omega)}$$

$$+ k p' \| b_0(x) \|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} + p' \sup_{\varepsilon} \| f_{\varepsilon} \|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} + k p' \sup_{\varepsilon} \left( \lambda_{\varepsilon}^+(\Omega) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^-(\Omega) \right) + \| g \|_{L^{p'}(1/\nu^{p-1})}^{p'}.$$

$$(4.2.18)$$

Now we define

$$M = p' \left[ \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{1/q} \||\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1}\|_{L^{q}(\Omega)} \right]$$

$$+ p' \left[ \|b_{0}(x)\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \left(\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+}(\Omega) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-}(\Omega)\right) \right],$$

$$^{*} = p' \left[ \|b_{0}(x)\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \left(\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+}(\Omega) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-}(\Omega)\right) \right],$$

$$(4.2.19)$$

$$M^* = p' \left[ \|b_0(x)\|_{L^1(\Omega)} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1(\Omega)} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \left(\lambda_{\varepsilon}^+(\Omega) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^-(\Omega)\right) \right], \qquad (4.2.20)$$

$$L = \|g\|_{L^{p'}(1/\nu^{p-1})}^{p'}.$$
(4.2.21)

Therefore (4.2.18) becomes

$$\int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left| \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^p \le Mk + L.$$
(4.2.22)

By Lemma 4.1.8 we obtain

$$\||\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|\|_{L^{q}(\nu)}^{p-1} \le c(N,p) \left[M + |\Omega|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}}\right].$$
(4.2.23)

We have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} &\leq c \left( N, p \right) \left\| b(x) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \left\| \nu^{-1}(x) \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \left\| \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + c \left( N, p \right) \left[ M^{*} + \left| \Omega \right|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right]. \end{split}$$

If the norm of the coefficient b is small enough, i.e.

$$c(N,p) \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} < 1,$$

we obtain

$$\left\| \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} \leq \frac{c\left(N,p\right) \left[ M^{*} + \left|\Omega\right|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right]}{1 - c(N,p) \left\| b(x) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \left\| \nu^{-1}(x) \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}}},$$

which is the a priori estimate (4.2.9).

General case

Now we want to decompose the term b(x) in a finite sum of terms. We will decompose the term  $|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1}$  in a sum of term of type

$$\left|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}\right|^{p-1}\chi_{\{m_{i+1}<|u_{\varepsilon}|< m_i\}}.$$

The values of the costant  $m_i$  depend on m but not their number. I will vary between 0 and  $I \leq I^*$  which is independent of N.

Now we define a new set  $Z_N$  so that the measure of the set  $\{x \in \Omega : m_{i+1} < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_i\}$ will be continuous respect to the parameter m for  $m_i$  given. Since  $\Omega$  is a bounded open set,  $|\Omega|$  is finite and the set of constant c such that

$$|\{x \in \Omega : |u_{\varepsilon}(x)| = c\}| > 0$$

is at most countable.

Let be  $Z_N^c$  the union of all those sets and  $Z_N = \Omega \setminus Z_N^c$  the union of all the sets such that  $|\{x \in \Omega : |u_{\varepsilon}(x)| = c\}| = 0$ . Since

$$\nabla u_{\varepsilon} = 0$$
 a.e. on  $\{x \in \Omega : |u_{\varepsilon}(x)| = c\}$ ,

we obtain that

$$\nabla u_{\varepsilon} = 0$$
 a.e. on  $Z_n^c$ .

With this choice of  $m_i$  we know that for  $m_i$  fixed and  $0 < m < m_i$  the function

$$m \longrightarrow |Z_n \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_i\}|$$

is continuous.

### First step:

Define for m > 0 the function that is

$$S_{m}(s) = \begin{cases} 0 & |s| \le m \\ (|s| - m) \ sign(s) & |s| > m. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.24)

Using  $T_{k}\left(S_{m}\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right)$ , with m to be specified, as a test function in (4.2.7), we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_{k} \left(S_{m}(u_{\varepsilon})\right) + \int_{\Omega} H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) T_{k} \left(S_{m}(u_{\varepsilon})\right) =$$

$$= \int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} T_{k} \left(S_{m}(u_{\varepsilon})\right) + \int_{\Omega} g \nabla T_{k} \left(S_{m}(u_{\varepsilon})\right) + \int_{\Omega} \lambda_{n}^{+} T_{k} \left(S_{m}(u_{\varepsilon})\right) \qquad (4.2.25)$$

$$- \int_{\Omega} \lambda_{n}^{-} T_{k} \left(S_{m}(u_{\varepsilon})\right).$$

Now we estimate the singular integrals in (4.2.25).

By elliptic conditions (4.0.27), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} a\left(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}\right) \nabla T_{k}\left(S_{m}\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) \geq \int_{\Omega} \nu\left(x\right) \left|\nabla T_{k}\left(S_{m}\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right)\right|^{p};$$
(4.2.26)

Moreover

$$\int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} T_k \left( S_m \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \le k \left\| f_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^1(\Omega)}, \qquad (4.2.27)$$

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^+ T_k \left( S_m \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right| \le k \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^+, \tag{4.2.28}$$

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^- T_k \left( S_m \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right| \le k \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^-, \tag{4.2.29}$$
By Young inequality we obtain

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} g \nabla T_k \left( S_m \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right| \leq \frac{1}{p} \int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left| \nabla T_k \left( S_m \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^p + \frac{1}{p'} \int_{\Omega} g^{p'} \nu^{-1/(p-1)}.$$
(4.2.30)

Using the definition of  $S_m(u_{\varepsilon})$  and that  $\nabla u_{\varepsilon} = \nabla S_m(u_{\varepsilon})$  a.e. in  $Z_{\varepsilon} = \Omega - Z_{\varepsilon}^c$  we have by (4.0.32)

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) T_{k}\left(S_{m}\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) \right| \leq \int_{\Omega} \left| b(x) \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} T_{k}\left(S_{m}\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) \right| + \int_{\Omega} \left| b_{0}(x) T_{k}\left(S_{m}\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right) \right|$$

$$(4.2.31)$$

$$\leq \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(Z_{\varepsilon}\cap\{|u_{\varepsilon}|>m\})} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(Z_{\varepsilon}\cap\{|u_{\varepsilon}|>m\})}^{\frac{1}{q}} \times \\ \times \||\nabla (S_{m}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^{p-1}\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + k \|b_{0}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)}.$$

By (4.2.26) - (4.2.31) we have for k > 0

$$\int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left| \nabla T_k \left( S_m(u_{\varepsilon}) \right) \right|^p \le M_1 k + L, \qquad (4.2.32)$$

where

$$M_{1} = p' \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{|u_{\varepsilon}| > m\})} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{|u_{\varepsilon}| > m\})}^{\frac{1}{q}} \times$$

$$\times \||\nabla (S_{m}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^{p-1}\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + M^{*},$$
(4.2.33)

and where  $M^*$  and L are defined by (4.2.20) - (4.2.21).

By Lemma 4.1.8 we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_m \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^q(\nu)} &\leq c \left( N, p \right) \left\| b(x) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{ |u_{\varepsilon}| > m \}|)} \left\| \nu^{-1}(x) \right\|_{L^t(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \times \\ &\times \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_m \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^q(\nu)} + c \left( N, p \right) \left[ M^* + |\Omega|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right]. \end{aligned}$$

Now we observe that

$$\|b(x)\|_{L^{1}(Z_{\varepsilon}\cap\{|u_{\varepsilon}|>m\})} = \int_{|Z_{\varepsilon}\cap\{|u_{\varepsilon}|>m\}|} b(x) \le \int_{0}^{|Z_{\varepsilon}\cap\{|u_{\varepsilon}|>m\}|} b^{*}(t).$$
(4.2.34)

If

$$c(N,p) \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(|Z_{\varepsilon}\cap\{|u_{\varepsilon}|>m\}|)} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \le \frac{1}{2},$$
(4.2.35)

then we choose  $m = m_1 = 0$ . If (4.2.35) is not true, we choose  $m = m_1 > 0$  such that

$$c(N,p)\left(\int_{0}^{|Z_{\varepsilon}\cap\{|u_{\varepsilon}|>m_{1}\}|}b^{*}(t)^{\tau}dt\right)^{\frac{1}{\tau}}\left(\int_{\Omega}\nu^{-t}\right)^{\frac{1}{tq}}=\frac{1}{2}.$$

The function  $m \longrightarrow |Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{|u_{\varepsilon}| > m\}|$  is continuous, decreasing and goes to 0 when m goes to  $\infty$ . Now if we define  $\delta$  by

$$c(N,p)\left(\int_{0}^{\delta} b^{*}(t)^{\tau} dt\right)^{\frac{1}{\tau}} \left(\int_{\Omega} \nu^{-t}\right)^{\frac{1}{t_{q}}} = \frac{1}{2},$$
(4.2.36)

we have  $|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{|u_{\varepsilon}| > m_1\}| = \delta$  . With this choise of m, we obtain

$$\left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_m \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^q(\nu)} \le 2 \ c \left( N, p \right) \left[ M^* + |\Omega|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right].$$
(4.2.37)

### Second step:

Define for  $0 \le m < m_1$  the function

$$S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon}) = \begin{cases} m_1 - m & u_{\varepsilon} > m_1 \\ u_{\varepsilon} - m & m \le u_{\varepsilon} \le m_1 \\ 0 & -m \le u_{\varepsilon} \le m \\ u_{\varepsilon} + m & -m_1 \le u_{\varepsilon} \le -m \\ m - m_1 & u_{\varepsilon} < -m_1 \end{cases}$$
(4.2.38)

Using the test function  $T_{k}\left(S_{m,m_{1}}\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right)$  with m to be specified later we have

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_k(S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon})) + \int_{\Omega} H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) T_k(S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon})) = (4.2.39)$$

$$\int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} T_k(S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon})) + \int_{\Omega} g \nabla T_k(S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon})) + \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^+ T_k(S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon}))$$

$$- \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^- T_k(S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon})).$$

Now as in the previous step we have

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_k(S_{m, m_1}(u_{\varepsilon})) \ge \int_{\Omega} \nu(x) |\nabla T_k(S_{m, m_1}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^p .$$

$$\int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} T_k \left( S_{m,m_1} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \le k \left\| f_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^1(\Omega)}, \qquad (4.2.40)$$

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^+ T_k \left( S_{m,m_1} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right| \le k \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^+, \tag{4.2.41}$$

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^- T_k \left( S_{m,m_1} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right| \le k \int_{\Omega} \lambda_n^-.$$
(4.2.42)

By Young inequality we have

$$\int_{\Omega} g \nabla T_k \left( S_{m,m_1} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \le \frac{1}{p} \int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left| \nabla T_k S_{m,m_1} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right|^p + \frac{1}{p'} \int_{\Omega} g^{p'} \nu^{-1/(p-1)}. \quad (4.2.43)$$

Since  $S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon}) = 0$  when  $|u_{\varepsilon}| \leq m$ , we obtain

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) T_{k} \left( S_{m,m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right| \leq k \int_{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{1}} b\left( x \right) |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1} + (4.2.44)$$

$$+ k \int_{|u_{\varepsilon}| \geq m_{1}} b\left( x \right) |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1} + k \int_{\Omega} b_{0}(x)$$

$$\leq k \| b\left( x \right) \|_{L^{\tau}(Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{1}\})} \| \nu^{-1} \|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \| |\nabla \left( S_{m,m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right)|^{p-1} \|_{L^{q}(v)}$$

$$+ k \| b\left( x \right) \|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \| \nu^{-1} \|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \| |\nabla \left( S_{m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right)|^{p-1} \|_{L^{q}(v)} + k \| b_{0}(x) \|_{L^{1}(\Omega)}.$$

Combining (4.2.39), (4.2.44) we have for k > 0

$$\int_{\Omega} \nu(x) \left| \nabla T_k \left( S_{m,m_1} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^p \le M_2 k + L, \qquad (4.2.45)$$

where

$$M_{2} = p' \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m_{1} < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m\})} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \||\nabla (S_{m,m_{1}}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^{p-1}\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + (4.2.46) + \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \|\nu^{-1}\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \||\nabla (S_{m_{1}}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^{p-1}\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + M^{*},$$

where  $M^*$  and L are defined in (4.2.20), (4.2.21).

By (4.2.9) we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left\| \nabla \left( S_{m,m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} \\ &\leq c \left( N,p \right) \left\| b(x) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{1}\}|)} \left\| \nu^{-1}(x) \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_{m,m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} \\ &+ c(N,p) \left[ \left\| b\left( x \right) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \left\| \nu^{-1} \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_{m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} \right] \\ &+ c(N,p) \left[ M^{*} + |\Omega|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right]. \end{split}$$

If

$$c(N,p) \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{1}\}|)} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \leq \frac{1}{2}, \qquad (4.2.47)$$

then we choose  $m = m_2 = 0$ . If (4.2.47) does not hold, we choose  $m = m_2 > 0$  so that

$$c(N,p) \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{1}\}|)} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} = \frac{1}{2}$$

The function  $m \longrightarrow |Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{|u_{\varepsilon}| > m\}|$  is continuous, decreasing and goes to 0 when m goes to  $\infty$ . Now if we define  $\delta$  by

$$c(N,p)\left(\int_{0}^{\delta} b^{*}(t)^{\tau} dt\right)^{\frac{1}{\tau}} \left(\int_{\Omega} \nu^{-t}\right)^{\frac{1}{tq}} = \frac{1}{2},$$
(4.2.48)

we have  $|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_1\}| = \delta$  . With this choice of m we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_{m,m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} &\leq 2 \ c(N,p) \left[ \left\| b\left( x \right) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \left\| \nu^{-1} \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right] \times \\ & \times \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_{m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + \\ & + 2c(N,p) \left[ M^{*} + \left| \Omega \right|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right]. \end{split}$$
(4.2.49)

### Third step:

Now we define for  $0 \leq m < m_2$  the function  $S_{m,m_2} : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ 

$$S_{m,m_2}(u_{\varepsilon}) = \begin{cases} m_2 - m & u_{\varepsilon} > m_2 \\ u_{\varepsilon} - m & m \le u_{\varepsilon} \le m_2 \\ 0 & -m \le u_{\varepsilon} \le m \\ u_{\varepsilon} + m & -m_2 \le u_{\varepsilon} \le -m \\ m - m_2 & u_{\varepsilon} < -m_2. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.50)

As in the previous step we use  $T_k(S_{m,m_2}(u_{\varepsilon}))$  with m to be specified later as test function in the (4.2.7)

$$\int_{\Omega} \nu(x) |\nabla T_k(S_{m,m_1}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^p \le M_3 k + L,$$

where

$$M_{3} = p' \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m_{1} < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m\})} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \||\nabla (S_{m,m_{2}}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^{p-1}\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \|\nu^{-1}\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \||\nabla (S_{m_{2,1}}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^{p-1}\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \|\nu^{-1}\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \||\nabla (S_{m_{1}}(u_{\varepsilon}))|^{p-1}\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + M^{*},$$

where  $M^*$  and L are defined in (4.2.20), (4.2.21).

As before we use Lemma 4.1.8, we choose  $m = m_3 = 0$  in the case

$$c(N,p) \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{2}\}|)} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \leq \frac{1}{2}$$
(4.2.51)

and if (4.2.51) does not hold, we choose  $m = m_3 > 0$  so that

$$c(N,p) \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{2}\}|)} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} = \frac{1}{2}.$$
(4.2.52)

Now as in the previous step we observe that  $m_3$  depends on n and

$$|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_2\}| = \delta.$$

With this choice of m we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_{m,m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} &\leq 2 \ c(N,p) \left[ \left\| b \left( x \right) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \left\| \nu^{-1} \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right] \\ & \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_{m_{2},m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + \\ & + 2 \ c(N,p) \left[ \left\| b \left( x \right) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \left\| \nu^{-1} \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \right] \\ & \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_{m_{1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} + \\ & + 2 \ c(N,p) \left[ M^{*} + \left| \Omega \right|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right]. \end{aligned}$$
(4.2.53)

## Final step

We repeat the procedure until i = I . If

$$c(N,p) \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(|Z_{\varepsilon} \cap \{m < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{I-1}\}|)} \|\nu^{-1}(x)\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \leq \frac{1}{2},$$

then we choose  $m_I = 0$ . Now we want to estimate I. We observe

$$\begin{aligned} |\Omega| \ge |Z_N| \ge |Z_N \cap \{|u_{\varepsilon}| > m_1\}| + |Z_N \cap \{m_2 < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_1\}| + \\ + |Z_N \cap \{m_3 < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_2\}| + \dots + |Z_N \cap \{m_{I-1} < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{I-2}\}|. \end{aligned}$$

By (4.2.36), (4.2.48), we know that

$$|Z_N \cap \{|u_{\varepsilon}| > m_1\}| = |Z_N \cap \{m_2 < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_1\}| =$$
$$= |Z_N \cap \{m_3 < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_2\}| = \dots = |Z_N \cap \{m_{I-1} < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{I-2}\}| = \delta,$$

with  $\delta$  that does not depend on N. We realize that

$$|\Omega| \ge (I-1)\delta,$$
  
$$I \le I^*, \tag{4.2.54}$$

where  $I^* = 1 + \left[\frac{|\Omega|}{\delta}\right]$ . From (4.2.54) we deduce that *I* depends only on b(x) through the definition of  $\delta$  but it does not depend on *N*.

Now we define  $m_0 = +\infty$  ,  $S_{m_1,m_0} = S_{m_1}$ 

$$\begin{cases} X_{i} = \left\| \left| \nabla \left( S_{m_{i},m_{i-1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} & 1 \leq i \leq I \\ a = 2C(N,p) \left\| b\left( x \right) \right\|_{L^{\tau}(\Omega)} \left\| \nu^{-1} \right\|_{L^{t}(\Omega)}^{\frac{1}{q}} \\ b = 2 C(N,p) \left[ M^{*} + \left| \Omega \right|^{\frac{1}{p}} L^{\frac{1}{p'}} \right]. \end{cases}$$

By (4.2.37), (4.2.49), (4.2.53), we deduce

$$\begin{split} X_1 \leq b & X_2 \leq aX_1 + b \quad X_3 \leq aX_2 + aX_1 + b \\ X_I \leq aX_{I-1} + \ldots + aX_1 + b & for \ I \leq I^* \end{split} .$$

By induction we have

$$X_i \le (a+1)^{i-1} b,$$
 for  $1 \le i \le I$ ,

$$\left|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}\right|^{p-1} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \left|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}\right|^{p-1} \chi_{\{m_{i} < |u_{\varepsilon}| < m_{i-1}\}} = \sum_{i=1}^{I} \left|\nabla S_{m_{i},m_{i-1}}\left(u_{\varepsilon}\right)\right|^{p-1}.$$
 (4.2.55)

By (4.2.55) we have

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right\|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{I} \left\| \left\| \left\| \nabla S_{m_{i},m_{i-1}} \left( u_{\varepsilon} \right) \right\|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{q}(\nu)} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{I} X_{i} \leq$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{I} \left( a+1 \right)^{i-1} b = b \left[ \frac{(a+1)^{I}-1}{a} \right] \leq \frac{b}{a} \left( (a+1)^{I^{*}}-1 \right).$$

$$(4.2.56)$$

In the same way we obtain the estimate for  $|u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1}$ .

### 4.2.3 A stability result

In this section we prove a stability result which unsures that the solution  $u_{\varepsilon}$  converges almost everywhere to renormalized solution u. The result is obtained by adapting the technique developed in [48] and used also in [72]. A new proof of this stability result, which does not need the strong convergence of the truncations of the solutions in the energy space, has been proved in [84]

In order to prove the stability result, we consider the nonlinear problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u) = \mu_{\varepsilon} & \text{in} \quad \Omega\\ u = 0 & \text{on} \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(4.2.57)

where  $\varepsilon$  is a sequence of positive numbers that converges to zero,  $a: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function such that (4.0.27), (4.0.28) are satisfied and  $\mu_{\varepsilon}$  is a Radon measure with bounded total variation in  $\Omega$ .

Since  $\mu_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\mu$  are measures in  $M_b(\Omega)$ , they can be decomposed as in the Proposition 4.1.7, as follows

$$\mu_{\varepsilon} = f_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}(g_{\varepsilon}) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} - \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-}, \qquad (4.2.58)$$

$$\mu = f - \operatorname{div}(g) + \mu_s^+ - \mu_s^-, \qquad (4.2.59)$$

where sequences  $f_{\varepsilon}$ ,  $\lambda_{\varepsilon}^+$ ,  $\lambda_{\varepsilon}^-$  satisfy (4.2.1) – (4.2.3) and  $g_{\varepsilon}$  is a sequence such that

$$\begin{cases} g_{\varepsilon} \text{ is a sequence of functions in } \left(L^{p'}(1/\nu^{p-1})\right)^{N} \\ g_{\varepsilon} \to g \left(L^{p'}(1/\nu^{p-1})\right)^{N} \text{ strongly.} \end{cases}$$
(4.2.60)

The following stability result holds true:

**Theorem 4.2.3** Assume that (4.0.27), (4.0.28), (4.2.1) - (4.2.3), (4.2.60) hold. Let  $u_{\varepsilon}$  be a renormalized solution of (4.2.57). Then  $u_{\varepsilon}$  converges almost everywhere to renormalized solution u to the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u) = \mu & in \quad \Omega\\ u = 0 & on \quad \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(4.2.61)

According to Proposition 4.1.7  $\lambda_{\varepsilon}^+$  and  $\lambda_{\varepsilon}^-$  can be decomposed in the following way

$$\begin{split} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} &= \lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^{+} + \lambda_{\varepsilon,s}^{+}, \\ \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-} &= \lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^{-} + \lambda_{\varepsilon,s}^{-}, \end{split}$$

with  $\lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^+$ ,  $\lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^- \in M_{0,v}(\Omega)$ ,  $\lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^+$ ,  $\lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^- \ge 0$  and  $\lambda_{\varepsilon,s}^+$ ,  $\lambda_{\varepsilon,s}^- \in M_{s,v}(\Omega)$ ,  $\lambda_{\varepsilon,s}^+$ ,  $\lambda_{\varepsilon,s}^- \ge 0$ . On the other hand  $\mu_{\varepsilon}$  can be decomposed as follows

$$\mu_{\varepsilon} = \mu_{\varepsilon,0} + \mu_{\varepsilon,s} = \mu_{\varepsilon,0} + \mu_{\varepsilon,s}^+ + \mu_{\varepsilon,s}^-,$$

where  $\mu_{\varepsilon,0} \in M_{0,v}(\Omega)$  and  $\mu_{\varepsilon,s}^+, \mu_{\varepsilon,s}^-$  are two nonnegative measure in  $M_{s,v}(\Omega)$  which are concentrated on two disjoint subset  $E_{\varepsilon}^+$  and  $E_{\varepsilon}^-$  of  $(p, \nu)$ -capacity. As in [48] we have

$$0 \le \mu_{\varepsilon,s}^+ \le \lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^+ \qquad 0 \le \mu_{\varepsilon,s}^- \le \lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^-. \tag{4.2.62}$$

Sketch of the proof.

First step

By using the same tecnique used in the previous, we obtain a priori estimate for  $\nabla u_{\varepsilon}$ thanks to which we have that  $u_{\varepsilon} \to u$  a.e. Now we want to prove that u is a solution of (4.2.61) in the sense of distribution.

We know that  $u_{\varepsilon}$  is a renormalized solution of the problem (4.2.57) and so it is also a solution in the sense of distribution that is

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \varphi = \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_{\varepsilon}, \forall \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega).$$
(4.2.63)

Otherwise by a result contained in [97] we have

$$a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow a(x, u, \nabla u) \text{ in } L^{1}(\Omega) \text{ strongly}$$
 (4.2.64)

and by passing to the limit in (4.2.63), we obtain that u is a distributional solution of (4.2.61).

Second step

In this step we adapt the proof given in [72]. We prove that

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup \frac{1}{n} \int_{\{n < u_{\varepsilon} < 2n\}} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \varphi \leq \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^+, \qquad (4.2.65)$$

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \sup \frac{1}{n} \int_{\{-2n < u_{\varepsilon} < n\}} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \varphi \le \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_{s}^{-}, \quad (4.2.66)$$

 $\forall \varphi \in C^1\left(\overline{\Omega}\right) \text{ with } \varphi \geq 0.$ 

Now we define for  $n \ge 1$   $s_n : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  and  $h_\eta : \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$  by

$$s_n(r) = \frac{T_{2n}(r) - T_n(r)}{n},$$
(4.2.67)

$$h_{\eta}(r) = 1 - |s_{\eta}(r)|. \qquad (4.2.68)$$

If we take  $h_{\eta}(u_{\varepsilon})s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+)\varphi$  as test function and with  $\eta \longrightarrow \infty$  we have

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+) \nabla \varphi + \frac{1}{n} \int_{\{n < u_{\varepsilon} < 2n\}} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \varphi$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+) \varphi + \int_{\Omega} g_{\varepsilon} s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+) \nabla \varphi + \frac{1}{n} \int_{\{n < u_{\varepsilon} < 2n\}} g_{\varepsilon} \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \varphi + \int_{\Omega} s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+) \varphi d\lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^- + \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_{\varepsilon,s}^+,$$

 $\forall \varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$  non negative.

Since  $s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+)$  is bounded and  $s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+) \longrightarrow s_n(u^+)$  a.e , by Lebesgue convergence theorem we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+) \nabla \varphi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} a(x, u, \nabla u) s_n(u^+) \nabla \varphi = 0 \quad (4.2.69)$$

and by (4.2.62)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+) \varphi = \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\Omega} f s_n(u^+) \varphi = 0.$$
(4.2.70)

By Hölder inequality we have

$$\frac{1}{n} \int_{\{n < u_{\varepsilon} < 2n\}} g_{\varepsilon} \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \varphi \leq \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \|g_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p'}(1/v^{p-1})} \times \frac{1}{n} \left( \int_{\{n < u_{\varepsilon} < 2n\}} \nu |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p} \right)^{1/p}.$$
  
Since  $g_{\varepsilon} \to g \left( L^{p'}(1/\nu^{p-1}) \right)^{N}$  strongly, we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{n} \int_{\{n < u_{\varepsilon} < 2n\}} g_{\varepsilon} \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \varphi = 0, \qquad (4.2.71)$$

and finally by (4.2.62)

$$\int_{\Omega} s_n(u_{\varepsilon}^+)\varphi d\lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^+ + \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_{\varepsilon,s}^+ \leq \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^+.$$
(4.2.72)

By (4.2.69) – (4.2.72) we obtain  $\forall \varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega})$ 

$$\frac{1}{n} \int_{\{n < u_{\varepsilon} < 2n\}} a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \varphi \le \omega(\varepsilon, n) + \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+}, \qquad (4.2.73)$$

where  $\omega$  is a function such that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \omega(\varepsilon, n) = 0$ . Since  $\lambda_{\varepsilon}^+$  converges to  $\mu_s^+$  in the narrow topology we have (4.2.65).

### $Third\ step$

Now we want to prove that u is a renormalized solution. As in [48] we consider for  $\delta > 0$  two cut-off functions  $\psi_{\delta}^+$  and  $\psi_{\delta}^- \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$  such that

$$0 \leq \psi_{\delta}^{+} \leq 1 \qquad 0 \leq \psi_{\delta}^{-} \leq 1 \qquad \sup p\left(\psi_{\delta}^{+}\right) \cap \sup p\left(\psi_{\delta}^{-}\right) = \emptyset, \qquad (4.2.74)$$
$$\lim_{\delta \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} \left|\nabla\psi_{\delta}^{+}\right|^{p} = \lim_{\delta \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} \left|\nabla\psi_{\delta}^{+}\right|^{p} = 0,$$
$$\lim_{\delta \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} \psi_{\delta}^{+} d\mu_{s}^{+} = \lim_{\delta \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} \psi_{\delta}^{-} d\mu_{s}^{-} = 0,$$
$$\lim_{\delta \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} (1 - \psi_{\delta}^{+}) d\mu_{s}^{+} = \lim_{\delta \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} (1 - \psi_{\delta}^{-}) d\mu_{s}^{-} = 0,$$
$$\lim_{\delta \longrightarrow 0\varepsilon \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} \psi_{\delta}^{-} d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} = \lim_{\delta \longrightarrow 0\varepsilon \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} \psi_{\delta}^{+} d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-} = 0, \qquad (4.2.75)$$

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} (1 - \psi_{\delta}^{+}) d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} = \lim_{\delta \to 0\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{\Omega \in 0} \int_{\Omega} (1 - \psi_{\delta}^{+}) d\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} = 0.$$
(4.2.76)

Using  $h_n(u_{\varepsilon})h(u)v(1-\psi_{\delta}^+-\psi_{\delta}^-)$  as test function where  $h_n$  is defined in (4.2.68) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} h'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})h(u)v(1-\psi_{\delta}^{+}-\psi_{\delta}^{-}) \left[a(x,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})\right] \nabla u_{\varepsilon} +$$

$$\int_{\Omega} h_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})h'(u)v(1-\psi_{\delta}^{+}-\psi_{\delta}^{-}) \left[a(x,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})\right] \nabla u +$$

$$\int_{\Omega} h_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})h(u)(1-\psi_{\delta}^{+}-\psi_{\delta}^{-}) \left[a(x,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})\right] \nabla v +$$

$$\int_{\Omega} h_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})h(u)v \left[a(x,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})\right] \nabla (1-\psi_{\delta}^{+}-\psi_{\delta}^{-})$$

$$\int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon}h_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})h(u)v(1-\psi_{\delta}^{+}-\psi_{\delta}^{-}) + \int_{\Omega} g_{\varepsilon} \nabla \left[h_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})h(u)v(1-\psi_{\delta}^{+}-\psi_{\delta}^{-})\right] +$$

$$\int_{\Omega} h_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})h(u)v(1-\psi_{\delta}^{+}-\psi_{\delta}^{-}) d\lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^{+} + \int_{\Omega} h_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})h(u)v(1-\psi_{\delta}^{+}-\psi_{\delta}^{-}) d\lambda_{\varepsilon,0}^{-}.$$
(4.2.77)

Now we pass to the limit in (4.2.77) for  $\varepsilon \longrightarrow 0, n \longrightarrow \infty$  and  $\delta \longrightarrow 0$ . Since  $(1 - \psi_{\delta}^{+} - \psi_{\delta}^{-})a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon}$  is positive, letting  $\delta \longrightarrow 0$  we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{n} \int_{\{n < |u_{\varepsilon}| < 2n\}} |h(u)v| \left(1 - \psi_{\delta}^{+} - \psi_{\delta}^{-}\right) a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} = 0.$$
(4.2.78)

By [97] we know that  $T_{2n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow T_{2n}(u)$  a.e so we have

$$a(x, T_{2n}(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_{2n}(u_{\varepsilon})) \longrightarrow a(x, T_{2n}(u), \nabla T_{2n}(u)).$$

Since  $|h_n(u_{\varepsilon})| \leq 1$  and  $h_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow h_n(u)$  a.e., replacing  $a(x, u, \nabla u)$  by  $a(x, T_M(u), \nabla T_M(u))$ and letting  $n \longrightarrow \infty$ ,  $\delta \longrightarrow 0$  we have

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} h_n(u_{\varepsilon}) h'(u) v(1 - \psi_{\delta}^+ - \psi_{\delta}^-) [a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})] \nabla u \qquad (4.2.79)$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} h'(u) v(a(x, u, \nabla u)) \nabla u.$$

In the same way

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0n \to \infty\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} h_n(u_{\varepsilon}) h(u) (1 - \psi_{\delta}^+ - \psi_{\delta}^-) (a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})) \nabla v \qquad (4.2.80)$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} h(u) (a(x, u, \nabla u)) \nabla v,$$
$$\lim_{\delta \to 0n \to \infty\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{\Omega} \int_{\Omega} h_n(u_{\varepsilon}) h(u) v [a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})] \nabla (1 - \psi_{\delta}^+ - \psi_{\delta}^-) = 0. \qquad (4.2.81)$$

Using the point-wise convergence of  $u_{\varepsilon}$  and the definition of  $h_n$  and the definition of  $\psi_{\delta}^+, \psi_{\delta}^-$  we obtain

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \lim_{n \to \infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} h_n(u_{\varepsilon}) h(u) v(1 - \psi_{\delta}^+ - \psi_{\delta}^-) = \int_{\Omega} fh(u) v.$$
(4.2.82)

To conclude that u is a renormalized solution we have to prove

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{n < u < 2n} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla u \varphi = \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^+, \qquad (4.2.83)$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{-2n < u < -n} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla u \varphi = \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^-, \qquad (4.2.84)$$

 $\forall \varphi \in C_b^0(\Omega).$ 

By the pointwise convergence of  $u_{\varepsilon}$  and by Fatou Lemma it follows

$$\limsup_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{n < u < 2n} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla u \varphi \le \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^+, \qquad (4.2.85)$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{-2n < u < -n} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla u \varphi \le \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^-, \qquad (4.2.86)$$

 $\forall \varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}) \text{ with } \varphi \geq 0.$ 

Since u is a solution in the sense of distribution, taking  $h_n(u)\psi$  as test function where  $h_n$  is defined in (4.2.68) and  $\psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ , letting  $\eta \to \infty$ ,  $\delta \to 0$  we obtain

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{n} \int_{n < u < 2n} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla u\varphi \ge \int_{\Omega} \varphi d\mu_s^+, \tag{4.2.87}$$

 $\forall \varphi \in C^1(\overline{\Omega}) \text{ with } \varphi \geq 0.$ 

If we take  $\varphi(1-\psi_{\delta}^{+})\psi_{\delta}^{-}$  as test function we have (4.2.84)

### Fourth step

Now we want to prove that  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  converges to  $T_k(u)$  strongly in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  for any k > 0. By (4.0.27), the point-wise convergence of  $u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}$  we have

$$\int_{\Omega} a(x, T_k(u), \nabla T_k(u)) \nabla T_k(u) \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \longrightarrow 0} \int_{\Omega} a(x, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}).$$

If we take  $h_n(u_{\varepsilon})T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  as test function and letting  $n \to \infty, \varepsilon \to 0$  we have

$$\limsup_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} a(x, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \int_{\Omega} a(x, u, \nabla u) \nabla T_k(u), \qquad (4.2.88)$$

so we conclude that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} a(x, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \int_{\Omega} a(x, T_k(u), \nabla T_k(u)) \nabla T_k(u).$$
(4.2.89)

By (4.2.89) we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{\Omega} a(x, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) = \int_{\Omega} a(x, T_k(u), \nabla T_k(u)) \nabla T_k(u).$$
(4.2.90)

Because of (4.0.27) and the point-wise convergence of  $\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  [101]  $\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \rightarrow \nabla T_k(u)$  in  $(L^p(\Omega))^N$  strongly.

### 4.2.4 Passage to the limit

The weak solution  $u_{\varepsilon}$  to approximated problem (4.2.6) satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\epsilon})) = \Phi_{\varepsilon} - \operatorname{div}(g) & \text{in} \quad \Omega \\ u_{\varepsilon} \in W_0^{1, p}(\nu) & \text{on} \quad \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(4.2.91)

where  $\Phi_{\varepsilon} = f_{\varepsilon} - H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} - \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-}$ .

Using  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  as test function in (4.2.91) we have for some  $\widetilde{M}$  and  $\widetilde{L}$ 

$$\int_{\Omega} v(x) |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \le \widetilde{M}k + \widetilde{L}, \qquad (4.2.92)$$

for every k > 0 and every  $\varepsilon > 0$ .

We know that there exists a function u such that  $u_{\varepsilon}$  converges to u a.e.,  $\nabla u$  exists a.e.,  $T_k(u) \in W_0^{1,p}(\nu)$  and  $\nabla u_{\varepsilon}$  converges to  $\nabla u$  almost everywhere [101] By Fatou Lemma and by (4.2.92) we deduce that

$$\int_{\Omega} v(x) \left| \nabla T_k(u) \right|^p \le \widetilde{M}k + \widetilde{L}.$$
(4.2.93)

From (4.2.93) and by Lemma 4.1.8 we deduce that  $|\nabla u|^{p-1} \in L^q(\nu)$  and  $|u|^{p-1} \in L^{\gamma}(\nu)$ . By a result proved in [101] we know that  $a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow a(x, u, \nabla u)$  in  $L^1(\Omega)$  strongly.

Therefore  $b(x) |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1} \longrightarrow b(x) |\nabla u|^{p-1}$  almost everywhere in  $\Omega$  and for every measurable set  $E \subset \Omega$ 

$$\int_{E} |b(x)| \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon}^{p-1} \right| \le c \, \|b(x)\|_{L^{\tau}(E)} \, \|v^{-1}\|_{L^{t}(E)}^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

By Vitali-Lebesgue theorem we have  $b(x) |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1} \longrightarrow b(x) |\nabla u|^{p-1}$  in  $L^{1}(\Omega)$  strongly. Thanks to these results the weak solution  $u_{\varepsilon}$  of

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})) = f_{\varepsilon} - H_{\varepsilon}(x, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) - \operatorname{div}(g) + \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{+} - \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-} \\ u_{\varepsilon} \in W_{0}^{1, p}(\nu) \end{cases}$$
(4.2.94)

is also a renormalized solution to (4.2.94) and the stability results (Theorem 4.2.3) asserts that u is also a renormalized solution to the problem

$$\begin{cases} -\operatorname{div}(a(x, u, \nabla u)) + H(x, \nabla u) = f - \operatorname{div}(g) + \mu_s^+ - \mu_s^- & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$

which proves the theorem.

# CHAPTER V

# PARABOLIC EQUATIONS

This chapter is devoted to the study of nonlinear parabolic problems when the data are  $L^1$ -function or more in general a Radon measure with bounded variation. In the first section we recall the definition of functional spaces which are essential to study of parabolic problems and the different notion of solutions. In Section II we prove the existence of a renormalized solution for a class of nonlinear parabolic equations having lower order terms.

#### 5.0.5 Spaces of functions and notion of solutions

In this section we recall some feature about spaces of functions with values in a Banach space. Let be V a real Banach space, for  $1 \le p < \infty$ , let us denote by  $L^p((a, b); V)$ the space of measurable functions  $u : [a, b] \to V$  such that

$$||u||_{L^p((a,b);V)} = \left(\int_a^b ||u||_V^p dt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} < \infty,$$

and  $L^{\infty}((a, b); V)$  the space of measurable functions such that:

$$||u||_{L^{\infty}((a,b);V)} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{[a,b]} ||u||_{V} < \infty.$$

Let us recall that, for  $1 \le p \le \infty$ ,  $L^p((a, b); V)$  is a Banach space. Moreover if for  $1 \le p < \infty$  and V', the dual space of V, is separable, then the dual space of  $L^p((a, b); V)$  can be identified with  $L^{p'}(a, b; V')$ .

For our purpose V will mainly be either the Lebesgue space  $L^p(\Omega)$  or the Sobolev space  $W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ , with  $1 \leq p < \infty$ . We denote by  $L^p((a,b); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$  the space of all functions  $u : \Omega \times [a,b] \to \mathbb{R}$  which belong to  $L^p(\Omega \times (a,b))$  and such that  $\nabla u =$   $(u_{x_1}, ..., u_{x_N})$  belongs to  $(L^p(\Omega \times (a, b))^N$  (often, for simplicity, we will indicate this space only by  $L^p(\Omega \times (a, b))$ . Moreover,

$$\left(\int_a^b |\nabla u|^p \ dxdt\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

defines an equivalent norm by Poincaré's inequality.

Given a function in  $L^p((a, b); V)$  it is possible to define a time derivative of uin the space of vector valued distributions  $\mathcal{D}'((a, b); V)$  which is the space of linear continuous functions from  $C_0^{\infty}(a, b)$  into V. In fact, the definition is the following:

$$\langle u_t, \psi \rangle = -\int_a^b u \,\psi_t \,dt \,, \quad \forall \ \psi \in C_0^\infty(a, b),$$

where the equality is meant in V. In the following, we will also use sometimes the notation  $\frac{\partial u}{\partial t}$  instead of  $u_t$ . We recall the following classical embedding result (see [46] for the proof)

**Theorem 5.0.4** Let H be an Hilbert space such that:

$$V \underset{dense}{\hookrightarrow} H \hookrightarrow V'$$

Let  $u \in L^p((a,b);V)$  be such that  $u_t$ , defined as above in the distributional sense, belongs to  $L^{p'}((a,b);V')$ . Then u belongs to C([a,b];H).

This result also allows us to deduce, for functions u and v enjoying these properties, the integration by parts formula:

$$\int_{a}^{b} \langle v, u_{t} \rangle \ dt + \int_{a}^{b} \langle u, v_{t} \rangle \ dt = (u(b), v(b)) - (u(a), v(a)), \qquad (5.0.95)$$

where  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  is the duality between V and V' and  $(\cdot, \cdot)$  the scalar product in H. Notice that (5.0.95) makes sense thanks to Theorem 5.0.4. Its proof relies on the fact that  $C_0^{\infty}((a,b);V)$  is dense in the space of functions  $u \in L^p((a,b);V)$  such that  $u_t \in$  $L^{p'}((a,b);V')$  endowed with the norm  $||u|| = ||u||_{L^p((a,b);V)} + ||u_t||_{L^{p'}((a,b);V')}$ , together with the fact that (5.0.95) is true for  $u, v \in C_0^{\infty}((a, b); V)$  by the theory of integration and derivation in Banach spaces.

Now we recall some further results that will be very useful in what follows. The first one contains a generalization of the integration by parts formula (5.0.95) where the time derivative of a function is less regular, and its proof can be found in [61].

**Lemma 5.0.5** Let  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuous piecewise  $C^1$  function such that f(0) = 0 and f' is zero away from a compact set of  $\mathbb{R}$ . Let us denote  $F(s) = \int_0^s f(r) dr$ . If  $u \in L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$  is such that  $u_t \in L^{p'}((0,T); W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)) + L^1(Q_T)$  and if  $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\overline{Q})$ , then we have

$$\int_0^T \langle u_t, f(u)\psi \rangle \ dt = \int_\Omega F(u(T))\psi(T) \ dx - \int_\Omega F(u(0))\psi(0) \ dx - \iint_{Q_T} \psi_t \ F(u) \ dxdt.$$

Now we state an embedding theorem, well-known Gagliardo-Nirenberg embedding theorem, that will play a central role in our work ([90]).

**Theorem 5.0.6 (Gagliardo-Nirenberg)** Let v be a function in  $W_0^{1,q}(\Omega) \cap L^{\rho}(\Omega)$ with  $q \ge 1$ ,  $\rho \ge 1$ . Then there exists a positive constant C, depending on N, q and  $\rho$ , such that

$$\|v\|_{L^{\gamma}(\Omega)} \leq C \|\nabla v\|_{(L(\Omega))^{N}}^{\theta} \|v\|_{L^{\rho}(\Omega)}^{1-\theta},$$

for every  $\theta$  and  $\gamma$  satisfying

$$0 \le \theta \le 1, \quad 1 \le \gamma \le +\infty, \quad \frac{1}{\gamma} = \theta \left(\frac{1}{q} - \frac{1}{N}\right) + \frac{1 - \theta}{\rho}.$$

An immediate consequence of the previous result is the following embedding result:

**Corollary 5.0.7** Let  $v \in L^q((0,T); L^q(\Omega)) \cap L^\infty((0,T); L^\rho(\Omega))$ , with  $q \ge 1$ ,  $\rho \ge 1$ . Then  $v \in L^{\sigma}(\Omega)$  with  $\sigma = q \frac{N+\rho}{N}$  and

$$\iint_{Q_T} |v|^{\sigma} dx dt \le C ||v||_{L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{\rho}(\Omega))} \iint_{Q_T} |\nabla v|^q dx dt$$

Now we give some basic result about nonlinear parabolic problems and we introduce the relative notion of solutions.

Let be  $\Omega$  a bounded open set of  $\mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $N \geq 2$ ,  $Q_T$  is the cylinder  $\Omega \times (0, T)$ , where T is a real positive number. Let us consider the nonlinear parabolic problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a(x, t, u, \nabla u)) = f & \text{in } Q_T \\ u(x, t) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T) \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.0.96)

where  $a(x, t, s, \xi) : \Omega \times (0, T) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function such that

$$a(x,t,s,\xi)\xi \ge \alpha \,|\xi|^p \,, \quad \alpha > 0, \tag{5.0.97}$$

$$|a(x,t,s,\xi)| \le \nu \left[ h(x,t) + |s|^{p-1} + |\xi|^{p-1} \right], \quad \nu > 0, \ h(x,t) \in L^{p'}(Q_T), \quad (5.0.98)$$

$$(a(x,t,s,\xi) - a(x,t,s,\varrho), \xi - \varrho) > 0, \quad \xi \neq \varrho$$
(5.0.99)

for almost every  $x \in \Omega$ ,  $t \in (0,T)$  and for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\xi$ ,  $\varrho \in \mathbb{R}^N$ .

If  $f \in L^{p'}(Q_T)$  and  $u_0 \in L^2(\Omega)$  then problem (5.0.96) admits a unique solution  $u \in C(0,T; L^2(\Omega)) \cap L^p(0,T; W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$  in the weak sense, that is

$$-\int_{\Omega} u_0 \varphi(0) dx - \int_0^T \langle \varphi_t, u \rangle dt + \iint_{Q_T} a(x, t, u, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla \varphi dx dt = \int_0^T \langle f, \varphi \rangle_{W^{-1, p'}(\Omega), W^{1, p}_0(\Omega)} dt$$

for all  $\varphi \in L^p(0,T; W^{1,p}_0(\Omega) \text{ and } \varphi_t \in L^{p'}(0,T; W^{-1,p'}(\Omega) \text{ such that } \varphi(T) = 0$  ([81]).

When the datum is not in the dual space it is not possible to use a variational framework ([81]). For this reason in [45] (see also [30]) the following notion of solution have been introduced :

**Definition 5.0.8** Let be f a bounded Borel measure. A function u is a solution to (5.0.96) in the sense of distribution if

$$u \in L^1(0, T; W_0^{1,1}(\Omega)),$$
$$a(x, t, u, \nabla u) \in L^1(Q_T),$$

and u satisfies the equation (5.0.96) in the following weak sense:

$$-\iint_{Q_T} u \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} dx dt + \iint_{Q_T} a(x, t, u, \nabla u) \cdot \nabla \varphi dx dt = \iint_{Q_T} \varphi df,$$

for every  $\varphi \in C^{\infty}(\bar{Q}_T)$  such that  $\varphi = 0$  in a neighborhood of  $\partial \Omega \times (0, T) \cup (\Omega \times \{T\})$ .

The authors proved the existence of at least a solution of (5.0.96) in  $L^q(0, T; W_0^{1,q}(\Omega))$ , with  $q < \frac{N(p-1)+p}{N+1}$  and p real number such that  $p > \frac{2N+1}{N+1}$ . Existence results have been also given in [30] where the sommability of the solution with respect to the space and time is more precise. In particular the solution belongs to the space  $L^r(0, T; W_0^{1,q}(\Omega))$ , where r and q are two real number such that  $1 \le q < \min\left\{\frac{N(p-1)}{N-1}, p\right\}, 1 \le r \le p$ and  $\frac{N(p-2)+p}{r} + \frac{N}{q} > N + 1$ . Other existence result for this kind of problem have also been proved in [95] where a lower order term is considered. Unfortunately, as in the elliptic case, the sommability is not enough to get uniqueness result. These difficulties are overcame in the linear case [106] by duality method. To be more explicit let us consider the following linear parabolic problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(M(x,t)\nabla u)) = f & \text{in } Q_T \\ u(x,t) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0,T) \\ u(x,0) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.0.100)

where  $f \in L^1(Q_T)$  and M is a matrix with bounded, measurable coefficients satisfying the condition (5.0.97) with p = 2. Let be

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial w}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(M^*(x,t)\nabla w)) = g & \text{in } Q_T \\ w(x,t) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0,T) \\ w(x,0) = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$

the adjoint problem where  $M^*$  is the adjoint matrix and  $g \in L^{\infty}(Q_T)$ . A function u is said to be a "solution by duality" if

$$\iint_{Q_T} ugdxdt = \iint_{Q_T} fwdxdt.$$

When  $f \in L^1(Q_T)$  e  $u_0 \in L^1(\Omega)$  problem (5.0.100) admits a unique solution by duality. In the nonlinear case, with  $f \in L^1(Q_T)$ , the problem is not well defined and uniqueness is not always guaranteed so the equivalent notion of entropy and renormalized solutions have been introduced [99] and [23], [61].

**Definition 5.0.9** Let be  $f \in L^1(Q_T)$  and  $u_0 \in L^1(\Omega)$ . A function  $u \in C([0,T]; L^1(\Omega))$ is said to be an entropy solution if

$$T_k(u) \in L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)), \quad k > 0$$

and

$$\int_{\Omega} \Theta_k(u-\phi)(T)dx - \int_{\Omega} \Theta_k(u_0-\phi)(T)dx + \int_0^T \langle \phi_t, T_k(u-\varphi) \rangle dt + \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} a(x,t,u,\nabla u)\nabla T_k(u-\phi)dxdt \leq \int_0^T \int_{\Omega} fT_k(u-\phi)dxdt,$$
  

$$ll \ k \ > \ 0 \ and \ \phi \ \in \ L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)) \cap L^\infty(Q_T) \cap C\left([0,T]; L^1(\Omega)\right) \ such$$

for all k > 0 and  $\phi \in L^{p}((0,T); W_{0}^{1,p}(\Omega)) \cap L^{\infty}(Q_{T}) \cap C([0,T]; L^{1}(\Omega))$  such that  $\phi_{t} \in L^{p'}((0,T); W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)) + L^{1}(\Omega), \text{ where } \Theta_{k}(s) = \int_{0}^{s} T_{k}(\sigma) d\sigma.$ 

**Definition 5.0.10** A real function u defined in  $Q_T$  is a renormalized solution of (5.0.96) if it satisfies the following conditions:

 $u: Q_T \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  is a measurable function on  $Q_T$  and  $u \in L^{\infty}((0,T); L^1(\Omega))$ ,

$$T_k(u) \in L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)), \text{ for any } k > 0,$$
  
 $\frac{1}{n} \lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{\{n \le |u| \le 2n\}} |\nabla u|^p = 0,$ 

and if for every function  $S \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  which is piecewise  $C^1$  and such that S' has a compact support

$$\frac{\partial S(u)}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a(x, t, u, \nabla u)S'(u)) + S''(u)a(x, t, u, \nabla u)\nabla u + = fS'(u) \quad in \ D'(\Omega),$$

and

$$S(u)(t=0) = S(u_0) \quad in \ \Omega.$$

# 5.1 Existence results for operators with lower order terms

In this section we prove existence results for nonlinear parabolic problems with lower order terms. In particular we consider a nonlinear parabolic problem which can be formally written as

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a(x, t, u, \nabla u)) + \operatorname{div}(K(x, t, u)) = f & \text{in } Q_T \\ u(x, t) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T) \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.1.1)

where  $a(x, t, s, \xi) : \Omega \times (0, T) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $K(x, t, s) : \Omega \times (0, T) \times \mathbb{R} \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$ are Carathéodory functions satisfying (5.0.97), (5.0.99),

$$|a(x,t,s,\xi)| \le \nu \left[ h(x,t) + |\xi|^{p-1} \right], \quad \nu > 0, \ h(x,t) \in L^{p'}(Q_T), \tag{5.1.2}$$

$$|K(x,t,\eta)| \le c(x,t) |\eta|^{\gamma},$$
 (5.1.3)

$$c(x,t) \in (L^{\tau}(Q_T))^N, \quad \tau > \frac{N+p}{p-1},$$
(5.1.4)

$$\gamma = \frac{N+2}{N+p}(p-1),$$
(5.1.5)

for almost every  $x \in \Omega, t \in (0,T)$ , for every  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  and for every  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Moreover

$$f \in L^1(Q_T), \tag{5.1.6}$$

$$u_0 \in L^1(\Omega). \tag{5.1.7}$$

Under these assumptions, the above problem does not admit, in general, a weak solution since the field  $a(x, t, u, \nabla u)$  and K(x, t, u) do not belong to  $(L^{p'}(\Omega))^N$ . To overcome this difficulty we refer to the notion of renormalized solution (see [30], [25], [48]). The existence of a renormalized solution to problem (5.1.1) with c(x, t) = 0has been proved in [22], [23] where  $a(x, t, s, \xi)$  is indipendent of s and in [25] where a lower order term div  $(\Phi(u))$ , with  $\Phi$  continuous function in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  is considered. Here we prove the existence of a renormalized solution for problem (5.1.1); this result is contained in [55]. The proof consists of several steps. First of all we introduce the approximated problem, then we prove an apriori estimate for the gradient of its solution following an idea contained in [77]. The estimate can be easily obtained if we consider a subcylinder  $\Omega \times (0, t)$ ,  $t \in (0, T)$ . For this reason we decompose the entire cylinder  $Q_T$  into a finite number of subcylinder. Finally we pass to the limit using the same procedure followed in [25].

**Definition 5.1.1** A real function u defined in  $Q_T$  is a renormalized solution of (5.1.1) if it satisfies the following conditions:

$$u \in L^{\infty}((0,T); L^{1}(\Omega)),$$
 (5.1.8)

$$T_k(u) \in L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)), \text{ for any } k > 0,$$
 (5.1.9)

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \int_{\{n \le |u| \le n+1\}} a(x, t, u, \nabla u) \nabla u = 0,$$
 (5.1.10)

and if for every function  $S \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  which is piecewise  $C^1$  and such that S' has a compact support

$$\frac{\partial S(u)}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a(x,t,u,\nabla u)S'(u)) + S''(u)a(x,t,u,\nabla u)\nabla u + + \operatorname{div}(K(x,t,u)S'(u)) - S''(u)K(x,t,u)\nabla u + H(x,t,\nabla u)S'(u) = fS'(u) \quad in \ D'(\Omega)$$
(5.1.11)

and

$$S(u)(t=0) = S(u_0)$$
 in  $\Omega$ . (5.1.12)

We observe that this equation can be formally obtained through pointwise multiplication of (5.1.1) by S'(u) and all terms in (5.1.11) have a meaning since  $T_k(u) \in L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$ , for any k > 0 and S' has a compact support. In particular, there exists M > 0 such that  $suppS' \subset [-M, M]$  and

$$\iint_{Q_T} K(x,t,u) S'(u) \nabla u = \iint_{Q_T} K(x,t,T_M(u)) S'(u) \nabla T_M(u),$$

and such integral is well defined thanks to the assumptions (5.1.3) - (5.1.14) and the fact that  $T_k(u) \in L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$  and  $S \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ .

In this section we also study the following nonlinear parabolic problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div} a(x, t, u, \nabla u) + H(x, t, u) = f & \text{in } Q_T \\ u(x, t) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T) \\ u(x, 0) = u_0(x) & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.1.13)

 $a(x,t,s,\xi)$ :  $\Omega \times (0,T) \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function satisfying (5.0.97), (5.0.99) and (5.1.2),  $H(x,t,\xi)$ :  $\Omega \times (0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^N \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}^N$  is a Carathéodory function such that

$$|H(x,t,\eta)| \le b(x,t) |\nabla u|^{\delta},$$
 (5.1.14)

$$b(x,t) \in L^{r}(Q_{T}), \text{ with } r > \frac{p(N+1) - N}{(p-1)(N+1)},$$
 (5.1.15)

$$\delta \le \frac{p(N+1) - N}{N+2}.$$
(5.1.16)

Finally f and  $u_0$  are two functions satisfying (5.1.6), (5.1.7).

In [77], under the assumption  $p \ge 2 - \frac{1}{N+1}$ , Porzio proved the existence of a solution in the sense of distribution to problem (5.1.13) which belongs to  $L^m((0,T); W_0^{1,m}(\Omega))$ for  $m < \frac{p(N+1)-N}{N+1}$ . Let us explicitly remark that the assumption on p assures that  $\frac{p(N+1)-N}{N+1} > 1$ . To overcome this assumption on p we refer again to the notion of renormalized solution.

**Definition 5.1.2** A real function u defined in  $Q_T$  is a renormalized solution of (5.1.13) if it satisfyies the following conditions (5.1.8) – (5.1.10) and if for every function  $S \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  which is piecewise  $C^1$  and such that S' has a compact support

$$\frac{\partial S(u)}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a(x, t, u, \nabla u)S'(u)) + S''(u)a(x, t, u, \nabla u)\nabla u + H(x, t, \nabla u)S'(u) = fS'(u) \quad \text{in } D'(\Omega)$$
(5.1.17)

and

$$S(u)(t=0) = S(u_0)$$
 in  $\Omega$ . (5.1.18)

In this section we prove the existence of a renormalized solution respectively to problem (5.1.1) and (5.1.13); such result is contained in [55]. We think that the existence of a renormalized solution could be shown also for a nonlinear parabolic problem involving both lower order term -div K(x, t, u) and H(x, t, u). This question is analized in [71].

In order to prove the existence results, we prove a technical lemma (we follow the same method used in [13]), that yields two estimates for  $|u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1}$  and  $|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1}$  in the Lorentz spaces  $L^{\frac{p(N+1)-N}{N(p-1)},\infty}(Q_T)$  and  $L^{\frac{p(N+1)-N}{(N+1)(p-1)},\infty}(Q_T)$  respectively. Moreover by imbedding theorems, these apriori bounds imply two estimates in the Lebesgue spaces  $L^m(Q_T)$  and  $L^s(Q_T)$  with  $m < \frac{p(N+1)-N}{N(p-1)}$  and  $s < \frac{p(N+1)-N}{(N+1)(p-1)}$ .

**Lemma 5.1.3** Assume that  $\Omega$  is an open set of  $\mathbb{R}^N$  of finite measure and 1 . Let be <math>u a measurable function satisfying  $T_k(u) \in L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)) \cap L^\infty((0,T); L^2(\Omega))$  for every positive k and such that

$$\sup_{t \in (0,T)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u)|^2 + \iint_{Q_T} |\nabla T_k(u)|^p \le Mk, \quad \forall k > 0,$$
 (5.1.19)

where M is a positive constant. Then

$$\left\| \left| u \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p(N+1)-N}{N(p-1)},\infty}(Q_T)} \le CM^{\left(\frac{p}{N}+1\right)\frac{N}{N+p'}} \left| Q_T \right|^{\frac{1}{p'}\frac{N}{N+p'}}, \tag{5.1.20}$$

$$\left\| \left| \nabla u \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p(N+1)-N}{(N+1)(p-1)},\infty}(Q_T)} \le CM^{\frac{(N+2)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}}, \tag{5.1.21}$$

where C is a constant which depends only on N and p.

**Proof.** By Gagliardo - Niremberg and by (5.1.19) we have

$$k^{\frac{p(N+2)}{N}}meas\left\{(x,t)\in Q_T: |u|>k\right\} \le C\sup_{t\in(0,T)}\left(\int_{\Omega}|T_k(u)|^2\right)^{\frac{p}{N}}$$
(5.1.22)

$$\times \iint_{Q_T} \left| \nabla T_k(u) \right|^p \le C \left( Mk \right)^{\frac{p}{N}+1}, \tag{5.1.23}$$

that is

$$meas\left\{(x,t) \in Q_T : |u|^{(p-1)} > k\right\} \le CM^{\frac{p}{N}+1}k^{-\frac{N+p'}{N}(p-1)}.$$
(5.1.24)

By (5.1.24) we deduce that  $|u|^{(p-1)} \in L^{\frac{p(N+1)-N}{N(p-1)},\infty}(Q_T)$ . Furthermore, by (5.1.24) we get

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left| u \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p(N+1)-N}{N(p-1)},\infty}(Q_{T})} &= \sup_{k>0} k \left[ meas \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_{T} : \left| u \right|^{(p-1)} > k \right\} \right]^{\frac{N}{N+p'}} \le \\ &\leq \sup_{0 < k < k_{0}} k \ meas \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_{T} : \left| u \right|^{(p-1)} > k \right\}^{\frac{N}{N+p'}} + \\ &+ \sup_{k>k_{0}} k \ meas \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_{T} : \left| u \right|^{(p-1)} > k \right\}^{\frac{N}{N+p'}} \le \\ &\leq k_{0} \left| Q_{T} \right|^{\frac{N}{N+p'}} + C \left[ M^{\frac{p}{N}+1} k_{0}^{-\frac{N+p'}{N}(p-1)} \right]^{\frac{N}{N+p'}}. \end{split}$$

Taking  $k_0 = \frac{M^{\left(\frac{p}{N}+1\right)\frac{N}{N+p'}}}{|Q_T|^{\frac{N}{p}\frac{1}{N+p'}}}$  we have (5.1.20). Now we prove the estimate involving the gradient of u. For every  $\lambda > 0$  and for every k > 0 we have

$$meas \{(x,t) \in Q_T : |\nabla u| > \lambda\} \le meas \{(x,t) \in Q_T : |\nabla u| > \lambda \text{ and } |u| \le k\} + meas \{(x,t) \in Q_T : |\nabla u| > \lambda \text{ and } |u| > k\}.$$

By (5.1.19) we know that

$$\lambda^p meas \{(x,t) \in Q_T : |\nabla u| > \lambda \text{ and } |u| \le k\} \le \iint_{|u_\varepsilon| \le k} \lambda^p \le \iint_{Q_T} |\nabla T_k(u)|^p \le Mk,$$

that is

meas 
$$\left\{ (x,t) \in Q_T : \left| \nabla u \right|^{(p-1)} > \lambda \text{ and } \left| u \right| \le k \right\} \le \frac{Mk}{\lambda^{p'}}.$$
 (5.1.25)

Thanks to (5.1.23) we obtain

meas 
$$\left\{ (x,t) \in Q_T : |\nabla u|^{(p-1)} > \lambda \text{ and } |u| > k \right\} \le CM^{\frac{p}{N}+1}k^{-\frac{p(N+1)-N}{N}}.$$
 (5.1.26)

From (5.1.25), (5.1.26) we deduce that

$$meas\left\{(x,t) \in Q_T : |\nabla u|^{(p-1)} > \lambda\right\} \le \frac{Mk}{\lambda^{p'}} + CM^{\frac{p}{N}+1}k^{-\frac{p(N+1)-N}{N}}.$$
 (5.1.27)

If we take  $k = M^{\frac{1}{N+1}} \lambda^{\frac{N}{(N+1)(p-1)}}$  (5.1.27) becomes

meas 
$$\left\{ (x,t) \in Q_T : |\nabla u|^{(p-1)} > \lambda \right\} \le C \frac{M^{\frac{N+2}{N+1}}}{\lambda^{\frac{p(N+1)-N}{(N+1)(p-1)}}}.$$
 (5.1.28)

By (5.1.28) we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left| \nabla u \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{\frac{p(N+1)-N}{(N+1)(p-1)},\infty}(Q_T)} &= \sup_{\lambda>0} \lambda \left[ meas \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_T : \left| \nabla u \right|^{(p-1)} > \lambda \right\} \right]^{\frac{(N+1)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} \end{aligned}$$
(5.1.29)  
$$\leq \sup_{0<\lambda<\lambda_0} \lambda \ meas \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_T : \left| \nabla u \right|^{(p-1)} > \lambda \right\}^{\frac{(N+1)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} + \\ + \sup_{\lambda>\lambda_0} \lambda \ meas \left\{ (x,t) \in Q_T : \left| \nabla u \right|^{(p-1)} > \lambda \right\}^{\frac{(N+1)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} \leq \\ \leq \lambda_0 \left| Q_T \right|^{\frac{(N+1)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} + CM^{\frac{(N+2)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}}. \end{aligned}$$

If we choose  $\lambda_0 = M^{\frac{(N+2)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} |Q_T|^{-\frac{(N+1)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}}$  we have (5.1.21).

### **5.1.1** Existence result for problem (5.1.1)

The main result of this section is the following existence result which proof is contained in [55].

**Theorem 5.1.4** Under the assumptions (5.0.97), (5.0.99), (5.1.2), (5.1.3) - (5.1.7) there exists at least renormalized solution to problem (5.1.1).

#### Proof

The proof consists of several steps. In the first step we consider the approximated problem. In the second step we obtain apriori estimates for the solutions and its gradient. In Step 3 we followed the idea contained in [25] and we show that the limit of the solution of the approximated problem belongs to  $L^{\infty}((0,T); L^{1}(\Omega))$ . In Step 4 we define a time regularization of  $T_{k}(u)$ . In Step 5 we prove a lemma that is essential in order to develop in Step 6 the monotonicity method. In Step 7 we show that the limit of the solution of the approximated problem satisfyies conditions (5.1.10), (5.1.11), (5.1.12).

Step 1. For  $\varepsilon > 0$  let us consider the following approximated problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial u_{\varepsilon}}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})) + \operatorname{div}(K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon})) = f_{\varepsilon} & \text{in} \quad Q_{T} \\ u_{\varepsilon}(x, t) = 0 & \text{on} \quad \partial\Omega \times (0, T) \\ u_{\varepsilon}(x, 0) = (u_{0})_{\varepsilon}(x) & \text{in} \quad \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.1.30)

where

$$a_{\varepsilon}(x,t,s,\xi) = a(x,t,T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(s),\xi) \text{ a.e. in } Q_T, \ s \in \mathbb{R}, \ \xi \in \mathbb{R}^N,$$
(5.1.31)

 $f_{\varepsilon}$  is a sequence of function in  $L^{p'}(Q_T)$ such that  $f_{\varepsilon} \to f$  a.e. and strongly in  $L^1(Q_T)$ , (5.1.32)

$$(u_0)_{\varepsilon}$$
 is a sequences of function in  $L^2(\Omega)$  such  
that  $(u_0)_{\varepsilon} \to u_0$  a.e. and strongly in  $L^1(\Omega)$ , (5.1.33)

and

$$|K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\eta)| \le |K(x,t,\eta)| \le c(x,t) |\eta|^{\gamma}$$
  
and  $|K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\eta)| \le c(x,t) \left(\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\right)^{\gamma}.$  (5.1.34)

By well-known result (e. g. [81]) there exists at least a weak solution to (5.1.30) which belongs to  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{p}(0,T;W_{0}^{1,p}(\Omega)).$ 

Step 2 If we take  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  as test function in (5.1.30) and we integrate between (0,t) where  $t \in (0,t_1)$  is arbitrary fixed and  $t_1 \in (0,T)$  will be choosen later, using condition (5.1.34) we have

$$\iint_{Qt} (u_{\varepsilon})_{t} T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) + \iint_{Qt} a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \\ \iint_{Qt} c(x, t) |u_{\varepsilon}|^{\gamma} |\nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon})| + \iint_{Qt} f_{\varepsilon} T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}).$$
(5.1.35)

On the other hand, if we denote by

$$\psi_k(s) = \int_0^s T_k(\sigma) d\sigma = \begin{cases} \frac{r^2}{2} & \text{if } |r| \le k \\ k |r| - \frac{k^2}{2} & \text{if } |r| \ge k \end{cases},$$
(5.1.36)

we have

$$\iint_{Qt} (u_{\varepsilon})_t T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) = \int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u_{\varepsilon}(t)) - \int_{\Omega} \psi_k\left((u_0)_{\varepsilon}\right).$$
(5.1.37)

Moreover it results

$$\frac{1}{2} |T_k(s)|^2 \le \psi_k(s) \le k |s|, \quad \forall k > 0.$$
(5.1.38)

Using (5.1.38), by(5.1.37) we get

$$\iint_{Qt} (u_{\varepsilon})_t T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \ge \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 - k \int_{\Omega} |(u_0)_{\varepsilon}|.$$
(5.1.39)

By (5.1.35), (5.1.39), (5.0.97) we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + \alpha \iint_{Qt} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \le \iint_{Qt} c(x,t) |u_{\varepsilon}|^{\gamma} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})| + k \iint_{\Omega} |(u_0)_{\varepsilon}| + k \iint_{Qt} f_{\varepsilon}.$$
(5.1.40)

If we take the supremum for  $t \in (0, t_1)$  and we define

$$M = \|u_0\|_{L^1(\Omega)} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1(Q_T)}, \qquad (5.1.41)$$

inequality (5.1.40) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2} \sup_{t \in (0,t_1)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + \alpha \iint_{Q_{t_1}} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \le Mk + \iint_{Q_{t_1}} c(x,t) |u_{\varepsilon}|^{\gamma} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|.$$
(5.1.42)

By Gagliardo-Niremberg and Young inequalities we have

$$\iint_{Qt_1} c(x,t) |u_{\varepsilon}|^{\gamma} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})| \leq C \frac{\gamma}{N+2} ||c(x,t)||_{L^{\tau}(Q_{t_1})} \sup_{t \in (0,t_1)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + C \frac{N+2-\gamma}{N+2} ||c(x,t)||_{L^{\tau}(Q_{t_1})} \left(\iint_{Q_{t_1}} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p\right)^{\left(\frac{1}{p} + \frac{N\gamma}{(N+2)p}\right) \frac{N+2}{N+2-\gamma}}.$$
(5.1.43)

Since 
$$\gamma = \frac{(N+2)}{N+p}(p-1)$$
, using (5.1.42) and (5.1.43) we obtain  

$$\frac{1}{2} \sup_{t \in (0,t_1)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + \alpha \iint_{Q_{t_1}} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \leq Mk + C \frac{\gamma}{N+2} \|c(x,t)\|_{L^{\tau}(Q_{t_1})} \sup_{t \in (0,t_1)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + C \frac{N+2-\gamma}{N+2} \|c(x,t)\|_{L^{\tau}(Q_{t_1})} \iint_{Q_{t_1}} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p,$$

that is equivalent to

$$\left[\frac{1}{2} - C\frac{\gamma}{N+2} \|c(x,t)\|_{L^{\tau}(Q_{t_1})}\right] \sup_{t \in (0,t_1)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + \left[\alpha - \frac{N+2-\gamma}{N+2} \|c(x,t)\|_{L^{\tau}(Q_{t_1})}\right] \iint_{Q_{t_1}} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \le Mk$$

If we choose  $t_1$  such that

$$\frac{1}{2} - C \frac{\gamma}{N+2} \|c(x,t)\|_{L^{\tau}(Q_{t_1})}$$
(5.1.44)

and

$$\alpha - \frac{N+2-\gamma}{N+2} \|c(x,t)\|_{L^{\tau}(Q_{t_1})}$$
(5.1.45)

are positive. Let us denote by C the minimum between (5.1.44) and (5.1.45), we have

$$\sup_{t \in (0,t_1)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + \iint_{Q_{t_1}} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \le CMk.$$
(5.1.46)

The last inequality allows us to deduce apriori bounds for the solutions  $u_{\varepsilon}$  and its gradient  $\nabla u_{\varepsilon}$ . In fact, by Lemma 5.1.3 we obtain apriori estimates for  $u_{\varepsilon}$  and  $\nabla u_{\varepsilon}$ on the cylinder  $Q_{t_1}$  in term of M. Here we use the same technique used in [77]. If we consider a partition of the entire interval [0, T] into a finite number of intervals  $[0, t_1]$ ,  $[t_1, t_2], ..., [t_{n-1}, T]$  such that for each interval  $[t_{i-1}, t_i]$  the condition (5.1.45) holds we deduce that

$$|u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1} \in L^{m}(Q_{T}) \quad \text{with } m < \frac{p(N+1) - N}{N(p-1)},$$
 (5.1.47)

and

$$|\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p-1} \in L^{s}(Q_{T}) \quad \text{with } s < \frac{p(N+1) - N}{(N+1)(p-1)}.$$
 (5.1.48)

Step 3. Now we proceed as in [25]; we report the proof for sake of completeness. By (5.1.46) it follows that

$$T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$$
 is bounded in  $L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)),$  (5.1.49)

and

+

$$T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$$
 is bounded in  $L^{\infty}((0,T); L^1(\Omega)),$  (5.1.50)

indipendently of  $\varepsilon$  for any  $k\geq 0$  so there exists a subsequence still denoted by  $u_{\varepsilon}$ 

$$T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \rightarrow T_k(u) \quad \text{in } L^p((0,T); W_0^p(\Omega)).$$
 (5.1.51)

Moreover, proceeding as in [23], [26] is possible to prove that for any  $S \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ with S' compact the term

$$\frac{\partial S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t} \text{ is bounded in } L^1(Q_T) + L^{p'}((0,T); W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)), \qquad (5.1.52)$$

indipendently of  $\varepsilon$ . In fact, by pointwise moltiplication of  $S'(u_{\varepsilon})$  in the equation (5.1.30) we have

$$\frac{\partial S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'(u_{\varepsilon})) + S''(u_{\varepsilon})a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div}(K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon})S'(u_{\varepsilon})) - S''(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} = f_{\varepsilon}S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \quad in \ D'(\Omega).$$
(5.1.53)

Now each term in (5.1.53) is taking into account. Because of (5.1.2), (5.1.31), and (5.1.50) the term  $-\operatorname{div}(a(x,t,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'(u_{\varepsilon})) + S''(u_{\varepsilon})a(x,t,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} + f_{\varepsilon}S'(u_{\varepsilon})$  is bounded in  $L^{1}(Q_{T}) + L^{p'}((0,T); W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))$  indipendently of  $\varepsilon$ . If we recall that  $S'(u_{\varepsilon})$ has a compact support contained in [-k,k], by (5.1.34) it follows that for  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{k}$ 

$$\left| \iint_{Q_T} K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon})^{p'} S'(u_{\varepsilon})^{p'} \right| \leq \iint_{Q_T} c(x,t)^{p'} \left| T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{p'\gamma} \left| S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{p'} = \\ \iint_{|u_{\varepsilon}| \leq k} c(x,t)^{p'} \left| T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{p'\gamma} \left| S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{p'},$$

Furthermore, by Hölder and Gagliardo- Niremberg inequality, it results

$$\iint_{|u_{\varepsilon}| \le k} c(x,t)^{p'} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^{p'\gamma} |S'(u_{\varepsilon})|^{p'} \le \|c(x,t)\|_{L^{\tau}(Q_T)}^{p'} \left[ \left( \sup_{t \in (0,T)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 \right)^{\frac{p}{N}} + \iint_{Q_T} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \right] \le c_k$$

where  $c_k$  is a constant indipendently of  $\varepsilon$  which will vary from line to line. In the same way, by (5.1.34) we have

$$\left| \iint_{Q_T} \left( S''(u_{\varepsilon}) K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right)^{p'} \right| \leq \iint_{Q_T} S''(u_{\varepsilon})^{p'} \left| c(x, t) \right|^{p'} \left| T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{\gamma p'} \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p'}.$$
(5.1.54)

Furthermore, for  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{k}$ , by Hölder and Gagliardo-Niremberg inequality we deduce that

$$\iint_{Q_T} S''(u_{\varepsilon})^{p'} |c(x,t)|^{p'} \left| T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{\gamma p'} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{p'} = \iint_{Q_T} S''(u_{\varepsilon})^{p'} |c(x,t)|^{p'} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^{\gamma p'} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^{p'} \le c_k.$$

Now we want to prove an estimate which will be useful to prove (5.1.10). For any integer  $n \ge 1$  let us consider the function

$$\theta_n(r) = T_{n+1}(r) - T_n(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } |r| \le n \\ (|r| - n) \operatorname{sign}(r) & \text{if } n \le |r| \le n+1 \\ \operatorname{sign} r & \text{if } |r| \ge n+1. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.55)

We observe that  $||T_{n+1}(r) - T_n(r)||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})} \leq 1$  for any  $n \geq 1$  and for any  $r, T_{n+1}(r) - T_n(r) \longrightarrow 0$  when  $n \longrightarrow +\infty$ . Using  $\theta_n(u_{\varepsilon})$  as test function in (5.1.30), by (5.1.34) and Young inequality we get

$$\int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})(T) + \iint_{Q_{t}} a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \theta_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \\ \iint_{Q_{t}} c(x, t) \left| T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{\gamma} \left| \nabla \theta_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right| + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_{n}(u_{0})_{\varepsilon} + \iint_{Q_{t}} f_{\varepsilon} \theta_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}),$$
(5.1.56)

for almost  $t \in (0, T)$ , where

$$\tilde{\theta}_n(r) = \int\limits_0^r \theta_n(s) ds.$$

Since  $\theta_n \ge 0$  and for  $\varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1}$ 

$$a_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) = a(x,t,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon})$$
 a.e. in  $Q_t$ ,

inequality (5.1.56) implies that

$$\iint_{Q_t} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \iint_{Q_t} c(x, t) \left| T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{\gamma} \left| \nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \right| + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_n(u_0)_{\varepsilon} + \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon} \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}),$$
(5.1.57)

a.e.  $t \in (0,T)$ , for  $\varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1}$ . On the other hand, the boundedness of  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  (5.1.49), (5.1.52) and the apriori estimate of  $u_{\varepsilon}$ , in the the Lorentz spaces imply that there exists a subsequence, still denoted by  $u_{\varepsilon}$ , such that

$$u_{\varepsilon} \to u \text{ a.e. in } Q_T,$$
 (5.1.58)

where u is a measurable function defined on  $Q_T$  (we follow the same procedure used in [23], [26]). Furthermore, by definition of  $\theta_n$ , we get

$$\theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \rightharpoonup \theta_n(u) \text{ weakly in } L^p((0,T); W_0^p(\Omega)).$$
(5.1.59)

Since  $a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))$  is bounded in  $(L^{p'}(Q_T))^N$  indipendently of  $\varepsilon$  for  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{k}$ , it follows that

$$a_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) \rightharpoonup \sigma_k$$
 weakly in  $\left(L^{p'}(Q_T)\right)^N$ , (5.1.60)

when  $\varepsilon$  goes to zero for any k > 0 and  $n \ge 1$  and  $\sigma_k$  belongs to  $(L^{p'}(Q_T))^N$  for any k > 0.

Let us prove that u belongs to  $L^{\infty}(0,T;L^{1}(\Omega))$ . If we take  $T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon})$  as test function in (5.1.30), by (5.1.34) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u_{\varepsilon})(t) + \iint_{Qt} a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \iint_{Qt} |c(x, t)| \left| T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{\gamma} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|$$

$$+ \int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u_0)_{\varepsilon} + \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon} T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$$
(5.1.61)

for almost  $t \in (0,T)$  and  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{k}$ . By Hölder and Gagliardo-Niremberg inequality we have

$$\iint_{Qt} |c(x,t)| \left| T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{\gamma} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})| \le \|c(x,t)\|_{L^{\tau}(Q_t)} \left( \sup_{t \in (0,T)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 \right)^{\frac{p-1}{N+p}} (5.1.62)$$

$$\times \||\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|\|_{L^p(Q_t)}^{\frac{p(N+1)}{N+p}} \le c_k.$$
(5.1.63)

Howevere, by (5.1.38) it follows that

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u_0)_{\varepsilon} + \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon} T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \int_{\Omega} |(u_0)_{\varepsilon}| + k \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon}.$$
(5.1.64)

Using (5.1.62), (5.1.64) in (5.1.61), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u_{\varepsilon})(t) \le c_k + \int_{\Omega} |(u_0)_{\varepsilon}| + k \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon}.$$

Finally, by (5.1.32), (5.1.33) it is possible to pass to the lim inf in the previous inequality as  $\varepsilon$  goes to 0 and to obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u)(t) \le k \left[ \|f\|_{L^1(Q_T)} + \|u_0\|_{L^1(Q_T)} \right] + c_k.$$

Thanks to the definition of  $\psi_k$ , the last inequality becomes

$$k \int_{\Omega} |u(x,t)| \leq \frac{3}{2} k^2 |\Omega| + k \left[ \|f\|_{L^1(Q_T)} + \|u_0\|_{L^1(Q_T)} \right] + c_k,$$

for almost any  $t \in (0, T)$ , which shows that  $u \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{1}(\Omega))$ .

Now, coming back to (5.1.57), for  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1}$  we have

$$\iint_{Q_T} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \iint_{n \leq |u_{\varepsilon}| \leq n+1} c(x, t) |T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon})|^{\gamma} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}| + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_n(u_0)_{\varepsilon} + \iint_{Q_T} f_{\varepsilon} \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}).$$

Using the weakly convergence of  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  and the pointwise convergence of  $u_{\varepsilon}$  it follows that

$$\overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \iint_{Q_T} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \iint_{n \leq |u_{\varepsilon}| \leq n+1} c(x, t) |T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon})|^{\gamma} |\nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon})| + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_n(u_0) + \iint_{Q_T} f \theta_n(u).$$
(5.1.65)

On the other hand, since  $\nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) = \chi_{\{n \leq |u_{\varepsilon}| \leq n+1\}} \nabla u_{\varepsilon}$  a.e. in  $Q_T$ , by Young inequality

$$\iint_{n \le |u_{\varepsilon}| \le n+1} c(x,t) \left| T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{\gamma} \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \le \frac{\alpha^{-\frac{p'}{p}}}{p'} \iint_{n \le |u_{\varepsilon}| \le n+1} c(x,t)^{p'} \left| T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{p'\gamma} + \frac{\alpha}{p} \iint_{Q_{T}} \left| \nabla \theta_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{p}.$$
(5.1.66)

Using (5.1.66) in (5.1.65), the weak convergence of  $\theta_n(u_{\varepsilon})$  and (??) imply that

$$\frac{\alpha}{p'} \iint_{Q_T} |\nabla \theta_n(u)|^p \le \iint_{Q_T} f \theta_n(u) + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_n(u_0) + \frac{\alpha^{-\frac{p'}{p}}}{p'} \iint_{n \le |u_\varepsilon| \le n+1} c(x,t) |u_\varepsilon|^{\gamma} \nabla \theta_n(u_\varepsilon).$$
(5.1.67)

The last inequality, together with the assumptions (5.1.6), (5.1.7), show that  $\theta_n(u)$ is bounded in  $L^p((0,T); W_0^p(\Omega))$  indipendently of n. Thanks to the pointwise convergence of  $\theta_n(u)$  to 0 when  $n \to +\infty$ ,  $\theta_n(u)$  goes to zero weakly in  $L^p((0,T); W_0^p(\Omega))$ as  $n \to +\infty$ . As a consequence

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \iint_{Q_T} f\theta_n(u) = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \iint_{n \le |u_{\varepsilon}| \le n+1} c(x,t)^{p'} |u|^{p'\gamma} = 0,$$

when  $n \to +\infty$ . Moreover  $\tilde{\theta}_n(u_0) \to 0$  a.e in  $\Omega$  when  $n \to +\infty$  and  $\left|\tilde{\theta}_n(u_0)\right| \leq |u_0|$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ . Since  $u_0 \in L^1(\Omega)$ , by Lebesgue's convergence Theorem we obtain for  $n \to +\infty$ 

$$\int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_n(u_0) \to 0$$

Therefore,

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \iint_{Q_T} |\nabla \theta_n(u)|^p = 0$$

Finally, passing to the limit as  $n \to +\infty$  in (5.1.65) and (5.1.67) we get

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \overline{\lim} \iint_{n \le |u_{\varepsilon}| \le n+1} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} = 0, \qquad (5.1.68)$$

and

$$\theta_n(u) \to 0 \text{ strongly in } L^p((0,T); W^{1,p}_0(\Omega))$$
(5.1.69)

as  $n \to +\infty$ .

Step 4 In this step we introduce a time reguralitation of the  $T_k(u)$  for k > 0in order to perform the monotonicity method. This kind of regularization has been introduced at the first time by R. Landes in [43] and can be defined as follows. Let be  $v_0^{\mu}$  a sequence of functions defined on  $\Omega$  such that

$$v_0^{\mu} \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{1,p}(\Omega) \text{ for all } \mu > 0,$$
 (5.1.70)

$$\|v_0^{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \le k \quad \forall \mu > 0,$$
 (5.1.71)

$$v_0^{\mu} \to T_k(u_0)$$
 a.e. in  $\Omega$  and  $\frac{1}{\mu} \|\nabla v_0^{\mu}\|_{L^p(\Omega)}^p \to 0$ , as  $\mu$  tends to  $+\infty$ . (5.1.72)

Existence of such subsequence  $(v_0^{\mu})$  is easy to establish [40]. For fixed  $k \ge 0$  and  $\mu > 0$ , the monotone problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial (T_k(u))_{\mu}}{\partial t} + \mu((T_k(u))_{\mu} - T_k(u)) = 0 & \text{in } D'(Q_T) \\ (T_k(u))_{\mu}(t=0) = v_0^{\mu} & \text{in } \Omega. \end{cases}$$
(5.1.73)

admits a unique solution  $(T_k(u))_{\mu} \in L^{\infty}(Q_T) \cap L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$ . We observe that

$$\frac{\partial (T_k(u))_{\mu}}{\partial t} \in L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)).$$
(5.1.74)
The behavior of  $(T_k(u))_{\mu}$  as  $\mu \to \infty$  has been proved in [43], [40], [33]. Here we just recall that from (5.1.70) - (5.1.73), it follows that

$$(T_k(u))_{\mu} \to T_k(u)$$
 a.e. in  $Q_{T_i}$  in  $L^{\infty}(Q_T)$  weakly-\* and  
strongly in  $L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$  as  $\mu \to +\infty$ , (5.1.75)

$$\|(T_k(u))_{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_T)} \le \max\left(\|T_k(u)\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_T)}, \|v_0^{\mu}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}\right) \le k,$$
(5.1.76)

for any  $\mu > 0$  and any  $k \ge 0$ . This definition of  $(T_k(u))_{\mu}$  allows us to prove the following lemma whose proof can be found in [25]

**Lemma 5.1.5** Let  $k \ge 0$  be fixed. Let S be an increasing  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ -function such that S(r) = r for  $|r| \le k$  and  $\sup pS'$  is compact. Then

$$\lim_{\mu \to +\infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} < \frac{\partial (S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t}, (T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) - (T_{k}(u))_{\mu}) > \ge 0,$$

where  $\langle .,. \rangle$  denotes the duality pairing between  $L^1(\Omega) + W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)$  and  $L^{\infty}(\Omega) \cap W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)$ .

Step 5. In this step we prove a lemma which is the critical point in the development of the monotonicity method .

**Lemma 5.1.6** The subsequence of  $u_{\varepsilon}$  satisfies for any  $k \geq 0$ 

$$\overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon})) \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\Omega}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{k} \nabla T_{k}(u),$$

where  $\sigma_k$  is defined in (5.1.60).

### Proof

Let be  $S_n$  a sequence of increasing  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ -function such that

$$S_n(r) = r \quad \text{for } |r| \le n, \tag{5.1.77}$$

$$suppS'_n \subset [-(n+1), (n+1)],$$
 (5.1.78)

$$\|S_n''\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})} \le 1, \tag{5.1.79}$$

for any  $n \geq 1$ . By pointwise multiplication of  $S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})$  in we have

$$\frac{\partial S_n(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})) + S''_n(u_{\varepsilon})a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div}(K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon})S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})) - S''_n(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} = f_{\varepsilon}S'_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \quad \text{in } D'(\Omega).$$

We observe that  $\frac{\partial S_n(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t} \in L^1(Q_T) + L^{p'}(0,T); W^{-1,p'}(\Omega)).$ 

For  $k \geq 0$ , let us consider

$$W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} = T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) - (T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))_{\mu}, \qquad (5.1.80)$$

where  $(T_k(u))_{\mu}$  has been defined in (5.1.73). If we integrate over (0, t) and (0, T) we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{0}^{t} \langle \frac{\partial(S(u_{\varepsilon}))}{\partial t}, W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \rangle + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega}^{t} a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega}^{t} S''_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega}^{t} K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}) S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega}^{t} \int_{\Omega} K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}) S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon}$$

$$- \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} S''_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} = \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon}.$$
(5.1.81)

Now we pass to the limit in (5.1.81) as  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0,  $\mu$  tends to  $+\infty$  and then n tends to  $+\infty$  for k real number fixed. In particular we want to prove that for any fixed  $k \ge 0$ 

$$\lim_{\mu \to +\infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} < \frac{\partial(S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t}, W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} > \ge 0 \quad \text{for any } n \ge k,$$
(5.1.82)

$$\lim_{\mu \to +\infty\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{0}^{T} \iint_{0}^{t} \iint_{\Omega} K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}) S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} = 0 \quad \text{for any } n \ge 1,$$
(5.1.83)

$$\lim_{\mu \to +\infty\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{0}^{T} \iint_{0}^{t} \iint_{\Omega} S_{n}''(u_{\varepsilon}) K_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} = 0 \quad \text{for any } n \ge 1,$$
(5.1.84)

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty\mu \to +\infty} \overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} S_{n}''(u_{\varepsilon}) a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \right| = 0, \qquad (5.1.85)$$

$$\lim_{\mu \to +\infty} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{0}^{I} \iint_{\Omega} f_{\varepsilon} S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} = 0 \quad \text{for any } n \ge 1.$$
 (5.1.86)

The proof of (5.1.82) can be easily obtained by appling Lemma 5.1.5 to the function  $S_n$  for any fixed  $n \ge k$ . Let us recall the main properties of  $W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu}$ . In view of (5.1.58), (5.1.80), (5.1.51), for any fixed  $\mu > 0$ 

$$W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} \rightharpoonup T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) - (T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))_{\mu}$$
 weakly in  $L^p((0,T); W^{1,p}_0(\Omega)),$ 

as  $\varepsilon$  goes to 0. Then by (5.1.75), (5.1.76) we have

$$\left\|W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon}\right\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_T)} \le 2k, \text{ for any } \varepsilon > 0 \text{ and for any } \mu > 0.$$
 (5.1.87)

From (5.1.80), (5.1.87) we deduce that for fixed  $\mu > 0$ 

$$W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} \rightharpoonup T_k(u) - (T_k(u))_{\mu}$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$  and in  $L^{\infty}(Q_T)$  weakly-\*, (5.1.88)

when  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

Let us prove (5.1.83). For any fixed  $n \ge 1$  and  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1}$  it results

$$S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon})\nabla W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} = S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}))\nabla W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} \text{ a.e. in } Q_T,$$

since  $suppS' \subset [-(n+1), n+1]$ . On the other hand,

$$S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon})) \longrightarrow S'_n(u)K(x,t,T_{n+1}(u))$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ ,

and

$$|S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}))| \le c(x,t)(n+1)^{\gamma}$$
 for  $n \ge 1$ 

By (5.1.77) and the strongly convergence of  $(T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))_{\mu}$  in  $L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$  we obtain (5.1.83)

Proof (5.1.84). For any fixed  $n \geq 1$  and  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1}$ 

$$S_n''(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon}W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} = S_n''(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}))\nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon})W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \text{ a.e. in } Q_T,$$

as in the previous step it is possible to pass to the limit for  $\varepsilon \longrightarrow 0$  since, by (5.1.87), (5.1.58), (5.1.88)

$$S_n''(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}))W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow S_n''(u)K(x,t,T_{n+1}(u))W_{\mu}$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ ,

and

$$|S_n''(u)K(x,t,T_{n+1}(u))W_{\mu}| \le 2k |c(x,t)| (n+1)^{\gamma}.$$

Finally by (5.1.77) we obtain (5.1.84).

Let us prove (5.1.85). Due to (5.1.77), (5.1.78)  $suppS' \subset [-(n+1), -n] \cup [n, n+1]$ for any  $n \ge 1$ , as a consequence

$$\left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} S_{n}''(u_{\varepsilon}) a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \right| \leq T \left\| S_{n}''(u_{\varepsilon}) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})} \left\| W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_{T})} \int_{\{n \leq |u_{\varepsilon}| \leq n+1\}} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon},$$

for any  $n \ge 1$ , any  $\varepsilon \le \frac{1}{n+1}$  and any  $\mu > 0$ . The above inequality together with (5.1.79) and (5.1.87) make it possible to obtain

$$\lim_{\mu \to +\infty} \overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} S_{n}''(u_{\varepsilon}) a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \right| \leq C \overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \left| \int_{\{n \leq |u_{\varepsilon}| \leq n+1\}} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|,$$

for any  $n \geq 1$ , where C is indipendently of  $\varepsilon$ .

By (5.1.68) it is possible to pass to the limit as n tends to  $+\infty$  and to establish (5.1.85).

Proof of (5.1.86). By (5.1.32), the pointwise convergence of  $u_{\varepsilon}$  and  $W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu}$  and its boundness it is possible to pass to the limit for  $\varepsilon \longrightarrow 0$  for any  $\mu > 0$  and any  $n \ge 1$ 

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega f_\varepsilon S'_n(u_\varepsilon) W_\mu^\varepsilon = \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega f S'_n(u) (T_k(u) - T_k(u))_\mu).$$

Now for fixed  $n \ge 1$ , using (5.1.76) it possible to pass to the limit as  $\mu$  tends to  $+\infty$  in the above equality.

Now we turn back to the proof of Lemma 5.2.4. Due to (5.1.82) - (5.1.86) we can to pass to the limit-sup when  $\varepsilon$  tends to zero, then to the limit-sup when  $\mu$  tends to  $+\infty$ and to the limit as n tends to  $+\infty$  in (5.1.81). Using the definiton of  $W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu}$  we deduce that for any  $k \ge 0$ 

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \lim_{\mu \to +\infty} \lim_{\mu \to +\infty} \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega S'_n(u_\varepsilon) a_\varepsilon(u_\varepsilon, \nabla u_\varepsilon) (\nabla T_k(u_\varepsilon) - \nabla (T_k(u))_\mu) \le 0.$$

Since  $S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) = a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla (T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \text{ for } k \leq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \text{ and } k \leq n$ , using the properties of  $S'_n$  the above inequality implies that for  $k \leq n$ 

$$\overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega a_\varepsilon(x, t, u_\varepsilon, \nabla u_\varepsilon) \nabla T_k(u_\varepsilon) \leq \lim_{n \to +\infty} \lim_{\mu \to +\infty} \overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega (S'_n(u_\varepsilon) a_\varepsilon(x, t, u_\varepsilon, \nabla u_\varepsilon) (\nabla T_k(u_\varepsilon))_\mu$$
(5.1.89)

On the other hand, for  $\varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{n+1}$ 

$$S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})a_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon}) = S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})a(x,t,T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon})) \text{ a.e. in } Q_{T}.$$

Furthermore by (5.1.60) it follows that for fixed  $n \ge 1$ 

$$S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})a_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \to S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})\sigma_{n+1}$$
 weakly in  $L^{p'}(Q_{T})$ 

when  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0. Finally, using the strong convergence of  $(T_k(u))_{\mu}$  to  $T_k(u)$  in  $L^p(0,T; W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$  as  $\mu$  tends to  $+\infty$ , we get

$$\lim_{\mu \to +\infty\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{t \to 0} \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_{\Omega} (S'_n(u_{\varepsilon}) a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) (\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))_{\mu} = \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_{\Omega} S'_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \sigma_{n+1} \nabla T_k(u) (5.1.90)$$

as soon as  $k \leq n$  since (5.1.77) implies that  $S'_n(r) = 1$  for  $|r| \leq n$ . Now for  $k \leq n$  we have

$$a(x,t,T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}))\chi_{\{|u_{\varepsilon}|\leq k\}} = a(x,t,T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}))\chi_{\{|u_{\varepsilon}|\leq k\}} \text{ a.e. in } Q_{T},$$

which implies that , by (5.1.58), (5.1.60), passing to the limit when  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0,

$$\sigma_{n+1}\chi_{\{|u|\leq k\}} = \sigma_k\chi_{\{|u|\leq k\}} \text{ a.e. in } Q_T - \{|u|=k\} \text{ for } k\leq n.$$
(5.1.91)

Finally, by (5.1.91) and (5.1.60) we have for  $k \leq n$ ,

$$\sigma_{n+1} \nabla T_k(u) = \sigma_k \nabla T_k(u)$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ .

Recalling (5.1.89), (5.1.90) the proof of lemma is complete.

Step 6. In this step we prove that u satisfies the equation (5.1.11). First of all we prove that the weak limit  $\sigma_k$  of  $a(x, t, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))$  can be identified with  $a(x, t, T_k(u), \nabla T_k(u))$ . In order to prove this result we recall the following lemma:

Lemma 5.1.7 The subsequence satisfies the following condition for any 
$$k \ge 0$$
  

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega [a(x, t, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) - a(x, t, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u))] \times [\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) - \nabla T_k(u)] = 0$$
(5.1.92)

# Proof

Let  $k \ge 0$  be fixed. By (5.0.97) we have

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega \left[ a(x, t, T_k(u_\varepsilon), \nabla T_k(u_\varepsilon)) - a(x, t, T_k(u_\varepsilon), \nabla T_k(u)) \right] \times \left[ \nabla T_k(u_\varepsilon) - \nabla T_k(u) \right] \ge 0.$$
(5.1.93)

Furthermore, by (5.1.2) (5.1.58) we have

$$a(x, t, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u)) \longrightarrow a(x, t, T_k(u), \nabla T_k(u))$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ ,

and

$$|a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))| \le \nu \left[h(x,t) + |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^{p-1}\right]$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ ,

uniformly with respect to  $\varepsilon$ . As a consequence

$$a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u)) \longrightarrow a(x,t,T_k(u),\nabla T_k(u))$$
 strongly in  $(L^{p'}(Q_T))^N$ . (5.1.94)

Finally, by Lemma 5.2.4, (5.1.58), (5.1.60) and (5.1.94) make it possible to pass to the limit-sup as  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0 in (5.1.93) and we have (5.1.92).

**Lemma 5.1.8** For fixed  $k \ge 0$ , we have

$$\sigma_k = a(x, t, T_k(u), \nabla T_k(u)) \ a.e. \ in \ Q_T, \tag{5.1.95}$$

and as  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0

$$a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \rightharpoonup a(x,t,T_k(u),\nabla T_k(u))\nabla T_k(u)$$
(5.1.96)

weakly in  $L^1((0,T) \times \Omega)$ .

**Proof.** We observe that for any k > 0, any  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{k}$  and any  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ 

$$a_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\xi) = a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\xi) = a_{\frac{1}{k}}(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\xi)$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ .

By (5.1.51), (5.1.92)

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega a_{\frac{1}{k}}(x, t, T_k(u_\varepsilon), \nabla T_k(u_\varepsilon)) \nabla T_k(u_\varepsilon) = \int_0^T \int_0^t \int_\Omega \sigma_k \nabla T_k(u).$$
(5.1.97)

Since, for fixed k > 0, the function  $a_{\frac{1}{k}}(x, t, s, \xi)$  is continuous and bounded with respect to s, the usual Minty's argument applies in view of (5.1.51), (5.1.60), and (5.1.97). It follows that (5.1.95) holds true (the case k = 0 being trivial). In order to prove (5.1.96), by (5.0.97) and (5.1.92) give that for any  $k \ge 0$  and any T' < T

$$[a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) - a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u))] \times [\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) - \nabla T_k(u)] \longrightarrow 0$$

strongly in  $L^1((0,T) \times \Omega)$  as  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0. Moreover by (5.1.51), (5.1.60), (5.1.94), and (5.1.95) we have

$$a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))\nabla T_k(u) \rightharpoonup a(x,t,T_k(u),\nabla T_k(u))\nabla T_k(u)$$
 weakly in  $L^1(Q_T)$ ,

and

$$a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u))\nabla T_k(u) \longrightarrow a(x,t,T_k(u),\nabla T_k(u))\nabla T_k(u)$$
 strongly in  $L^1(Q_T)$ ,

as  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0.

Using the above convergence result in (5.1.97) shows that for any  $k \geq 0$  and any T' < T

$$a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \rightharpoonup a(x,t,T_k(u),\nabla T_k(u))\nabla T_k(u)$$
(5.1.98)

weakly in  $L^1((0,T')\times\Omega)$  as  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0.

In order to extend the functions  $a(x, t, s, \xi)$ , f on a time interval  $(0, \overline{T})$  with  $\overline{T} > T$  in such a way that (5.0.97), (5.0.99), 5.1.2 - (5.1.7) hold true with  $\overline{T}$  in place of T, we can show that the convergence result (5.1.98) is still valid in  $L^1(Q_T)$  weak, namely that (5.1.98) holds true.

Now we prove that u satisfies (5.1.10). To this end we remark that for any fixed  $n \ge 0$  we have

$$\iint_{\{n \le |u_{\varepsilon}| \le n+1\}} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} = \iint_{Q_{T}} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) (\nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}) - \nabla T_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})) =$$
$$= \iint_{Q_{T}} a(x, t, T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon})) (\nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}) - \nabla T_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})) +$$
$$- \iint_{Q_{T}} a(x, t, T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon})) \nabla T_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}).$$

According to (5.1.96), one is at liberty to pass to the limit as  $\varepsilon$  tends to 0 for fixed  $n \ge 0$  and to obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{\{n \le |u_{\varepsilon}| \le n+1\}} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} = \iint_{Q_T} a(x, t, T_{n+1}(u), \nabla T_{n+1}(u)) \nabla T_{n+1}(u)$$
$$-\iint_{Q_T} a(x, t, T_n(u), \nabla T_n(u)) \nabla T_n(u) = \iint_{\{n \le |u| \le n+1\}} a(x, t, u, \nabla u) \nabla u.$$
(5.1.99)

Taking the limit as n tends to  $+\infty$  in (5.1.99) and using the estimate (5.1.68) show that u satisfies (5.1.10). Our aim is to prove that u satisfies (5.1.11) and (5.1.12). Now we want to prove that u satisfies the equation (5.1.11). Let be S a function in  $W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  such that  $suppS' \subset [-k,k]$  where k is a real positive number. In the following we show how it is possible to pass to the limit in (5.1.53). Since  $u_{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow u$ a.e. in  $Q_T$  and in  $L^{\infty}(Q_T)$  weak-\*, using the boundness of  $S(u_{\varepsilon})$  it follows that  $\frac{\partial S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t} \longrightarrow \frac{\partial S(u)}{\partial t}$  in  $D'(\Omega)$ . We observe that the term  $a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})$  can be identified with  $a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, T_k(u_{\varepsilon}), \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))$  for  $\varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{k}$ , so using the pointwise convergence of  $u_{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow u$  in  $Q_T$ , the weakly convergence of  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \rightharpoonup T_k(u)$  in  $L^p((0,T); W_0^p(\Omega))$  we get

$$a_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \rightharpoonup a(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),\nabla T_k(u))S'(u)$$
 in  $L^{p'}(Q_T)$ 

and

$$S''(u_{\varepsilon})a_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon},\nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} \rightharpoonup S''(u)a(x,t,T_k(u),\nabla T_k(u))\nabla T_k(u)$$
 in  $L^1(Q_T)$ .

Furthermore, since

$$K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon})S'(u_{\varepsilon}) = K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))S'(u_{\varepsilon})$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ ,

by (5.1.34)

$$|K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))S'(u_{\varepsilon})| \le |c(x,t)| k^{\gamma},$$

it follows that

$$K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \to K(x,t,T_k(u))S'(u)$$
 strongly in  $L^{p'}(Q_T)$ .

In a similar way, it results

$$S''(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} = S''(T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \text{ a.e. in } Q_T,$$

and

$$S''(u_{\varepsilon})K_{\varepsilon}(x,t,u_{\varepsilon}) \to S''(u)K(x,t,u)$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ ,

so, using the weakly convergence of  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  in  $L^p((0,T); W_0^p(\Omega))$  it is possible to prove that

$$S''(u_{\varepsilon})K(x,t,u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} \to S''(u)K(x,t,u)\nabla u$$
 in  $L^{1}(Q_{T})$ .

Finally by (5.1.32) we deduce that

$$f_{\varepsilon}S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow fS'(u) \quad \text{in } L^1(Q_T).$$

It remains to prove that  $S(u)(t = 0) = S(u_0)$  in  $\Omega$ . By (5.1.53) the term  $\frac{\partial S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t}$ is bounded in  $L^1(Q_T) + L^{p'}((0,T); W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))$  so by Aubin's type lemma it follows that  $S(u_{\varepsilon})$  belongs to  $C^{0}([0,T]; W^{-1,s}(\Omega))$  where  $s < \inf(p', \frac{N}{N-1})$  and  $S(u_{\varepsilon})(t = 0) = S(u_{0})_{\varepsilon}$  converges to S(u)(t = 0) strongly in  $W^{-1,s}(\Omega)$ . Using (5.1.33) and the boundeness of S we have

$$S(u_0)_{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow S(u_0)$$
 strongly in  $L^d(\Omega), \ d < \infty$ ,

and then  $S(u_0) = S(u)(t = 0)$ .

## **5.1.2** Existence result for problem (5.1.13)

In this section we prove the existence of a renormalized solution to problem (5.1.13). The result contained in [55] is the following:

**Theorem 5.1.9** Under the hypotheses (5.0.97), (5.0.99), (5.1.2), (5.1.6), (5.1.7), (5.1.14) - (5.1.16) there exists a renormalized solution of (5.1.13).

### Proof

Here we follow the same technique used in the previous section. We divide the proof into several steps.

**Proof.** Step 1 Let us consider the approximated problem

where

$$H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\eta) = T_{\frac{1}{\varepsilon}}(x,t,\eta), \qquad (5.1.101)$$

$$|H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\eta)| \le b(x,t) |\eta|^{\delta}$$
, and  $|H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\eta)| \le \varepsilon$ , (5.1.102)

and  $a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})$ ,  $f_{\varepsilon}$  and  $(u_0)_{\varepsilon}$  have been defined in (5.1.31), (5.1.32), (5.1.33).

Under the assumptions (5.1.32), (5.1.33), (5.1.102), (5.1.101) the problem (5.1.100)admits a unique solution  $u_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(0, T; L^{2}(\Omega)) \cap L^{p}(0, T; W_{0}^{1,p}(\Omega)).$  Step 2 In this step we obtain the apriori estimates for the solution  $u_{\varepsilon}$  and its gradient  $\nabla u_{\varepsilon}$ . To this end, let us consider  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  as test function in (5.1.100) and we integrate between (0, t), where  $t \in (0, t_1)$  and  $t_1 \in (0, T)$  will be choosen later, by (5.1.102) we have

$$\iint_{Q_t} (u_{\varepsilon})_t T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) + \iint_{Q_t} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$$

$$\leq \iint_{Q_t} b(x, t) |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^{\delta} T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) + \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon} T_k(u_{\varepsilon}).$$
(5.1.103)

Using (5.0.97), (5.1.39) and Hölder inequality we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + \alpha \iint_{Q_t} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \le k \int_{\Omega} |(u_0)_{\varepsilon}|^2 + k \|b\|_{L^r(Q_t)} \left\| |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^s(Q_t)}^{\frac{\delta}{p-1}} + k \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1(Q_t)}.$$
(5.1.104)

Taking the supremum for  $t \in (0, t_1)$  inequality (5.1.104) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2} \sup_{t \in (0,t_1)} \int_{\Omega} |T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^2 + \alpha \iint_{Q_{t_1}} |\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \le M_1 k, \qquad (5.1.105)$$

where

$$M_{1} = \|b\|_{L^{r}(Q_{t_{1}})} \left\| \left| \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{s}(Q_{t_{1}})}^{\frac{\delta}{p-1}} + \sup_{\varepsilon} \|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}(Q_{T})} + \|u_{0}\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)},$$

for  $s < \frac{p(N+1)-N}{(N+1)(p-1)}$ . By Lemma 5.1.3 we get

$$\left\| \left\| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right\|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{s}(Q_{T})} \leq C \left[ \sup_{\varepsilon} \left\| f_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{1}(Q_{T})} + \left\| u_{0} \right\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} \right]^{\frac{(N+2)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} + C \left( \left\| b \right\|_{L^{r}(Q_{t_{1}})} \right)^{\frac{(N+2)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} \left( \iint_{Q_{t_{1}}} \left| \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{(p-1)s} + 1 \right)^{\frac{\delta}{s} \frac{(N+2)}{p(N+1)-N}},$$

for some constant C. Since  $\delta \leq \frac{p(N+1)-N}{N+2}$  it results

$$\left\| \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{s}(Q_{T})} \leq C \left[ \sup_{\varepsilon} \left\| f_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{1}(Q_{T})} + \left\| u_{0} \right\|_{L^{1}(\Omega)} \right]^{\frac{(N+2)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} +$$

$$+C\left(\|b\|_{L^{r}(Q_{t_{1}})}\right)^{\frac{(N+2)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}}\left(\iint_{Q_{t_{1}}}|\nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon})|^{(p-1)s}+1\right)^{\frac{1}{s}}.$$
(5.1.106)

If we choose  $t_1$  such that

$$1 - C \left\| b \right\|_{L^r(Q_{t_1})}^{\frac{(N+2)(p-1)}{p(N+1)-N}} > 0, \tag{5.1.107}$$

inequality (5.1.106) becomes

$$\left\| \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{s}(Q_{t_{1}})} \leq C, \quad s < \frac{p(N+1) - N}{(N+1)(p-1)},$$

for some constant C. Our aim is to obtain two apriori estimates for  $u_{\varepsilon}$  and its gradient on the entire cylinder. The technique that here we follow is the same method used in the previous section: we consider a partition of the entire interval [0, T] into a finite number of intervals  $[0, t_1], ..., [t_{n-1}, T]$  and for each of them we assume that a condition like (5.1.107) holds. In this way we obtain the apriori bounds (5.1.47). The estimate for the solution  $u_{\varepsilon}$  is a natural consequence of the last inequality. In fact, by Lemma 5.1.2, we know that

$$\left\| \left| u \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^{m}(Q_{t_{1}})} \leq C M_{1}^{\left(\frac{p}{N}+1\right) \frac{N}{N+p'}} \left| Q_{T} \right|^{\frac{1}{p'} \frac{N}{N+p'}},$$

where  $M_1$  is now indipendently on  $\varepsilon$ .

Step 3 Now we proceed as in Step 3 of the first section (see also [25]). By (5.1.105)  $T_k(u_{\varepsilon})$  is bounded indipendently of  $\varepsilon$  for any positive k, so (5.1.51) hold. Moreover, if we multiplicate by  $S'(u_{\varepsilon})$  in the equation (5.1.100), for any  $S \in W^{2,\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ such that S' is compact we have

$$\frac{\partial S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'(u_{\varepsilon})) + S''(u_{\varepsilon})a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} + S'(u_{\varepsilon})H_{\varepsilon}(x, t, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) = f_{\varepsilon}S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \quad \text{in } D'(\Omega).$$
(5.1.108)

As in the first section we observe that  $\frac{\partial S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t}$  is bounded in  $L^1(Q_T) + L^{p'}((0,T); W^{-1,p'}(\Omega))$ indipendently of  $\varepsilon$ . In fact, the term  $S'(u_{\varepsilon})H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\nabla u_{\varepsilon})$  is bounded in  $L^{p'}(Q_T)$  indipendently of  $\varepsilon$  since by

$$\iint_{Q_T} \left| S'(u_{\varepsilon}) H_{\varepsilon}(x, t, \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) \right|^{p'} \le \left\| b(x, t) \right\|_{L^r(Q_T)} \left\| \left| \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \right| \right\|_{L^p(Q_T)}^{\delta p'} \le c_k.$$

Let us prove that  $u \in L^{\infty}((0,T); L^{1}(\Omega))$ . If we take  $T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon})$  as test function in (5.1.100), by (5.1.102), we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u_{\varepsilon})(t) + \iint_{Q_t} a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \iint_{Q_t} b(x, t) |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{\delta} T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) + \int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u_0)_{\varepsilon} + \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon} T_k(u_{\varepsilon}),$$
(5.1.109)

for almost  $t \in (0,T)$  and  $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{k}$ , where  $\psi_k(s)$  is defined by (5.1.36). If we take the lim inf in the previous inequality, by (5.1.47) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \psi_k(u_{\varepsilon})(t) \le c_k + \int_{\Omega} |(u_0)_{\varepsilon}| + k \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon}$$

which implies (5.1.8).

The next step is to prove that  $\theta_n(u) \to 0$  strongly in  $L^p((0,T); W_0^{1,p}(\Omega))$ . To this end let us Let us consider  $\theta_n(u_{\varepsilon})$  where  $\theta_n(u_{\varepsilon})$  is defined by (5.1.55). Arguing as in the first section, there exists a subsequence, still denoted by  $u_{\varepsilon}$ , such that (5.1.58) hold. Furthermore, (5.1.59), (5.1.60) are valid too. If we take  $\theta_n(u_{\varepsilon})$  as test function in (5.1.100), for  $\varepsilon < \frac{1}{n+1}$ , by (5.1.102) we have

$$\int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_n(u_{\varepsilon})(T) + \iint_{Q_t} a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \\ + \iint_{Q_t} b(x, t) |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^{\delta} \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_n(u_0)_{\varepsilon} + \iint_{Q_t} f_{\varepsilon} \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}).$$
(5.1.110)

We observe that, by Hölder and Young inequality

$$\iint_{Q_T} b(x,t) \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{\delta} \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) = \iint_{|u_{\varepsilon}| \le n+1} b(x,t) \left| \nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^{\delta} \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) + (5.1.111)$$

$$+ \iint_{|u_{\varepsilon}| > n+1} b(x,t) \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{\delta} \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \le \frac{\alpha}{p} \iint_{Q_T} \left| \nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \right|^p + \frac{\alpha^{-\frac{p'}{p}}}{p'} \left( \iint_{Q_T} \left( b(x,t) \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \right)^{(\frac{p}{\delta})'} \right)^{\frac{1}{(\frac{p}{\delta})'}} + \\ + \left\| \left| \nabla u_{\varepsilon} \right|^{p-1} \right\|_{L^s(Q_T)} \left( \iint_{|u_{\varepsilon}| > n+1} b(x,t)^r \right)^{1/r}.$$

By (5.1.110) and (5.1.111) we have

$$(\alpha - \frac{\alpha}{p}) \iint_{Q_T} |\nabla \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon})|^p \le \frac{\alpha^{-\frac{p'}{p}}}{p'} \left( \iint_{Q_T} (b(x, t)\theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}))^{(\frac{p}{\delta})'} \right)^{\frac{1}{(\frac{p}{\delta})'}} + c_k \left( \iint_{|u_{\varepsilon}| > n+1} b(x, t)^r \right)^{1/r} + \int_{\Omega} \tilde{\theta}_n(u_0)_{\varepsilon} + \iint_{Q_T} f_{\varepsilon} \theta_n(u_{\varepsilon}).$$

Finally, letting  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and  $n \to +\infty$  we have

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} \iint_{Q_T} |\nabla \theta_n(u)|^p = 0.$$

As in the first section, this result imply that (5.1.68) and (5.1.69) hold.

Step 4 In this step we prove a lemma which is useful to develop the monotonicity method.

**Lemma 5.1.10** The subsequence of  $u_{\varepsilon}$  satisfies for any  $k \geq 0$ 

$$\overline{\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0}} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon})) \nabla T_{k}(u_{\varepsilon}) \leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega} \sigma_{k} \nabla T_{k}(u) du_{\varepsilon}$$

where  $\sigma_k$  is defined in (5.1.60).

**Proof.** Let be  $S_n$  a sequence of increasing  $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ -function such that (5.1.77) – (5.1.79) hold for any  $n \geq 1$ . By pointwise multiplication of  $S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})$  in we have

$$\frac{\partial S_n(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t} - \operatorname{div}(a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})) + S''_n(u_{\varepsilon})a(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})\nabla u_{\varepsilon} + H_{\varepsilon}(x, t, \nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})) = f_{\varepsilon}S'_n(u_{\varepsilon}) \quad \text{in } D'(\Omega).$$

For  $k \ge 0$ , let us consider  $W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} = T_k(u_{\varepsilon}) - (T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))_{\mu}$ , as test function, where  $(T_k(u))_{\mu}$ has been defined in (5.1.73) and we integrate over (0, t) and (0, T)

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} < \frac{\partial (S(u_{\varepsilon})}{\partial t}, W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} > + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega}^{t} a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} + \\
+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega}^{t} S''_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) a_{\varepsilon}(x, t, u_{\varepsilon}, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) \nabla u_{\varepsilon} W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega}^{t} H_{\varepsilon}(x, t, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon} = \\
= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\Omega}^{t} f_{\varepsilon} S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) W_{\mu}^{\varepsilon}.$$
(5.1.112)

Thanks to (5.1.82), (5.1.85), (5.1.86) proved in the previous section we only have to prove that

$$\lim_{\mu \to +\infty\varepsilon \to 0} \iint_{0}^{T} \iint_{0}^{t} \iint_{\Omega} H_{\varepsilon}(x, t, \nabla u_{\varepsilon}) S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon}) W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} = 0 \quad \text{for any } n \ge 1.$$
(5.1.113)

This result can be easily obtained if we observe that for  $n\geq 1$ 

$$H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} = H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon}))S'_{n}(u_{\varepsilon})W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu} \text{ a.e. in } Q_{T},$$

since  $suppS' \subset [-(n+1), (n+1)]$ . Furthermore, by (5.1.88) and (5.1.58) we have

$$S'_n(u_\varepsilon)W^\varepsilon_\mu \to S'_n(u)W_\mu$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ , (5.1.114)

which implies, thanks to the boundness character of  $S'_n(u_{\varepsilon})W^{\varepsilon}_{\mu}$ , that

$$S'_n(u_\varepsilon)W^\varepsilon_\mu \to S'_n(u)W_\mu$$
 strongly in  $L^{p'}(Q_T)$ . (5.1.115)

On the other hand, by (5.1.51)

$$H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\nabla T_{n+1}(u_{\varepsilon})) \rightharpoonup H(x,t,\nabla T_{n+1}(u)) \text{ in } L^{p}((0,T);W_{0}^{1,p}(\Omega)).$$
(5.1.116)

Finally, by (5.1.115), (5.1.116) we obtain (5.1.113).

Step 5 It remains to prove that u satisfies the equation (5.1.11). To this end let's go back to (5.1.108). The scheme that we use to pass to the limit in the previous equation is the same used in (5.1.53) except for the lower order term. Using the boundness of S, the condition (5.1.101), the pointwise convergence of  $u_{\varepsilon}$  we have

$$S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \to S'(u)$$
 strongly in  $L^p(Q_T)$ . (5.1.117)

On the other hand, for  $\varepsilon \leq \frac{1}{k}$ ,

$$H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\nabla u_{\varepsilon}) = H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon}))$$
 a.e. in  $Q_T$ ,

and

$$H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\nabla T_k(u_{\varepsilon})) \rightharpoonup H(x,t,\nabla T_k(u)) \text{ in } L^p((0,T);W_0^{1,p}(\Omega)).$$
(5.1.118)

By (5.1.118), (5.1.117) we obtain

$$H_{\varepsilon}(x,t,\nabla u_{\varepsilon})S'(u_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow H(x,t,\nabla u)S'(u) \quad \text{in } L^{1}(Q_{T}).$$



# REFERENCES

- A. Alvino, Formule di maggiorazione e regolarizzazione per soluzioni di equazioni ellittiche del secondo ordine in un caso limite, *Atti Accad. Naz. Lincei Rend. Cl. Sci. Fis. Mat. Natur. (8)*, **52** (1977), 335-340.
- [2] A. Alvino, *Linear* Elliptic Problems with non-H<sup>-1</sup> data: pathological solutions, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 187 (2008), 61-88.
- [3] A. Alvino, A. Cianchi, V. Maz'ya, A. Mercaldo, Well-posed elliptic Neumann problems involving irregular data and domains, Preparation
- [4] A. Alvino, P.L. Lions, G. Trombetti, On optimization problems with prescribed rearrangements, *Nonlinear Anal.* 13 (1989), 185-220.
- [5] A. Alvino, A. Mercaldo, Nonlinear elliptic problems with L<sup>1</sup> data: an approach via symmetrization methods, *Mediterr. J. Math.* 5 (2008), 173-185.
- [6] A. Alvino, A. Mercaldo Nonlinear elliptic equations with lower order terms and symmetrization methods, Boll Umi Mat. Ital. 1 (2008), 645-662.
- [7] A. Alvino, G. Trombetti, Sulle migliori costanti di maggiorazione per una classe di equazioni ellittiche degeneri, *Ricerche Mat.* 27 (1978), 413-428.
- [8] A. Alvino, G. Trombetti, A class of degenerate nonlinear elliptic equations, *Ricerche Mat.* 29 (1980), 2, 193-212.
- [9] A. Alvino, G. Trombetti, S. Matarasso, Elliptic boundary value problems: comparison results via symmetrization, *Ricerche Mat.* 51 (2002), 341-355.

- [10] M. Artola, Sur une classe de problèmes paraboliques quasi-linéaires, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. B 5 (1986), 1, 51-70.
- [11] M. Ben Cheikh Ali, O. Guibé, Résultats d'existence pour une classe de problèmes et non coercifs, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris 329, (1999), 967-972.
- [12] M. Ben Cheikh Ali, O. Guibé, Nonlinear and non-coercive elliptic problems with integrable data, Adv. Math. Sci. Appl. 16 (2006), 275-297.
- [13] Ph. Bénilan, L. Boccardo, Th. Gallouët, R. Gariepy, M. Pierre, J.L. Vázquez, An L<sup>1</sup> theory of existence and uniqueness of solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci (4) 22 (1995), 241-273.
- [14] Ph. Bénilan, H. Brezis, M. Crandall, A semilinear equation in L<sup>1</sup>, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa 2 (1975), 523-555.
- [15] M. F. Betta, Neumann problems: comparison results, Rend. Accad. Sci. Fis. Nat. Napoli (4) 57 (1990), 41-58.
- [16] M. F. Betta, T. Del Vecchio, M. R. Posteraro, Existence and regularity results for nonlinear degenerate elliptic equations with measure data, *Ricerche Mat.* 47 (1998), 277–295.
- [17] M. F. Betta, A. Mercaldo, Comparison and regularity result for a nonlinear elliptic equation, *Nonlinear Anal.* 20 (1993), 63-77.
- [18] M. F. Betta, A. Mercaldo, F. Murat, M.M.Porzio, Existence and uniqueness results for nonlinear elliptic problems with a lower-order term and measure data, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I 334 (2002) 757-762.
- [19] M. F. Betta, A. Mercaldo, F. Murat, M.M.Porzio, Uniqueness of renormalized solutions to nonlinear elliptic equations with lower-order term and right-hand

side in  $L^1(\Omega)$ . A tribute to J.-L. Lions. (electronic). ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 8 (2002), 239-272..

- [20] M. F. Betta, A. Mercaldo, F. Murat, M.M.Porzio, Existence of renormalized solutions to nonlinear elliptic equations with a lower-order term and right-hand side a measure, J. Math. Pures Appl. 82 (2003), 90-124
- [21] M. F. Betta, A. Mercaldo, F. Murat, M.M.Porzio, Uniqueness results for nonlinear elliptic equations with a lower-order term, *Nonlinear Anal* 63 (2005),153-170.
- [22] D. Blanchard, Truncations and monotonicity methods for parabolic equations. Nonlinear Anal. 21 (1993), 725-43.
- [23] D. Blanchard, F. Murat, Renormalized solutions of nonlinear parabolic problems with L<sup>1</sup> data: existence and uniqueness. *Proc. Roy Soc. Edinburgh Sect.*, A 127 (1997), 1137-1152.
- [24] D. Blanchard, F. Murat, H. Redwane, Existence et unicité de solution renormalisée d'un problème parabolique assez général, C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I 329 (1999), 575-80
- [25] D. Blanchard, F. Murat, H. Redwane, Existence and uniqueness of a renormalized solution for a fairly general class of nonlinear parabolic problems, J. Differential Equations 177 (2001), 331-374.
- [26] D. Blanchard, H. Redwane, Renormalized solution for a class of nonlinear evolution problems, J. Math. Pure Appl. 77 (1998), 117-151.
- [27] L. Boccardo, Some elliptic problems with degenerate coercivity. Adv. Nonlinear Stud. 6 (2006), 1-12.

- [28] L. Boccardo, Some Dirichlet problems with lower order terms in divergence form, Preprint.
- [29] L. Boccardo, A. Dall'Aglio, T. Gallouët, L. Orsina, Nonlinear parabolic equations with measure data, J. Funct. Anal. 147 (1997), 237-58.
- [30] L. Boccardo, Th. Gallouët, Nonlinear elliptic and parabolic equations involving measure data, J. Funct. Anal. 87 (1989), 149-169.
- [31] L. Boccardo, Th. Gallouët, Nonlinear elliptic equations with right hand side measures, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 17 (1992), 641-655.
- [32] L. Boccardo, T. Gallouët, Unicité de la solution de certaines équations elliptiques non linéaires, C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris, **315** (1992), 1159-1164.
- [33] L. Boccardo, Th. Gallouët, L. Orsina, Existence and uniqueness of entropy solutions for nonlinear elliptic equations with measure data, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non linèaire 13 (1996), 539-551.
- [34] L. Boccardo, D. Giachetti, J.I. Diaz and F. Murat, Existence and regularity of renormalized solutions for some elliptic problems involving derivaties of nonlinear terms. J. Differential Equations 106 (1993), 215-37.
- [35] G. Bottaro, and M.E. Marina, Problema di Dirichlet per equazioni ellittiche di tipo variazionale su insiemi non limitati, *Boll. Un. Mat. Ital.* 8 (1973), 46-56.
- [36] L. Boccardo, F. Murat and J-P. Puel. Existence result for some quasilinear parabolic equations. *Nonlinear Anal. Th. Math. Appl.* 13 (1989), 373-92.
- [37] J. Carrillo, Unicité des solutions du type Kruskov pour des problèmes elliptiques avec des termes de transport non linéaires, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 303, (1986), 189-192.

- [38] J. Carrillo, M. Chipot, On some nonlinear elliptic equations involving derivatives of the nonlinearity, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edimburg Sect. A 100 (1985), 281-294.
- [39] M. Chipot, G. Michaille, Uniqueness results and monotonicity properties for strongly nonlinear elliptic variational inequalities, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci.(4) 16 (1989), 137-166.
- [40] K. M. Chong, N. M. Rice, Equimeasurable rearrangements of functions, Queen's Papers in Pure and Applied Mathematics 28, *Queen's University, Kingston*, Ontario, (1971).
- [41] A. Cianchi, V.G. Maz'ya, Neumann problems and isocapacitary inequalities, J. Math. Pures Appl. 89 (2008), 71-105.
- [42] G.R. Cirmi, M.M. Porzio, L<sup>∞</sup> solution for some nonlinear degenerate elliptic and parabolic equations, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl.169 (1995), 67-86.
- [43] A. Dall'Aglio, Approximated solutions of equations with L<sup>1</sup> data. Application to the H-convergence of quasi-linear parabolic equations, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 170 (1996), 207-240.
- [44] A. Dall'Aglio, L. Orsina, Nonlinear parabolic equations with natural growth conditions and L<sup>1</sup> data, Nonlinear Anal. 27 (1996), 59-73.
- [45] A. Dall'Aglio, L. Orsina, Existence results for some nonlinear parabolic equations with nonregular data, *Differential Integral Equations* 5 (1992), 1335-1354.
- [46] R. Dautray, J.L. Lions, Mathematical analysis and a numerical methodsfor science and technology, Vol 5. Springer-Verlag (1992).
- [47] G. Dal Maso, A. Malusa, Some properties of reachable solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations with measure data, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 25 (1997), 375-396.

- [48] G. Dal Maso, F. Murat, L. Orsina and A. Prignet, Renormalized solutions of elliptic equations with general measure data, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 28 (1999), 741-808.
- [49] T. Del Vecchio, Nonlinear elliptic equations with measure data, *Potential Anal.*4 (1995), 185-203.
- [50] T. Del Vecchio, M.M. Porzio, Existence results for a class of noncoercive Dirichlet problems, *Ricerche Mat.* 44 (1995), 421-438.
- [51] T. Del Vecchio, M. R. Posteraro, Existence and regularity results for nonlinear elliptic equations with measure data, Adv. Differential Equations 1 (1996), 899-917.
- [52] T. Del Vecchio, M. R. Posteraro, An existence result for nonlinear and noncoercive problems, *Nonlinear Anal.* **31** (1998), 191-206.
- [53] E. DiBenedetto, Degenerate parabolic equations, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1993.
- [54] R. Di Nardo, Non-uniformly elliptic equations with measure data, *Rend. Accad. Sci. Fis. Nat. Napoli*, **73** (2006), 423-456
- [55] R. Di Nardo Nonlinear parabolic equations with a lower order term, Preprint N.60 - 2008, Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni "R. Caccioppoli", Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II".
- [56] R. Di Nardo, A. Perrotta, An approach via symmetrization methods to nonlinear elliptic problems with lower order term, Preprint N.24 - 2008, Dipartimento di Matematica e Applicazioni "R. Caccioppoli", Università degli Studi di Napoli "Federico II".

- [57] R. J. Di Perna and P.-L. Lions. On Cauchy problem for Boltzmann equations: global existence and weak stability. Ann. of Math. 130 (1989), 321-66.
- [58] G. Dolzmann, N. Hungerbühler, S. Müller, Uniqueness and maximal regularity for nonlinear elliptic systems of n-Laplace type with measure valued right-hand side, J. Reine Angew. Math. 520 (2000) 1-35
- [59] J. Drounion, Solving convection-diffusion equations with mixed, Neumann and Fourier boundary conditions and measure data, by a duality method, Adv. Differential Equations 5 (2000), 1341-1396
- [60] J. Drounion, A. Porretta, A. Prignet, Parabolic capacity and soft measures for nonlinear equations, *Potential Anal.* 19 (2003), 99-161.
- [61] J. Drounion, A. Prignet, Equivalence between entropy and renormalized solutions for parabolic equations with smooth measure data, NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. 14 (2007), 181-205.
- [62] A. Ferone, Symmetrization for degenerate Neumann problems, Rend. Accad. Sci. Fis. Mat. Napoli, 60 (1993), 27-46.
- [63] V. Ferone, Symmetrization in a Neumann problem, Le Matematiche 41 (1986), 67-78.
- [64] V. Ferone, Estimates and Regularity for Solutions of Elliptic Equations in a Limit Case, Boll. Un. Mat. Ital. 8 (1994), 257-270.
- [65] A. Fiorenza, C. Sbordone, Existence and uniqueness results for solutions of nonlinear equations with right-hand side in L<sup>1</sup>(Ω), Stud. Math. 127 (1998) 223-231.

- [66] M. Fukushima, K. Sato, and S Taniguchi, On the closable part of pre-Dirichlet forms and finite support of the underlying measures, Osaka J. Math. 28 (1991), 517-535.
- [67] N. Grenon, "Résultas d'existence et comportement asymptotique pour des équationes paraboliques quasi-linéaires," Thèse Université d'Orleans, France, 1990.
- [68] L. Greco, T. Iwaniec, C. Sbordone, Inverting the p-harmonic operator, Manuscr. Math. 92 (1997) 249-258.
- [69] O. Guibé, Remarks on the uniqueness of comparable renormalized solutions of elliptic equations with measure data, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 180 (2002) 441-449.
- [70] O. Guibé, Uniqueness of solution to quasilinear elliptic equations under a local condition on the diffusion matrix, Adv. Math. Sci. Appl., 17 (2007), 357-368.
- [71] O. Guibé, R. Di Nardo, F. Feo, in preparation
- [72] O. Guibé, A. Mercaldo, Existence and stability result for renormalized solutions to noncoercive nonlinear elliptic equations with measure data, *Potential Anal.* 25 (2006), 223-258.
- [73] O. Guibé, A. Mercaldo, Existence of renormalized solutions to nonlinear elliptic equations with two lower order terms and measure data, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 360 (2008), 643-669.
- [74] O. Guibé, A. Mercaldo, Uniqueness results for noncoercive nonlinear elliptic equations with two lower order terms, *Commun. Pure Appl. Anal.*, 7 (2008), 163–192.
- [75] G. H. Hardy, J. E. Littlewood, G. Polya, Inequalities, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1964.

- [76] R. Hunt, On L(p,q) spaces, *Enseignement Math.* **12** (1966), 249-276.
- [77] B. Kawhol, Rearrangements and convexity of level sets in P.D.E., Lecture Notes in Mathematics, No. 1150 Springer (1985), Berlin.
- [78] M. A. Krasnosel'skii, Topolical methods in the theory of nonlinear integral equations, *Pergamon Press*, New York, 1964.
- [79] R. Landes, On the existence of weak solutions for quasilinear parabolic initialboundary value problems, Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect A 89 (1981), 217-37.
- [80] J. Leray, J.-L. Lions, Quelques résultats de Visik sur les problémes elliptiques semilinéaires par les méthodes de Minty et Browder, Bull. Soc. Math. France 93 (1965) 97-107.
- [81] J. L. Lions, Quelques méthodes de résolution des problèmes aux limites non linéaires, Dunod et Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1969.
- [82] J. L. Lions, F. Murat, Sur les solutions renormalisées d'equations elliptiques non linéaires, manuscript.
- [83] G. Lorentz, Some new functional spaces, Ann. Math. 51 (1950) 37-55.
- [84] A. Malusa, A new proof of the stability of renormalized solutions to elliptic equations with measure data, Asymptot. Anal. 43 (2005), 111-129.
- [85] A. Malusa, A. Prignet, Stability of renormalized solutions of elliptic equations with measure data, Atti Semin. Mat. Fis. Univ. Modena Reggio Emilia 52 (2004), (2005) 151-168.
- [86] V. G. Maz'ya, On weak solutions of the Dirichlet and Neumann problems, Trans. Moscow Math. Soc. 20 (1969), 135-172.

- [87] F. Murat, Soluciones renormalizadas de EDP elìpticas no lineales, Preprint 93023, Laboratoire d'Analyse Numérique de l'Université Paris VI (1993).
- [88] F. Murat, Équations elliptiques non linéaires avec second membre L<sup>1</sup> ou mesure, Actes du 26ème Congrés National d'Analyse Numérique, Les Karellis, France (1994), A12-A24.
- [89] M.K.W Murthy, G. Stampacchia, Boundary value problems for some degenerate elliptic operators, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 80 (1968), 1-122.
- [90] L. Niremberg, On elliptic partial differential equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa, 13 (1959), 116-162.
- [91] R. O' Neil, Integral transform and tensor products on Orlicz spaces and L(p,q) spaces, J. Analyse Math. 21 (1968), 1-276.
- [92] F. Petitta, Asymptotic behavior of solutions for linear parabolic equations with general measure data, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris, Ser. I 344 (2007) 571–576.
- [93] F. Petitta, Renormalized solutions of nonlinear parabolic equations with general measure data, Ann. Mat. Pura ed Appl., 187 4 (2008), 563-604.
- [94] A. Porretta, Uniqueness of solutions for some nonlinear Dirichelet problems, NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. 11 (2004), 407-430.
- [95] M. Porzio, Existence of solutions for some "noncoercive" parabolic equations, Discrete Contin. Dynam. System 5 (1999), 553-568.
- [96] A. Porretta, Existence results for nonlinear parabolic equations via strong convergence of truncations, Ann. Mat. Pura ed Appl. (IV), 177 (1999), 143-172.
- [97] A. Prignet, Remarks on existence and uniqueness of solutions of elliptic problems with right-hand side measures, *Rend. Mat. Appl.* 15 (1995), 321-337.

- [98] A. Prignet, Conditions aux limites non homognes pour des problems elliptiques avec second membre mesure, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. 6 (1997), 297-318.
- [99] A. Prignet, Existence and uniqueness of entropy solutions of parabolic problems with L<sup>1</sup> data, Nonlinear Anal. 28 (1997), 1943-1954.
- [100] J-M. Rakotoson, Generalized solution in a new type of set for some problems with a measure as data, *Differential Integral Equations* 6 (1993), 27-36.
- [101] J-M. Rakotoson, Resolution of the critical cases for problems with L<sup>1</sup>-data, Asymptot Anal. 6, (1993), 285-293.
- [102] J-M. Rakotoson, R. Temam, Relative rearrangement in quasilinear elliptic variational inequalities, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 36 (1987), 757-810.
- [103] J-M. Rakotoson, Uniqueness of Renormalized Solutions in a T-set for the L<sup>1</sup>data probelm and the Link between various Formulations, *Indiana Univ. Math.* J. 43, (1994), 685-702.
- [104] J. Serrin, Pathological solutions of elliptic differential equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. 18, (1964), 385-387.
- [105] J. Simon, Compact sets in  $L^{p}(0,T;B)$ , Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. **146** (1987), 65-96.
- [106] G. Stampacchia, Le problème de Dirichlet pour les équations elliptiques du second ordre à coefficientes discontinus, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 15 (1965), 189-258.
- [107] G. Talenti, Best constant in Sobolev inequality, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4) 110 (1976), 353-372.
- [108] G. Talenti, Linear elliptic P.D.E.'s: level sets, rearrangements and a priori estimates of solutions. Boll. Un. Mat. 4-B (1985), 917-949.

[109] N. Trudinger, On the comparison principle for quasilinear divergence structure equations, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 57 (1975), 128-133.